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PART |

| tem 1. Business
Overview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical compagpaged in drug research and development to createlrerapies for fibrotic disease
and cancer. Our drug candidates are based on dhodnef targeting galectin proteins, which are kasdiators of biologic and pathologic
functions. We use naturally occurring, readily-#alie plant materials as starting material in mantufring processes to create proprietary
complex carbohydrates with specific molecular wisgind other pharmaceutical properties. These aagarbohydrate molecules are
appropriately formulated into acceptable pharmacalformulations. Using these unique carbohydimsed candidate compounds that largel
bind and inhibit galectin proteins, particularlyl@ztin-3, we are undertaking the focused pursuthefapies for indications where galectins
have a demonstrated role in the pathogenesis ivka disease. We focus on diseases with seridaghlieatening consequences to patients
those where current treatment options are limi@ag. strategy is to establish and implement clind@telopment programs that add value tc
business in the shortest period of time possibtetarseek strategic partners when a program becathesiced and requires additional
resources.

We endeavor to leverage our scientific and prodeetlopment expertise as well as established oekttips with outside sources to
achieve cost-effective and efficient developmehiede outside sources, amongst others, providethsewpertise in preclinical models,
pharmaceutical development, toxicology, clinicalelepment, pharmaceutical manufacturing, sophistahysical and chemical
characterization, and commercial development. We have established several collaborative sciertificovery programs with leading
experts in carbohydrate chemistry and charactéizathese discovery programs are generally ain#uestargeted development of new
carbohydrate molecules which bind galectin proteimd offer alternative options to larger marketnsegts in our primary disease indications.
We also have established a discovery program aahtt targeted development of small molecules-gasbhohydrate) which bind galectin
proteins and may afford options for alternative ngeaf drug delivery (e.g., oral) and as a resyttaexi the potential uses of our compounds.
Another discovery program seeks to identify theauolar interactions of molecules with the galecgoeptor. We are pursuing a development
pathway to clinical enhancement and commerciabrafior our lead compounds in immune enhancemertddocer therapy as well as in both
liver fibrosis and fatty liver disease. All of oproposed products are presently in developmentjdintg pre-clinical and clinical trials.

We were founded in July 2000 as Pro-Pharmaceuticals a Massachusetts corporation. On April Z®)12 DTR-Med Pharma Corp.
(“DTR"), which was incorporated in Nevada on Jayu28, 2001, entered into a stock exchange agreewiimPro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
whereby DTR acquired all of the outstanding shafesommon stock of Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. On W@y2001, DTR changed its name to
“Pro- Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” and on June 7, 2004 Massachusetts corporation was merged into thraddecorporation. On May 26, 2011,
Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. changed its name to ‘@&al&herapeutics Inc.In October, 2012, we moved our headquarters tdarbuof Atlanta
GA to be closer to a center of discovery collaboratvhile maintaining a contract laboratory operatin the Boston area.

Our Drug Development Programs

Galectins are a class of proteins that are madaay cells in the body. As a group, these protaresable to bind to sugar molecules
are part of other proteins in and on the cellswflmody. Galectin proteins act as a kind of molacglue, bringing together molecules that have
sugars on them. Galectin proteins, in particuldeam-3, are known to be markedly increased immlper of important diseases including
scarring of organs (e.g. liver, lung, kidney, ameitt) and cancers of many kinds. The increaselectya protein promotes the disease and is
detrimental to the patient. Published data showrtiiee lacking the galectin-3 gene, and thus un@bfgroduce galectin-3, are incapable of
developing liver fibrosis in response to toxic iltda the liver and in fatty liver disease.

We have two compounds in development, GR-MD-02@RECT-01, both of which have shown promise in préchl studies in
treatment of fibrosis and in cancer therapy. Howewe are currently focusing on
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development of GR-MD-02 intended to be used inttbatment of liver fibrosis associated with faftyel disease (NASH) and in cancer
therapy in combination with immune-system modifyagent(s). Both of our proprietary, patented conmgisuare derived from completely
different, natural, readily available, starting eréls, which, following chemical processing, betthibit the property of binding to and
inhibiting galectin proteins.

Our product pipeline is shown below:

Indication Drug Status
Fibrosis
NASH with Advanced Fibrosi GR-MD-02 IND submitted January 2013, FDA indicated on Mat¢R013 that we

could proceed with a Phase 1 US clinical trial.$&h& clinical trial
started Q2-2013. Results from the three cohortiePhase 1 clinical
trial were reported in 2014, with final results oejed in January 2015.
End of Phase 1 meeting held with FDA in 2014 andsel? clinical
program expected to begin in Q2 20

Lung Fibrosis GR-MD-02 In pre-clinical developmen
Kidney Fibrosis GR-MD-02 In pre-clinical developmen
Cardiac Fibrosis GR-MD-02 and

GM-CT-01 In pre-clinical developmen

Cancer Immunotherapy
Melanoma GR-MD-02 Investigator IND filed in December 2013. Phase fiRlg in process

Fibrosis. GR-MD-02 is our lead product candidate for tmeznt of fibrotic disease. Our preclinical datawtbat GR-MD-02 has a
powerful therapeutic effect on liver fibrosis a®wim in several relevant animal models. Therefoechwose GR-MD2 as the lead candidate
a development program targeted initially at fibcdiver disease associated with non-alcoholic stegpatitis (NASH, or fatty liver disease). In
January 2013, an Investigational New Drug (“INDas submitted to the FDA with the goal of initigfia Phase 1 study in patients with NA
and advanced liver fibrosis to evaluate the hunadetyg of GR-MD-02 and pharmacodynamics biomarkédisease. On March 1, 2013, the
FDA indicated we could proceed with a US Phasenicell trial for GR-MD-02 with a development prognaaimed at obtaining support for a
proposed indication of GR-MD-02 for treatment of 8IA with advanced fibrosis. The Phase 1 trial waspleted and demonstrated that GR-
MD-02 up to 8 mg/Kg, i.v. was safe and well tolechtand the human pharmacokinetic data defined@gadivse for use in the planned Phase 2
trials. An “End of Phase 1 Meeting” was held witBAwhich, amongst other items, provided guidanceéhenprimary endpoint for the Phase 2
clinical trial.

Our drug candidate provides a promising new apprdéaicthe therapy of fibrotic diseases, and livibrdsis in particular. Fibrosis is the
formation of excess connective tissue (collagenathdr proteins plus cellular elements such as ibgalasts) in response to damage,
inflammation or repair. When the fibrotic tissuebmes confluent, it obliterates the cellular amttiire, leading to scarring and dysfunction of
the underlying organ.

Cancer Immunotherapy. We believe there is potential for galectin bition to play a key role in the burgeoning arezaricer
immunotherapy. For example, there have been sensraht approvals of drugs that enhance a patigntisune system to fight cancer. With
many additional vaccines and immune stimulatoryngga development, industry analysts forecastttiiatmarket could generate over $35
billion in sales over the next 10 years. It is gaal to use a galectin inhibitor to enhance the imensystem function to fight cancer in a way
that complements other approaches to this typkesapy. Our drug candidates provide a promising th@rapeutic approach to enhance the
activity of the immune system against cancer cBlteclinical studies have indicated that GR-MD-8Rances the immune response to and
more specifically increased tumor
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shrinkage and enhanced survival in immune compet@&# with prostate, breast, melanoma and sarcameecs when combined with one of
the immune checkpoint inhibitors, anti-CTLA-4 ottiaRD-1. These preclinical data have led to thadilof an Investigator-sponsored IND and
the initiation of a study of GR-MD-02 in combinatiavith Yervoy® (ipilimumab) in a Phase 1B study atipnts with metastatic melanoma.
This study is being conducted under the sponsoshisovidence Portland Medical Center’s Earle Ail€s Research Institute (EACRI).

We believe the mechanism of action for GM-CT-01 &RIMD-02 is based upon interaction with, and iition of, galectin proteins,
particularly galectin-3, which are expressed ahHayels in certain pathological states includinfigimmation, fibrosis and cancer. While GM-
CT-01 and GR-MD-02 are capable of binding to mudtigalectin proteins, we believe that they havegtteatest affinity for galectiB; the mos
prominent galectin implicated in pathological preges. Blocking galectin in cancer and liver fibsdsas specific salutary effects on the diseas
process, as discussed below.

Liver Fibrosis: New Approach for a Significant Unme& Medical Need

When an internal organ is exposed to chronic déseas of the responses is that scar tissue isltaich in the organ (this process is ca
fibrosis). The longer the disease affects the qrd@more fibrous tissue is deposited and thisately results in the failure of the organ. This
chronic fibrosis of organs may occur in the lieng, kidney, and heart, as well as others and, rasult, fibrosis of organs has been estimate
to account for as much as 45% of all mortality e8tific findings during the last few years indicéttat the galectin-3 protein is critically
important in this fibrotic process in multiple orga

In the liver, fibrosis is the end result of mulgghflammatory conditions and infections. Progresdiver fibrosis leads to scarring
(cirrhosis), which results in reduction of livemfzttion, multiple medical complications and ultimgtdeath. It is estimated that 1-2 million
patients have cirrhosis in the United States witisecto 50,000 losing their lives yearly. Only adfion of patients’ lives, approximately
6,200 per year, are saved by liver transplantaitancost of approximately $350,000 per transptammaOne condition in particular that
frequently leads to cirrhosis is non-alcoholic stbapatitis, or NASH, a liver disease characterizgthe accumulation of fat in the liver with
associated inflammation and fibrosis, which cawl leeend-stage cirrhosis requiring liver transpdéion. The National Institute of Health
estimates that 9 to 15 million Americans are afddty NASH, and other sources suggest it may lmesary as 28 million people have NASH,
and forecasts that the number of Americans affdoyetthis disease is growing due to obesity andetiad) with the potential to become the
leading cause of liver cirrhosis and liver transpddion in the future. Liver transplantation is mntly the only therapeutic approach to NASH
or other forms of liver fibrosis as, to the besbaf knowledge, there are no drug therapies omidwdket. Organ transplantation is a difficult,
risky and costly procedure as organ availabilitgdarce and there is the risk of developing cirichimsthe transplanted liver from the same
disease that damaged the patient’s original linertherefore, there is a great need for other feariic options. All diseases that affect the live
(viral hepatitis, alcoholic liver disease, andydiver as examples) lead to the development ofrsapof the liver.

The primary focus of the company is to use galaatiibitors to block galectin-3 and treat organrsog or fibrosis in the liver. There are
no approved therapies for treatment of liver filiso¥/e believe that our drug candidates have thenpial to treat NASH and other forms of
liver fibrosis. Scientific evidence suggests thalegtin-3 is essential for the development of lifilerosis in animals. Published data show that
mice lacking the galectin-3 gene, and thus unabfraduce galectin-3, are incapable of developivey ffibrosis in response to toxic insult to
the liver and in fatty liver disease. Moreover, enihat do not have the galectin-3 gene are resigidnng and kidney fibrosis. These publishec
data show that galectiBis a critical protein for the development of ardéorosis. Our drugs, based on experiments in wlediracterized anim
models, are also potentially useful in scarrindilmosis of other organs such as lung and kidneiclvbxpands the possibilities for therapeutic
indications.
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We have evaluated the ability of GR-MD-02 to blagitectin-3 in animal models of liver fibrosis, tbenclusions of which yielded
positive results. Our pre-clinical data show th&-®@D-02 may have a therapeutic effect on liverdgis as shown in several relevant animal
models. Therefore, we chose GR-MD-02 as the leadidate in a development program targeted initiatlfibrotic liver disease associated
with NASH.

We evaluated GR-MD-02 in pre-clinical toxicologydapharmacology studies during 2013 and filed an i the FDA in January
2013 for initiating human studies in patients WitASH. In February 2013 we entered into an agreeméhtCTI Clinical Trial Services to
assist with the design, development and conduchefor more clinical research studies, specifidaltyservices with respect to our Phase 1
clinical trials to evaluate safety of GR-MD-02 iatfgnts with NASH. The FDA notified us in March Zthat we may proceed with a Phase 1
clinical trial for patients with NASH and we beganrolling patients in the Phase 1 clinical triathie third quarter of 2013. In August 2013,
GR-MD-02 was granted Fast Track designation byrDA for NASH with hepatic fibrosis, commonly knovas fatty liver disease with
advanced fibrosis. In January 2014, we completecttivollment of the first cohort of patients in thease 1 trial with no serious adverse even
being reported. We reported initial safety andraidity results from the first cohort of patierds June 30, 2014. The second cohort of this
Phase 1 trial began and enrollment was completégbiih 2014. In July 2014, we reported the resédten the second cohort of patients.
Enrollment of the third cohort of Phase 1 begaduly 2014 with interim results presented in Noven##l4 with the final report on cohort 3
presented in January 2015. The results of the Phagely demonstrate that (i) GR-MD-02 was safewwelitolerated by patients with
advanced NASH liver fibrosis after IV administratiof four doses of 2 mg/kg, 4 mg/kg and 8mg/kg leady weight, (i) Pharmacokinetics
revealed drug exposure in humans at the 8 mg/kg thad was equivalent to the upper range of ttgetad therapeutic dose determined from
effective doses in NASH animal models, (iii) Dise&erum Marker Effect showed there was a statilstis@nificant, dose-dependent
reduction in FibroTest scores due to a statisiiczitinificant reduction in alpha-2 macroglobulin2fd) serum levels, and (iv) Liver Stiffness
Effect, as measured by FibroS¢an showed that thasea signal of reduced liver stiffness in patieateiving GR-MDO2. The reduction se:
in A2M doesnot necessarily mean fibrosis got better in this sharty, but does suggest changes in the fibrogepuess that might lead to an
improvement in fibrosis with longer-term therapheBe Phase 1 results in NASH patients with advafiloeabis provide a firm foundation for
entry into a Phase 2 development program.

The company held an “End of Phase 1 meeting” willi\and, amongst other things, received clear guidam the primary endpoint for
a Phase 2 trial. Our Phase 2 clinical trial desaggets a patient population with cirrhosis dubl&SH. The study endpoints will include those
that are closely associated with outcomes in petieith cirrhosis Primary endpoint; Hepatic venpusssure gradient (HVPG). Planned
secondary endpoints include: morphometric analysé®llagen on liver biopsies and other secondadpeints will include non-invasive tests
to evaluate for correlation with HVPG and liverlegien. We have awarded the contract for the prirRéuigse 2 study to a well-known CRO
with experience in NASH trials and expect to inia Phase 2 clinical trial in the first half ofiB0to assess the efficacy of GR-MD-02 in
patients with NASH and advanced liver fibrosis. Tinging of initial results from the Phase 2 triabalependent upon the trial design, and,
amongst other factors, the rate of patient enrailinend the trial design is being finalized. Oua®& 2 clinical program currently includes one
additional clinical trial in patients with NASH witadvanced fibrosis to fully characterize humapoese to GR-MD-02 and to better position
the Company for a successful Phase 3 clinical priagram.

GR-MD-02 is a proprietary, patented galactoaralshrmnnogalacturonan polysaccharide polymer thatnsprised predominantly of
galacturonic acid, galactose, arabinose, rhammaogkesmaller amounts of other sugars. Structurdiestthave shown that GR-MD-02 binds to
galectin-1 and to galectin-3 with binding affinity galectin-3 being significantly greater than liggto galectin-1. With respect to GR-MD-02,
we currently have a number of issued US patentadimtg one composition of matter patent, one metbfottanufacture patent, one method of
use patient in patients with NASH, one method & patent in patients with liver fibrosis, and onetihod of use patent in patients with diab
kidney disease. Additional patent applicationsmmeding with respect to, amongst other uses, camgeunotherapy, lung fibrotic disease, anc
inflammatory disease
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associated with increase in inducible nitric oxégathase. Patents have been granted with respkattdibrosis, NASH, and liver fibrosis in
combination with other therapeutic agents. Compeudodsubcutaneous administration and oral deliaeeycurrently under pre-clinical
development.

Galectin Inhibition in Cancer Therapy

We believe the potential exists for galectin intidn to play an important role in cancer therapgldstin proteins, particularly galectin-1
and galectin-3, have been shown to be highly espem the majority of cancers and have multiplesn promoting cancer progression,
including tumor cell invasion, metastasis, angiages and tumor evasion of the immune system.

The role of galectins in cancer immunotherapy camitderstood through the “Galectin Effect”, a reakscovery of how tumors avoid
the body’s own immune system, i.e., the tumorseteayalectin proteins that block the body’s efftotéight tumors. Our current program to
block the “Galectin Effect” is based on the reshatDr. Pierre van der Bruggen (of the Ludwig iuge of Cancer Research in Brussels,
Belgium), demonstrating that galectin-3, whichiisquced by the vast majority of human cancers,dindand blocks the actions of tumor-
infiltrating T-lymphocytes, the major immune cellthe body’s defense against cancers. In addibonyill Redmond of the Earl Chiles
Cancer Research Institute in Portland Oregon hawrsithat our galectin inhibitors can enhance thtetamor immunogenic effect of other
immunotherapies based on targeting lymphocyte giwnoks such as CTLA4. Based on these results, lievieehat the body’s immune cells
may be unable to attack and kill tumor cells in phesence of galectins. Using this approach, thehar@sm of action for our drugs seeks to
block galectins and, in turn, restore the abilityre T-lymphocytes to kill tumor cells.

In May 2012, we initiated a Phase 1/2 clinicalltdtGM-CT-01 in Belgium in combination with a tumwaccine in patients with
advanced melanoma, a deadly skin cancer. The Befgderal Agency of Medicine and Health Produat§AMHP, granted approval for this
clinical trial, which was being conducted at theeaters in Belgium and one in Luxembourg. The dondy site that was initiated was at the
Ludwig Cancer Institute in Belgium. In January 20th#e Cancer Centre at the Cliniques universitédast-Luc and the Ludwig Institute for
Cancer Research (LICR), in agreement with Galéldtierapeutics, voluntarily placed on hold its Phb&etrial evaluating the safety and
efficacy, GM-CT-01, in combination with an experimal peptide vaccine for the treatment of advarmethstatic melanoma. The trial was
placed on hold as the investigators were unabémtoll sufficient patients with advanced stage mefaa due to the high selection criteria of
patient candidates for the peptide vaccine andegbent availability of Yervoy in Europe as a treatrnincreasing the overall survival of
metastatic melanoma patients. At the time whernrthewas halted, three patients had completegtb&ocol with no serious adverse events.
This trial was stopped because of patient enroltrissnie and not due to the perceived effects ofithgs on the disease or on safety issues.

The company supported preclinical studies led byotuimmunology expert William L. Redmond, Ph.D. tleé Providence Portland
Medical Center’s Earle A. Chiles Research Insti{fl8&CRI). The preclinical study found that GR-MD-D&Zreased tumor shrinkage and
enhanced survival in immune competent mice witlstate and breast cancers when combined with otfeammune checkpoint inhibitors,
anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1. These findings suggesbtle for GR-MD-02 in cancer immunotherapy. Thesecpnical observations by Dr
Redmond provided scientific rationale for procegdamd lead to the filing by Providence Portland MeabCenter of an Investigator-sponsored
IND to conduct a Phase 1B study to determine if (@R-02 enhances the probability of melanoma respaviseipilimumab by inducing
proliferation, activation and memory function of DT cells in human patients. The company has $iedrihe underlying invention from
Providence Portland Medical Center. This studyesents a novel approach for patients with metastatlanoma. The IND was approved by
FDA in February 2014. This study is being condueteder the sponsorship of Providence Portland Medienter’'s Earle A. Chiles Research
Institute (EACRI) and is being supported by the @any.

The study employs a dose escalation of GR-MD-0&imjunction with the standard therapeutic doseitifiumab in patients with
advanced melanoma for whom ipilimumab would be whered standard of care. In
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addition to monitoring for toxicity and clinicalgponse by irRECIST criteria on imaging tests, blsachples will be obtained to assess
immunologic measures relevant to galectin biologg gilimumab T-cell check-point inhibition. Gal@ttTherapeutics will provide its
proprietary compound GR-MD-02 to EACRI researchassyell as supply researchers with supportingyaisabf the pharmacokinetics of GR-
MD-02 and the right to reference the Company’s dpdh on GR-MD-02. To date three patients were tdah the first dosing group without
serious adverse events. The second dosing groGRa¥1D-02 2 mg/kg is now enrolling.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our development and commercial viability, and uéttely our competitiveness, depend on our abilitgewvelop and maintain the
proprietary aspects of our technology and operitteowt infringing on the proprietary rights of otseWe rely on a combination of patent,
trademark, trade secret and copyright law and achtestrictions to protect the proprietary aspettsur technologies. We seek to limit
disclosure of our intellectual property by requiriemployees, consultants, and any third partiels agtess to our proprietary information to
execute confidentiality agreements and by restigcéiccess to that information.

In August 2014, we received a notice of allowanmoenfthe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for paagplication number 13/573,442
titted “Composition of Novel Carbohydrate Drug fireatment of Human Diseases.” The patent covergosition and chemical structural
claims for compounds that includes the Companysd Igalectin inhibitor compound GR-MD-02 and willpée in December 2031. Claims
include multiple routes of administration, includimtravenous, subcutaneous and oral. The apmitaiso covers therapeutic formulations for
use in the treatment of NASH (fatty liver diseas@ncer and fibrotic, inflammatory and autoimmuisadiers in which galectin proteins are
involved, at least in part, in the pathogenesidifi@hal specific claims encompass liver fibrogigliney fibrosis, lung fibrosis or heart fibrosis.
The patent, assigned U.S. Patent No. 8,871,925jasasd October 28, 2014.

In May 2014, we received notice of allowance frdma U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for patentiegidn number 13/998,197 titled
“Galactose-Pronged Carbohydrate Compounds for teatihent of Diabetic Nephropathy and Associate@fdisrs.” The patent covers both
composition claim for and uses of the Company’'é&chydrate-based galectin inhibitor compound GR-MDirOpatients with diabetic
nephropathy, a type of progressive kidney disdasedccurs in individuals with diabetes. Diabe#&phropathy is the major cause for chronic
renal failure in the United States. The patentigagsl U.S. Patent No. 8,828,971, was issued Segte2014.

In February 2014, we received notice of issuanaettie U.S. Patent and Trademark Office issuechpatember 8,658,787 to the
Company for its application titled “Galacto-rhamatarturonate compositions for the treatment of almeholic steatohepatitis and non-
alcoholic fatty liver disease.” The patent covérs €ompany’s carbohydrate-based galectin inhilsibonpound GR-MD-02 for use in patients
with fatty liver disease with or without fibrosis cirrhosis, providing patent protection througt820The major claims are for methods of
obtaining galectin inhibitor compounds, obtainingoanposition for parenteral or enteral administrain an acceptable pharmaceutical carriet
and administering to a subject having at leastajribe following: fatty liver, non-alcoholic fattyer disease, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis,
non-alcoholic hepatitis with liver fibrosis, noreaholic steatohepatitis with cirrhosis, or non-alglic steatohepatitis with cirrhosis and
hepatocellular carcinoma. The use covers revemmispwing the progression of disease activity edinal consequences of the disease.
Applications are pending in multiple countries kbend patent protection globally.

In January 2014, we received a notice of allowdrma the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for Padgaplication Number 13/550,962
titted “Galactose-Pronged Polysaccharides in a ktation for Anti-fibrotic Therapies.” The patentvars both composition claim for and uses
of the Company’s carbohydrate-based galectin itdriliompound GR-MD-02 for use in patients with tifierosis in combination with other
potential therapeutic agents. The patent cover®u&R-MD-02 with agents directed at multiple tasgesome of which are currently in clinical
development for fibrotic disorders including mora@l antibodies to connective tissue growth fadtdegrins, and TGF-31. The patent,
assigned U.S. Patent No. 8,722,645, was issuedllga2014.
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In July 2012, we received a notice of issuance filoeU.S. Patent and Trademark Office for the B&ent number 8,236,780 issued on
August 7, 2013 titled “Galactose-prolonged polysaeies in a formulation for antifibrotic therapie$his methods patent covers key meth
of derivation and use for our carbohydrate-baséeictja inhibitor compound for use in patients wifironic liver disease associated with the
development of fibrosis, established liver fibrosieend-stage scarring, or cirrhosis. The majancia for a method of obtaining a galacto-
rhamnogalacturan compound from an apple pectimimibg a composition for parenteral administratiod galacto-rhamnogalacturonan
compound in an acceptable pharmaceutical carrig@dministering to a subject having at least ont@following: chronic liver disease
associated with the development of fibrosis, eshbll liver fibrosis or cirrhosis. The use covatsibiting or slowing the progression of
fibrosis. GR-MD-02 is covered by this patent anprivides opportunities for development of addisibcompounds in the class.

As of January 31, 2015, we held 12 granted U.Smst 14 foreign granted patents (Japan, E.U., Reatand), 39 international patent
applications, and 6 U.S. patent applications. Mafhgur patents and patent applications cover coitipnof matter for complex carbohydrate
drugs and methods of use for reducing toxicity enldancing chemotherapeutic drugs by co-adminigferipolysaccharide with a
chemotherapeutic agent or for use in treatmenbobdgis. The scheduled expiration dates of ouréthBtates patents span from 2020 to 2033.
We have corresponding patent applications pendirigurope, Israel, and Brazil. Additionally, we haatent applications in other areas to
utilize our carbohydrate-based compounds to trisgade other than cancer. See “Risk Factors — Rslated to Our Intellectual Property”.
Our competitive position, in part, is contingenbuagorotection of our intellectual property.

Research

Our primary focus is on the design and testinggefrdis which target galectins in varidosvitro andin vivo systems and which
demonstrate efficacy in treatment of experimentaltiuced fibrosis or enhance immune system respensss in various tissues and in live
animal models. We contract with independent lalooias and other facilities to conduct our reseandtich is designed, evaluated and
managed by our scientists. While we conduct in Baasearch related to our compounds at SBH lalragatim Massachusetts, we do not
anticipate building additional in-house researcd@relopment facilities or hiring staff other than purposes of designing and managing our
out-sourced research.

As we develop products eligible for clinical tria¥ge contract with independent parties to assigténdesign of the clinical trial protocols,
arrange for and monitor the clinical trials, cotldata and analyze data. In addition, certain @dihntrials for our products may be conducted by
government-sponsored agencies and will be depengegdvernmental participation and funding. Ouratefence on independent parties and
clinical sites involves risks including reduced trohover the timing and other aspects of our chirials.

In February 2013, the Company established a caitdive drug discovery program with Dr. Geert-JaroBs (“Dr. Boons”) laboratory
located in the Complex Carbohydrate Research Cantbe University of Georgia. This on-going pragra focused on the discovery of new
carbohydrate molecules that can be used in thatliesf diseases where galectin proteins play ammaje, including cancer, and inflammatc
and fibrotic disorders. The aim of this progranwislevelop a pipeline of drugs that can targetagls. This is an important goal as follow-on
compounds for our drugs currently in developmet tanextend the potential indications and routeadvhinistration. The Complex
Carbohydrate Research Center is a world-class @anognd Dr. Boons is a world renowned and pre-enicemohydrate chemist.

In September, 2014, the Company established aboolifive research program with Dr. William Redmdnddsoratory located at the
Providence Portland Medical Center, Portland, Onegdis program focuses on combination immunothemps galectin inhibition to
augment tumor immunogenicity.
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During the years ended December 31, 2014 2013 @@, dur expenditures for research and developmerd $8.4 million, $5.7 milliol
and $4.5 million, respectively. We expense all aesle and development costs as they are incurred.

In January, 2014 we created, with SBH Sciences,(Natick, Ma), Galectin Sciences, LLC, a collalitw@ joint venture to research and
develop small organic molecule inhibitors of gale@ for oral administration.

Using computer molecular modeling techniques calipiih in vitro screening of a variety of compound libraries, SBiite8ces had
identified several small organic molecules withmising galectin-3 inhibitory activityn vitro . Galectin Sciences LLC will further develop
these unique organic molecule inhibitors of gatetias drug candidates as well as develop additeamalidates. Galectin Sciences LLC will
build on the scientific body of knowledge amassg@&BH Sciences, coupled with Galectin Therapeukoswledge and expertise of galectins’
pathological role and mechanism of action in inflaation, fibrosis and many cancers. The long-teral gbthis effort is to identify and
develop drug candidates that are highly specifiedim inhibitors which may be formulated for oeiministration. The intermediate term goal
is the development of small molecule inhibitorgyafectin-3 which exhibit activity im vivopreclinical disease models of fibrosis and canc
which galectins play a key role.

Because, increased levels of galectin proteins baea implicated in a very large number of inflantwng, fibrotic and neoplastic
diseases; the discovery and development of oratlyeagalectin inhibitors would be a major step &vds expanded treatment approaches for
these disorders. This early drug discovery effattead to drugs that would expand our pipelinfolisw on compounds to our first in class
galectin inhibitors, GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01.

Manufacturing and Marketing

We are a development stage company at this timelambt intend to establish internal facilities foe manufacture of our products for
clinical or commercial production. To have our prots manufactured, we have developed and will nortto develop relationships with third-
parties that have established pharmaceutical metuifag capabilities and expertise. We are notréyfga any longterm agreement with any
our suppliers and, accordingly, we have our praslownufactured on a purchase-order basis from foweoqrimary well-known and
established pharmaceutical suppliers that meetidy Fequirements.

Because our products are in the development stagbave not created a sales and marketing statfrtonercialize pharmaceutical
products. If we develop products eligible for comana sale, we will need to develop a sales andketarg capability or rely on third parties
such as licensees, collaborators, joint venturtnpes or independent distributors to market anktisese products. Our dependence on third-
party manufacturers and marketers will involve sisédating to our reduced control, and other riskfuding those discussed in “Risk Factors
— Risks Related to our Company — There are risksca®d with reliance on third parties for manufiaictg, marketing, sales, managed care
and distribution infrastructure channels.”

Competition

Many biotechnology and pharmaceutical companiesiaveloping new technologies for the treatmentaoicer and other diseases.
Technologies such as monoclonal antibodies coultbbgpetitive with our galectin therapeutic platferm®ther companies are trying to
improve the therapeutic profile of widely used pintbased drugs. While these companies may brahdemarket for our products they may
also provide competitive alternatives to our pradu@/e expect increased competition in the araglefctins will be fueled by a nearly
exponential increase in the publication rate oéagsh papers on galectins.

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our CompanWwe-face intense competition in the biotechnology pharmaceutical industries”
for additional discussion related to our currerd potential competition.
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Government Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufactuvelitey, promotion, advertising, distribution, andnketing, among other things, of our
products are extensively regulated by governmenttdorities in the United States and other countiibe FDA regulates drugs under the
federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and its immating regulations. Failure to comply with the apgible U.S. requirements may subject us
to administrative or judicial sanctions, such ag\RBfusal to approve pending New Drug Applicati¢f$DAs"), warning letters, product
recalls, product seizures, total or partial susjpensf production or distribution, injunctions, dodcriminal prosecution.

Drug Approval Process

Drugs may not be marketed in the U.S. until the Aia& approved them. The steps required beforegarday be marketed in the U.S.
include:
Pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and falation studies
Submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitedting, which must become effective before hunieuical trials may begin
Adequate and we-controlled human clinical trials to establish tlaéesy and efficacy of the drug for each indicati
Submission to the FDA of a ND

Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortted manufacturing facility or facilities, at whithe drug is produced to assess
compliance with current good manufacturing procedt* cGMF") established by the FD/

a M DN

6. FDA review and approval of the NDA, a
7. FDA review and approval of a trademark used in eation with a pharmaceutici

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluatiorpafduct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, asllas numerous in vitro and in vivo
animal studies. The results of the pre-clinicalget®gether with manufacturing information andlgtizal data, are submitted to the FDA as
part of an IND, which must become effective befouenan clinical trials may begin and the Companytmesolve any outstanding FDA
concerns or questions before clinical trials castped. There is no certainty that submission diN@hwill result in the FDA allowing clinical
trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigators and
constant oversight by the FDA or foreign regulatanghorities. Clinical trials are conducted undextgcols detailing the objectives of the
study, the parameters to be used in monitoringysaded the effectiveness criteria to be evaluai@ath protocol must be submitted to the FDA
as part of the IND.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threeqaential phases, but the phases may overlap corbgined. Each trial must be reviewed
and approved by an independent Institutional ReBeward (“IRB”), before it can begin. Study subjentast sign an informed consent form
before participating in a clinical trial. Phasesually involves the initial introduction of the iestigational drug into patients to evaluate its
safety, dosage tolerance, pharmacodynamics, apdséible, to gain an early indication of its effeeness. Phase 2 usually involves trials in a
limited patient population to (i) evaluate dosaglertance and appropriate dosage; (ii) identify fssdverse effects and safety risks; and
(iii) evaluate preliminarily the efficacy of theudy for specific indications. Phase 3 trials usullgher evaluate clinical efficacy and test furt
for safety by using the drug in its final form in expanded patient population. There is no assartrat these trials will be completed within a
specified period of time, if at all.
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Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of the pre-clinical sagland of the clinical studies, together
with other detailed information, including inforn@t on the manufacture and composition of the dang,submitted to the FDA in an NDA
requesting approval to market the product for an@aore indications. Before approving an NDA, theA@sually will inspect the facilities at
which the drug is manufactured, and will not apréive product unless compliance with cGMP is sattsiy. If the FDA evaluates the NDA
and the manufacturing facilities as acceptableFDA will generally issue an approval letter. IetRDA evaluates the NDA submission or the
manufacturing facilities as not acceptable, the Riilgenerally outline the deficiencies in the suibsion and often will request additional
testing or information. Even if an applicant sutsite requested additional information, the FDAmdtely may decide that the NDA does not
satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval. Theting and approval process requires substantial &ffort, and financial resources, and there |
no assurance that any approval will be granted timely basis, if at all. After approval, certainanges to the approved product, such as a
new indications, manufacturing changes, or addiitatbeling claims are subject to further FDA reviend approval.

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Regulaifd@ur Products — We will need regulatory appreval commercialize our
products” for additional discussion of regulatoisks related to our drug development program.

FDA Priority Review

FDA procedures provide for priority review of an NBubmitted for drugs that, compared to currentbrketed products, offer a
significant improvement in the treatment, diagnosisprevention of a disease. NDAs that are grapté&tdity review are acted upon more
quickly than NDAs given standard review. If we wéweseek priority review, there can be no guaratiieethe FDA will grant priority review
status, that priority review status will affect e of review, or that the FDA will approve th®® submitted for any of our product
candidates, whether or not priority review statugranted.

Post-Approval Requirements

If FDA approval of one or more of our products itaned, we will be required to comply with a numbepost-approval requirements.
For example, holders of an approved NDA are requioereport certain adverse reactions to the FDdtarcomply with certain requirements
concerning advertising and promotional labelingtfa@ir products. Also, quality control and manuteittg procedures must continue to
conform to cGMP after approval, and the FDA pegally inspects manufacturing facilities to assemngliance with cGMP. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, moawey effort in the area of production and qualitpteol to maintain cGMP compliance. In
addition, discovery of problems with a product afipproval may result in restrictions on a prodaoenufacturer, or holder of an approved
NDA, including withdrawal of the product from theanket. Also, new government requirements may kebéshed that could delay or prev
regulatory approval of our products under develapme

Regulation Outside the United States

Before our products can be marketed outside obthited States, they are subject to regulatory aggrsimilar to that required in the
United States, although the requirements goverthiagonduct of clinical trials, product licensimgicing and reimbursement vary widely from
country to country. No action can be taken to miake product in a country until an appropriatelegagpion has been approved by the
regulatory authorities in that country. The currapproval process varies from country to countng thhe time spent in gaining approval varies
from that required for FDA approval. In certain otnies, the sales price of a product must alsoppeaved. The pricing review period often
begins after market approval is granted. No asseraan be given that even if a product is apprdoyed regulatory authority, satisfactory
prices will be approved for such product.
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Environmental Regulation

Pharmaceutical research and development involeesdhtrolled use of hazardous materials. Bioteamohnd pharmaceutical
companies must comply with laws and regulationsegoing the use, generation, manufacture, storagemassion, effluent discharge,
handling and disposal of certain materials, biatabspecimens and wastes. We do not anticipatdibgiin-house research, development or
manufacturing facilities, and, accordingly, do egpect to have to comply directly with environmémggulation. However, our contractors
others conducting research, development or marurfagtactivities for us may be required to incigrgficant compliance cost, and this could
in turn could increase our expense or delay ourptetion of research or manufacturing programs.

Employees

We currently have seven full-time employees, tlole@hom are involved primarily in management of pte-clinical research and
development and clinical trials and four who wereoived primarily in management and administratéoour Company. We also utilize
contractors who provide product development, mastufa, analytical testing and clinical trial suppor

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves a higlgree of risk. You should carefully consider theisidescribed below and the other
information before deciding to invest in our comnstock. The risks described below are not the onlgs facing our Company. Additional
risks not presently known to us or that we curgeotinsider immaterial may also adversely affectlmginess. We have attempted to identify
below the major factors that could cause differsrimtween actual and planned or expected resuttsydcannot assure you that we have
identified all of those factors.

If any of the following risks actually happen, dwrsiness, financial condition and operating restdtdd be materially adversely affected.
In this case, the trading price of our common stumkid decline, and you could lose all or part ofiyinvestment.

Risks Related to Our Company
We have incurred net losses to date and must raidditional capital in order to continue to operatdter September 30, 2016.

We have incurred net losses in each year of operatnce our inception in July 2000. Our accumulateficit as of December 31, 2014
was $119 million. We had $29.1 million of unregteitt cash as of December 31, 2014. Additionallyanuary and February 2015, the
Company received approximately $4.1 million in peiceeds from the issuance of common stock at ¢herent market prices through its at
the market (*ATM”) financing arrangement. The Compaurrently believes there is sufficient cashuond currently planned operations
through the third quarter of 2016. We will requinere cash to fund our operations after the thirargn of 2016. However, there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in obtainirghsiew financing or, if available, that such fioeg will be obtainable on terms favorable to
us. If our current clinical trials are unsuccessfutio not produce positive results, it may beipaldrly difficult for us to raise additional
capital. If we do not raise additional cash formiens after the third quarter of 2016, we mayb®wable to continue operations and may be
forced to seek bankruptcy protection.

We may raise capital through public or private ggfinancings, partnerships, debt financings, bbokowings, or other sources.
Additional funding may not be available on favoetdrms or at all. If adequate funds are not otlseravailable, we may need to significantly
curtail operations. To obtain additional fundinge may need to enter into arrangements that regaite relinquish rights to certain
technologies, products and/or potential marketsth€cextent that additional capital is raised tigtothe sale of equity, or securities convertible
into equity, our equity holders may experiencetdblu of their proportionate ownership of the Compan
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We are a development stage company and have najgm¢rated any revenue.

We are a development stage company and have netajed any revenues to date. There is no assutizettowe will obtain FDA
approval of GR-MD-02, GM-CT-01, or any other of quinoducts in development and, even if we do sd,wheawill generate revenue sufficient
to become profitable. Our failure to generate reieeand profit would likely lead to loss of your @stment.

Our ability to generate revenue from product sales achieve profitability will depend upon our &pito successfully commercialize
products, including any of our current product deates, or other product candidates that we maigémse or acquire in the future. Even if we
are able to successfully achieve regulatory apprfovahese product candidates, we do not know wdrgnof these products will generate
revenue from product sales for us, if at all. Ohitity to generate revenue from product sales faamcurrent or future product candidates alsc
depends on a number of additional factors, inclgidiar ability to:

» successfully complete development activities, iditig the necessary clinical tria

« complete and submit new drug applications, or ND&she U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or F@aAd obtain regulatory
approval for indications for which there is a connoe market;

« complete and submit applications to, and obtainleggry approval from, foreign regulatory autha;

» successfully complete all required regulatory agenspections

e set a commercially viable price for our produ

» obtain commercial quantities of our products aeatable cost level:

» find suitable distribution partners to help us nedylsell and distribute our approved products ireptnarkets; an

» obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement frothghities, including government and private pay

In addition, because of the numerous risks andntaeioties associated with product developmentuidiclg that our product candidates

may not advance through development or achieverdpoints of applicable clinical trials, we are biesto predict the timing or amount of

increased expenses, or when or if we will be ablechieve or maintain profitability. Even if we akele to complete the development and
regulatory process for any product candidates, mieipate incurring significant costs associatethwiommercializing these products.

Even if we are able to generate revenues fromaleea$ our products, we may not become profitablt may need to obtain additional
funding to continue operations. If we fail to be@profitable or are unable to sustain profitabititya continuing basis, then we may be unab
to continue our operations at planned levels anfbtoed to reduce our operations

We are largely dependent on the success of ourleeal product candidates, GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01 and cannot be certain that
these product candidates will receive regulatorypapval or be successfully commercialized.

We currently have no products for sale and we caguarantee that we will ever have any drug praslapproved for sale. We and our
product candidates are subject to extensive ragualay the FDA and comparable regulatory autharitireother countries governing, among
other things, research, testing, clinical trialgmafacturing, labeling, promotion, selling, adveesent reporting and recordkeeping. We are nc
permitted to market any of our product candidatesrioutside the United States until we receiveraygd of a new drug application for a
product candidate from the FDA or the equivalemgrapal from a foreign regulatory authority. ObtaigiFDA approval is a lengthy, expensive
and uncertain process.

12



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdlamy drug candidate, we must conduct extensiveclmecal studies and clinical trials
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our prodantlidates in humans.

GR-MD-02 our lead product candidate for fibrosis bampleted Phase 1 of the human clinical triaspha drug development in the US
and is entering Phase 2 clinical trials in North&ima. GR-MD-02 is also currently in an investigaponsored, human Phase 1B clinical trial
being conducted by Providence Portland Medical €entcombination with Yervo§ (ipilimumab) in patits with metastatic melanoma. We
cannot assure you that these trials will yield sgséul results, that they will lead to the generatf revenue, or that we will obtain regulatory
approval in other countries.

There are currently no FDA clinical trials ongoiiog GM-CT-01.

We filed for an IND with the FDA for GR-MD-02 in daary 2013 for initiating human clinical trials ratients with NASH, and the FDA
notified us in March 2013 that we may proceed withhase 1 clinical trial. Our Phase 1 clinical toiegan in July 2013 and was completed in
2014. Pre-clinical studies and clinical trials axpensive, time-consuming and ultimately may nasuiecessful. The results of pre-clinical and
initial clinical testing of these products may netessarily indicate the results that will be aisdifrom later or more extensive testing. Also, i
is possible to suffer significant setbacks in adeahclinical trials, even after obtaining promisiegults in earlier trials. For example, even
though GM-CT-01 progressed successfully througrs®taand was progressing successfully through Bhhaenan trials (which were only
partially completed due to financing issues in 2Qit0may fail in Phase 3 trials or in later stagéslevelopment. We will engage others to
conduct our clinical trials, including clinical erch organizations and, possibly, government-spedsagencies. Pre-clinical studies and
clinical trials may not start or be completed asfarecast and may not achieve the desired re§uitstime required to obtain FDA and other
approvals is unpredictable but often can take ykdlsving the commencement of clinical trials, @eging upon the complexity of the drug
candidate.

Even if we receive regulatory approval, we may lable to commercialize our product candidates.

Even if GR-MD-02, GM-CT-01 and other future prodaandidates achieve positive results in clinidalér we may be unable to
commercialize them. The availability of governmant third party payor reimbursement, and pricirspeeially compared to competitor
products, could affect our ability to commercialag product candidates. Our general inability btao necessary regulatory approvals and, i
obtained, to commercialize our products would satislly impair our viability.

There are risks associated with our reliance onrthparties to design trial protocols, arrange fond monitor the clinical trials, and
collect and analyze data.

As we develop products eligible for clinical trialge will contract with independent parties to asas in the design of the trial protocols,
arrange for and monitor the clinical trials, cotldata and analyze data. For instance, in Feb2@t@, we entered into an agreement with CTI
Clinical Trial Services, Inc. and CTI Clinical Casisng Services, Inc. for the purpose of assistisgn the design, development and conduct o
one or more clinical research studies from timgnt@. In accordance with this agreement, CTl isdemting the Phase 1 clinical trial for GR-
MD-02 to evaluate the drug’s safety in subjecthwWASH with advanced hepatic fibrosis. In additioartain clinical trials for our products
may be conducted by government-sponsored agenuiewill be dependent on governmental participatiod funding. Additionally, GR-MD-
02 is being studied by Providence Portland Medistter in an Investigator-sponsored IND to conduehase 1B study to determine if GR-
MD-02 enhances the probability of melanoma respavigeipilimumab by inducing proliferation, activah and memory function of CD8+ T
cells in human patients. This study representsvalrapproach for patients with metastatic melanohha. IND was approved by FDA in
February 2014.

Our dependence on independent parties and clisitea involves risks including reduced control otrer timing and other aspects of our
clinical trials.
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There are risks associated with our reliance onrthparties for manufacturing, marketing, sales, maged care and distribution
infrastructure and channels.

We do not have, and do not now intend to develagilifies for the manufacture of any of our produfctr clinical or commercial
production. At this time, we are not a party to émg-term agreement with any of our suppliers, aocbrdingly, we have our products
manufactured on a purchase-order basis from ohgmprimary suppliers. We are developing relatiopshwith manufacturers and will enter
into collaborative arrangements with licenseesawehothers manufacture our products on a contesis bWe expect to depend on such
collaborators to supply us with products manufaediun compliance with standards imposed by the BDé foreign regulators.

We have limited experience in marketing, salesistridution, and we do not intend to develop asaled marketing infrastructure to
commercialize our pharmaceutical products. If weellgp commercial products, we will need to relylicensees, collaborators, joint venture
partners or independent distributors to marketsaiidthose products. Thus, we expect that we \eiltdrjuired to enter into agreements with
commercial partners to engage in sales, marketidgdéstribution efforts around our products in depenent. We may be unable to establis
maintain third-party relationships on a commergiadlasonable basis, if at all. In addition, thdgedtparties may have similar or more
established relationships with our competitorsvéfdo not enter into relationships with third pestfor the sales and marketing of our propose
products, we will need to develop our own salesraacketing capabilities.

Even if engaged, these distributors may:
» fail to satisfy financial or contractual obligat®to us;
» fail to adequately market our produc
e cease operations with little or no notice to us
» offer, design, manufacture or promote competinghfdations or product:

If we fail to develop sales, managed care, margedind distribution channels, we would experiendaydein generating sales and incur
increased costs, which would harm our financialltss

We are exposed to product liability, pre-clinicahd clinical liability risks, which could place a fiancial burden upon us, should we be
sued, because we do not currently have productiligbinsurance beyond our general insurance covee

Our business exposes us to potential productiiglaihd other liability risks that are inherenttie testing, manufacturing and marketing
of pharmaceutical formulations and products; adogigl, claims may be asserted against us. In axdithe use in our clinical trials of
pharmaceutical formulations and products that atemtial collaborators may develop and the subsggade of such formulations or products
by us or our potential collaborators may causewssume a portion of or all of the product liapitisks. A successful liability claim or series
of claims brought against us could have a matadsakrse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

Because we do not currently have any FDA-approvedyzts or formulations, we do not currently hamg product liability insurance
covering commercialized products. We may not be &bbbtain or maintain adequate product liabiligurance on acceptable terms, if at all,
or such insurance may not provide adequate covergajast our potential liabilities. Furthermorer ourrent and potential partners with wh
we have collaborative agreements or our futureniees may not be willing to indemnify us againssthtypes of liabilities and may not,
themselves, be sufficiently insured or have sudfitiliquidity to satisfy any product liability clais. Claims or losses in excess of any product
liability insurance coverage that may be obtaingdi$ could have a material adverse effect on osinless, financial condition and results of
operations.
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We face intense competition in the biotechnologydgrharmaceutical industries.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive. We face direct competitimm U.S. and foreign companies
focusing on pharmaceutical products, which aredtgmvolving. Our competitors include major multiie@al pharmaceutical and chemical
companies, specialized biotechnology firms and ensities and other research institutions. Manyhesé competitors possess greater financis
and other resources, larger research and develdtaéis and more effective marketing and manufaoguorganizations than we possess. In
addition, academic and government institutionsreeeeasingly likely to enter into exclusive licemgiagreements with commercial enterprises
including our competitors, to market commercialdurets based on technology developed at such itistiss Our competitors may succeed in
developing or licensing technologies and produws &re more effective, or succeed in obtaining EDAther regulatory approvals for prod
candidates before we do. Acquisitions of, or inrresits in, competing pharmaceutical or biotechnolmmypanies by large corporations could
increase such competitors’ financial, marketingnafacturing and other resources.

The market for our proposed products is rapidly atgaing and competitive, and new drugs and new treatits which may be developed
others could impair our ability to maintain and gw our business and remain competitive.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industriesabgect to rapid and substantial technologicahgleaDevelopments by others may
render our proposed products noncompetitive orlebsoor we may be unable to keep pace with teduyicdl developments or other market
factors. Technological competition from pharmaamitand biotechnology companies, universities, guwental entities and others
diversifying into the field is intense and is exf@tto increase.

As a pre-revenue company engaged in the developoheintig technologies, our resources are limitedi\vaa may experience technical
challenges inherent in such technologies. Compstitave developed or are in the process of deveidpichnologies that are, or in the future
may be, the basis for competition. Some of theglenglogies may have an entirely different appraacimeans of accomplishing similar
therapeutic effects compared to our proposed pted@ur competitors may develop drugs that arer safere effective and less costly than
proposed products and, therefore, present a sexaupetitive threat to us.

The potential widespread acceptance of therap&stie alternatives to ours may limit market acaepe of our proposed products, even
if commercialized. Many of our targeted diseases@mnditions can also be treated by other medicatibhese treatments may be widely
accepted in medical communities and have a lonigéorly of use. The established use of these coteetrugs may limit the potential for our
technologies, formulations and products to receiitiespread acceptance even if commercialized.

Our lack of operating experience may cause us diffity in managing our growth.

We have limited experience in manufacturing or prog products in commercial quantities, conductitiger later-stage phases of the
regulatory approval process, selling pharmaceugicadiucts, or negotiating, establishing and maimagi strategic relationships. Although we
have engaged a number of consultants to assiahysdditional growth may require us to expandmanagement, operational and financial
systems and controls. If we are unable to do sobosiness and financial condition would be maligrtzarmed. If rapid growth occurs, it may
strain our managerial, operational and financiabugces.

We depend on key individuals to develop our produend core technologies and pursue collaborativatenships.

We are highly dependent on Peter G. Traber, M.DTiaber is our Chief Executive Officer and our €tMedical Officer who, among
other things, designs and leads our gieical and clinical studies, as well as our LaBd European regulatory processes. The loss dfr@be
or failure to attract or retain other key persorsmild prevent us from developing our products emé technologies and pursuing collabore
relationships.
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We may fail to comply with our reporting and othezquirements under federal securities laws.

As a publicly traded company, we are subject taréperting requirements of the Exchange Act. Theharge Act requires that we file
annual, quarterly and current reports. Our faitorprepare and disclose this information in a timahnner could subject us to penalties under
federal securities laws, expose us to lawsuitsrastlict our ability to access financing. We mayéguired to implement additional and
expensive finance and accounting systems, procedune controls as we grow our business and org#oniza satisfy new reporting
requirements, which will increase our costs andiregadditional management resources.

Risks Related to the Regulation of our Products
We will need regulatory approvals to commercial@er products.

We are required to obtain approval (i) from the FidAvrder to sell our products in the U.S. andf(dm foreign regulatory authorities in
order to sell our products in other countries. FB&\'s review and approval process is lengthy, egpanand uncertain. Extensive pre-clinical
and clinical data and supporting information mussbbmitted to the FDA for each indication for epobduct candidate in order to secure F
approval. Before receiving FDA clearance to madigtproposed products, we will have to demonstraeour products are safe on the pal
population and effective for the diseases that@tee treated. Clinical trials, manufacturing anarketing of drugs are subject to the rigorous
testing and approval process of the FDA and eqeintdbreign regulatory authorities. The Federald;darug and Cosmetic Act and other
federal, state and foreign statutes and regulatiorern and influence the testing, manufacturegliab, advertising, distribution and promoti
of drugs and medical devices. As a result, regolaapprovals can take several years to acquirarendfurther require the expenditure of
substantial financial, managerial and other resmairthe FDA could reject an application or, infternative, require us to conduct additional
clinical or other studies as part of the regulat@yiew process. Delays in obtaining or failurektain FDA approvals would delay or prevent
the commercialization of our product candidatesctviwould prevent, defer or decrease our receipeeénues. In addition, should we receive
initial regulatory approval, our product candidatg be subject to extensive and rigorous ongalogestic and foreign government
regulation.

Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, our marketdrugs will be subject to ongoing regulatory rewielf we fail to comply with ongoin
regulatory requirements, we could lose our apprav& market drugs, in which case our business wob&materially adversely affected.

Following regulatory approval in the United Stabésiny drugs we may develop, we will remain subjeatontinuing regulatory review,
including the review of adverse drug experiencesdimical results that are reported after our dougducts are made available to patients.
would include results from any post marketing testgigilance required as a condition of appro\féle manufacturer and manufacturing
facilities we use to make any of our drug prodwdgtsalso be subject to periodic review and inspatby the FDA. The discovery of any new
or previously unknown problems with the productpeifacturer or facility may result in restrictions the drug or manufacturer or facility,
including withdrawal of the drug from the marketeMould continue to be subject to the FDA requinetsigoverning the labeling, packaging,
storage, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping,aramission of safety and other post-market infdionafor all of our product candidates,
even those that the FDA had approved. If we faddmply with applicable continuing regulatory regunents, we may be subject to fines,
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvabdoict recalls and seizures, operating restrictiorsother adverse consequences.

The drug development process to obtain FDA appragalery costly and time consuming and if we caneotnplete our clinical trials in
cost-effective manner, our results of operations yrtze adversely affected.

Costs and timing of clinical trials may vary sigoéntly over the life of a project owing to thelfaking non-exclusive reasons:
» the duration of the clinical tria
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» the number of sites included in the trie

» the countries in which the trial is conduct

» the length of time required and ability to enrdifible patients

» the number of patients that participate in thdgr

» the number of doses that patients rece

» the droj-out or discontinuation rates of patier

*  per patient trial cost:

» third party contractors failing to comply with rdgtory requirements or meet their contractual ailmns to us in a timely manne
e our drug product candidates having different chairand pharmacological properties in humans thdakresting

» the need to suspend or terminate our clinicalsy

« insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of gnoroduct candidates or other necessary mateoasrtduct our trials

» potential additional safety monitoring, or othenddions required by FDA or comparable foreign datpry authorities regarding
the scope or design of our clinical trials, or otbieidies requested by regulatory agenc

e problems engaging IRBs to oversee trials or iniabtg and maintaining IRB approval of studi
» the duration of patient follo-up;

» the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddatk;

» the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory appisyanc

» the costs involved in enforcing or defending patdaims or other intellectual property righ

Each of the above factors and other unanticipaetbfs beyond our control could prevent us fronmigai approval for our drugs in a
cost-effective and timely manner, which could haveaterial adverse impact on our business.

If users of our proposed products are unable to @ibtadequate reimbursement from third-party payemsarket acceptance of our
proposed products may be limited and we may noti@eh revenues or profits.

The continuing efforts of governments, insuranamganies, health maintenance organizations and p#yars of healthcare costs to
contain or reduce costs of health care may affecfudure revenues and profitability as well asfilteire revenues and profitability of our
potential customers, suppliers and collaborativitngas in addition to the availability of capitél. other words, our ability to commercialize
proposed products will depend in large part onetktent to which appropriate reimbursement levelgie cost of our proposed formulations,
products and related treatments are obtained blgahkth care providers of these products and tetisn At this time we cannot predict the
precise impact of the Patient Protection and Affinid Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health @ad Education Affordability Act of
2010, the comprehensive health care reform legisiggassed by Congress in March 2010. It is possidt the adoption of this legislation
could harm our business, financial condition arsdiits of operations.

Data obtained from clinical trials are not necessligrpredictive of future results, may be negativeinconclusive, and are susceptible to
varying interpretations, which could delay, limitr@revent regulatory clearances.

Data already obtained, or in the future obtainemnfpre-clinical studies and clinical trials do metcessarily predict the results that will
be obtained from later pre-clinical studies andicél trials. Moreover,
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pre<linical and clinical data may be negative or indasive. In addition, data is susceptible to vagyimterpretations. Negative or inconclus
data, or data interpreted in various ways, couldyddéimit or prevent regulatory approval. A numizércompanies in the pharmaceutical
industry have suffered significant setbacks in aded clinical trials, even after having obtainedmising results in earlier trials. Despite the
results reported in earlier clinical trials for @R2-02, our clinical trials may not demonstrate fiént levels of safety and efficacy necessary
to obtain the requisite regulatory approvals for duugs, and thus, our proposed drugs may not peoapd for marketing. If later-stage clinical
trials do not produce favorable results, our aptlit achieve regulatory approval for any of ourdaret candidates may be adversely impacted.
The failure to adequately demonstrate the safedyedfiectiveness of a proposed formulation or producler development could delay or
prevent regulatory clearance of the potential ditige resulting delays in commercialization couldenially harm our business.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable siffeats or have other properties that could delaypmevent their regulatory approval,
limit the commercial profile of an approved labedyr result in significant negative consequences flling any marketing approval.

Undesirable side effects caused by our productidates could cause us or regulatory authoritiestesrupt, delay or halt clinical trials
and could result in a more restrictive label ordle&y or denial of regulatory approval by the FBrAother comparable foreign regulatory
authority. Although we are not currently aware oy andesirable side effects caused by our procuudidates, it is possible that they may be
identified in the clinical trial process.

As a result of undesirable side effects or safetpxicity issues that we may experience in ourmicll trials, we may not receive approval
to market any product candidates, which could preus from ever generating revenues or achievingtpbility. Results of our trials could
reveal an unacceptably high severity and prevalehsele effects. In such an event, our trials ddé suspended or terminated and the FD
comparable foreign regulatory authorities couldeondas to cease further development or deny appaivalr product candidates for any or all
targeted indications. These side effects coulcchfiatient recruitment or the ability of enrollatbgects to complete the trial or result in
potential product liability claims.

Additionally, if any of our product candidates re@s marketing approval, and we or others latentiieundesirable side effects caused
by such product, a number of potentially significaegative consequences could result, including:
* we may be forced to suspend marketing of such @t
» regulatory authorities may withdraw their approwaisuch product

» regulatory authorities may require additional wags on the label that could diminish the usagetlveravise limit the commercial
success of such produc

* we may be required to conduct g-market studies
* we could be sued and held liable for harm causadlbgects or patients; a
e our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewinghaintaining market acceptance of the particptaduct candidate, if approved.

We will need to obtain FDA approval of any propospobduct brand names, and any failure or delay asgded with such approval may
adversely impact our business.

A pharmaceutical product cannot be marketed ikl or other countries until it has completed rigs and extensive regulatory rev
processes, including approval of a brand name.l#apd names we intend to use for our product caelsdwill require approval from the
FDA regardless of whether we have secured a fomadémark registration from the U.S. Patent andi@nzark Office, or the PTO. The FDA
typically
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conducts a review of proposed product brand naimelsiding an evaluation of potential for confusieiith other product names. The FDA may
also object to a product brand name if it beliethesname inappropriately implies medical claimshé FDA objects to any of our proposed
product brand names, we may be required to adoaltemative brand name for our product candiddtege adopt an alternative brand name,
we would lose the benefit of our existing trademegpklications for such product candidate and manehaired to expend significant additiol
resources in an effort to identify a suitable prdiderand name that would qualify under applicatdelémark laws, not infringe the existing
rights of third parties and be acceptable to thé& FlYe may be unable to build a successful brandtityefor a new trademark in a timely
manner or at all, which would limit our ability tmmmercialize our product candidates.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatieal jurisdictions would prevent our product canditizss from being marketed abroad.

In order to market and sell our products in thedpean Union and many other jurisdictions, we mbstio separate marketing approvals
and comply with numerous and varying regulatoryuremments. The approval procedure varies amongtdearand can involve additional
testing. The time required to obtain approval miffedsubstantially from that required to obtain ARpproval. The regulatory approval
process outside the United States generally inslatieof the risks associated with obtaining FDAyal. In addition, in many countries
outside the United States, it is required thatpfeeluct be approved for reimbursement before thdymt can be approved for sale in that
country. We may not obtain approvals from regulaemthorities outside the United States on a tinbelsis, if at all. Approval by the FDA
does not ensure approval by regulatory authoritiegher countries or jurisdictions, and approvablne regulatory authority outside the Uni
States does not ensure approval by regulatory etiésoin other countries or jurisdictions or bytRDA. We may not be able to file for
marketing approvals and may not receive necesggmp®aals to commercialize our products in any miarkeve are unable to obtain approval
of any of our product candidates by regulatory arities in the European Union or other countriis, commercial prospects of that product
candidate may be significantly diminished and ausibess prospects could decline.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our competitive position is contingent upon the pection of our intellectual property.

Development and protection of our intellectual @y are critical to our business. All of our inéetual property, patented or otherwise,
has been invented and/or developed by employefesroer employees of the Company. Our success depangart, on our ability to obtain
patent protection for our products or processekerl).S. and other countries, protect trade searetprevent others from infringing on our
proprietary rights. We will only be able to protectr product candidates from unauthorized makis@a) selling, offering to sell or
importation by third parties to the extent thathesre rights under valid and enforceable patentsade secrets that cover these activities. If we
do not adequately protect our intellectual propestmpetitors may be able to practice our techriefg

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies can be highly uncertain and invebwaplex legal and factual
questions for which important legal principles rémanresolved. No consistent policy regarding tresadth of claims allowed in biotechnola
patents has emerged to date in the United Stalbesbibtechnology patent situation outside the Wh&&ates is even more uncertain. Chang
either the patent laws or in interpretations okepataws in the United States and other countrigg diminish the value of our intellectual
property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the bréaaft claims that may be allowed in our pending pagpplications or enforced in our issued
patents or in third-party patents.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain because legal means afford kimited protection and may not
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gaikeep our competitive advantage. For example:

» others may be able to make compounds that are ddiv@evith our product candidates but are not cedeby the claims of our
patents
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« we might not have been the first to make the invastcovered by our pending patent applicati
« we might not have been the first to file patentli@ggtions for these invention

» itis possible that our pending patent applicatiaiisnot result in issued patent

* we may not develop additional proprietary techn@eghat are patentable;

» the patents of others may have an adverse effestiohusiness

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect amelogy, especially where we do not believe papeotection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficufirimect. Although we require our scientific andheical employees and consultants to enter
into broad assignment of inventions agreementsadiral our employees, consultants and corporatespes with access to proprietary
information to enter into confidentiality agreemgrthese agreements may not be honored. Enforaitegra that a third party illegally
obtained, and is using, our trade secrets is exgeasd time consuming, and the outcome is unptallie. In addition, courts outside the
United States are sometimes less willing to pratecte secrets. Moreover, our competitors may iaddpntly develop equivalent knowledge,
methods and know-how.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of l&t@n or other proceedings relating to patent anther intellectual property rights and w
may be unable to protect our rights to, or use ofir technology.

Some or all of our patent applications may notésas patents, or the claims of any issued patesysnot afford meaningful protection
for our technologies or products. In addition, pégéssued to us or our licensors, if any, mayhmlenged and subsequently narrowed,
invalidated or circumvented. Patent litigation isl@spread in the biotechnology industry and coaldrhour business. Litigation might be
necessary to protect our patent position or tordete the scope and validity of third-party propaiy rights.

If we choose to go to court to stop someone etsa frsing the inventions claimed in our patentg, ithdividual or company would have
the right to ask the court to rule that such patan¢ invalid and/or should not be enforced agalvadtthird party. These lawsuits are expensive
and we may not have the required resources to pssth litigation or to protect our patent rightsaddition, there is a risk that the court will
decide that these patents are not valid and thatonet have the right to stop the other party fugimg the inventions. There is also the risk
that, even if the validity of these patents is ughthe court will refuse to stop the other pantytbe ground that such other party’s activities do
not infringe our rights in these patents.

Furthermore, a third party may claim that we aiegimventions covered by the third party’s pategits and may go to court to stop us
from engaging in our normal operations and acésitincluding making or selling our product cantédaThese lawsuits are costly and could
affect our results of operations and divert thergtbn of managerial and technical personnel. Theeaerisk that a court would decide that we
are infringing the third party’s patents and woalder us to stop the activities covered by themiatdn addition, there is a risk that a court will
order us to pay the other party treble damagebkdwing violated the other party’s patents. Thedsbhology industry has produced a
proliferation of patents, and it is not always cleaindustry participants, including us, whicheuats cover various types of products or meti
of use. The coverage of patents is subject topnégation by the courts, and the interpretatiomosalways uniform. If we are sued for patent
infringement, we would need to demonstrate thatpoaducts or methods of use either do not infritigeclaims of the relevant patent and/or
that the patent claims are invalid, and we maybeoable to do this. Proving invalidity in the U.B. particular, is difficult since it requires a
showing of clear and convincing evidence to overedine presumption of validity enjoyed by issuedpts.

Because some patent applications in the Unite@Stany be maintained in secrecy until the pateetssaued, patent applications in the
United States and many foreign jurisdictions apgdglly not published until eighteen months afiénd, and publications in the scientific
literature often lag behind actual discoveriescamnot be certain that others have not filed paipptications for technology covered by our
issued patents or
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our pending applications or that we were the fwshvent the technology. Our competitors may hidee, and may in the future file, patent
applications covering technology similar to oursly/such patent application may have priority ovar gatent applications and could further
require us to obtain rights to issued patents ¢ogesuch technologies. If another party has filddhited States patent application on inventi
similar to ours, we may have to participate inmterference or other proceeding in the PTO or atdouwdetermine priority of invention in the
United States. The costs of these proceedings dmutdibstantial, and it is possible that such &ff@ould be unsuccessful, resulting in a los
our United States patent position with respectutthdgnventions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustairdises of complex patent litigation more effectivédgn we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, ameuainties resulting from the initiation and doogtion of any litigation could have a mate
adverse effect on our ability to raise the fundsassary to continue our operations.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds upon compliance with various procedural, doogm submission, fee payment
and other requirements imposed by governmental paggencies, and our patent protection could beuwedd or eliminated for non-
compliance with these requirements.

The PTO and various foreign governmental patenheige require compliance with a number of procddd@umentary, fee payment
and other provisions during the patent processteTaee situations in which noncompliance can rasudbandonment or lapse of a patent or
patent application, resulting in partial or compl&gss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdictibh such an event, competitors might be able t
enter the market earlier than would otherwise Hsen the case.

Our failure to secure trademark registration coultlversely affect our ability to market our producandidates and our business.

Our trademark applications in the United Statessmiled, and any other jurisdictions where we rfilsymay not be allowed for
registration, and our registered trademarks mayaohaintained or enforced. During trademark regfisin proceedings, we may receive
rejections. Although we are given an opportunityespond to those rejections, we may be unablegocome such rejections. In addition, in
the PTO and in comparable agencies in many forjeigsdictions, third parties are given an opportynd oppose pending trademark
applications and to seek to cancel registered tnades. Opposition or cancellation proceedings n&filbd against our applications and/or
registrations, and our applications and/or rediisina may not survive such proceedings. Failurgetture such trademark registrations in the
United States and in foreign jurisdictions coulderdely affect our ability to market our produchdadates and our business.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of our gagbcrets and other proprietary
information and may not adequately protect our ifiextual property, which could impede our abilitp tompete.

Because we operate in the highly technical fielBiofechnology and pharmaceutical development,elein part on trade secret
protection in order to protect our proprietary gracrets and unpatented know-how. However, tractets are difficult to protect, and we
cannot be certain that others will not developsthme or similar technologies on their own. We haken steps, including entering into
confidentiality agreements with all of our emplogeeonsultants and corporate partners to protedrade secrets and unpatented know-how.
These agreements generally require that the otirey keep confidential and not disclose to thirdipa all confidential information developed
by the party or made known to the party by us dytire course of the party’s relationship with us o typically obtain agreements from
these parties which provide that inventions coreeivy the party in the course of rendering servicess will be our exclusive property.
However, these agreements may not be honored apdoh&ffectively assign intellectual property rigo us. Enforcing a claim that a party
illegally obtained and is using our trade secretsnmw-how is difficult, expensive
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and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredietabladdition, courts outside the United Stateg bealess willing to protect trade secrets
or know-how. The failure to obtain or maintain ®egbcret protection could adversely affect our agtitipe position.

We may be subject to claims that our employees harengfully used or disclosed alleged trade seci&tsheir former employers.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceliticlstry, we employ individuals who were prevityusmployed at other
biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, inclgainor competitors or potential competitors. Althbuw claims against us are currently
pending, we may be subject to claims that thesd@mps or we have inadvertently or otherwise usatistiosed trade secrets or other
proprietary information of their former employetdtigation may be necessary to defend against thieées. Even if we are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation couklitein substantial costs and be a distraction anagement.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The market price of our common stock may be vokatind adversely affected by several factors. Thisld subject us to securities class
action litigation and our stockholders could incigubstantial losses.

The market price of our common stock could flustusignificantly in response to various factors aments, including but not limited to:
» the results of our p-clinical studies and clinical trials, including émim results, as well as those of our competit
» regulatory actions with respect to our productsurcompetitor’ products;
e our ability to integrate operations, technologydarcts and service
» our ability to execute our business pl
» operating results below expectatio

» our issuance of additional securities, includingtd® equity or a combination thereof, which mayneeessary to fund our operai
expenses

* announcements of technological innovations or nemdycts by us or our competito
» the success of competitive produc
* loss of any strategic relationsh

e industry developments, including, without limitaticchanges in healthcare policies or practicehiod-party reimbursement
policies;

» regulatory or legal developments in the United &t@nd other countrie
» the level of expenses related to any of our prodantlidates or clinical development progra

» disputes or other developments related to propyietghts, including patents, litigation matteradeour ability to obtain patent
protection for our technologie

» economic and other external factc

e perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resul

» sales of our common stock by us, our insiders oother stockholders; ar

» whether an active trading market in our commonlstisvelops and is maintaine

In addition, the market price for securities of phaceutical and biotechnology companies histogdadls been highly volatile, and the
securities markets have from time to time expeeergignificant price and volume fluctuations thea anrelated to the operating performance
of particular companies. These broad market fluzgina may cause the market price of our commorkdtmdecline substantially.
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In the past, securities class action litigation bifsn been brought against a company followingelide in the market price of its
securities. This risk is especially relevant folbesause biotechnology and biopharmaceutical corep&iave experienced significant stock
price volatility in recent years. As described beglave are currently defending a consolidated fddareurities class action lawsuit and a
consolidated shareholder derivative action and \&g become involved in additional instances of thige of litigation in the future. Litigation
often is expensive and diverts management’s attertnd resources, which could materially and a@éheefect our business.

Additionally, fluctuations in the trading price kquidity of our common stock may materially andratsely affect, among other things,
the interest of investors to purchase our commacksbn the open market and, generally, our altilityaise capital.

We are a defendant in a consolidated class actima & a consolidated shareholder derivative acti@nd these lawsuits and any future
such lawsuits may adversely affect our businessaficial condition, results of operations and caslodvs

We and certain of our officers and directors arffenigants in a consolidated federal securities @atien lawsuit and a
consolidated shareholder derivative action. Thaasuits are described in Part |, Iltem 3 “Legal Bealings” in this Form 10-K. These lawsuits
may divert our attention from our ordinary businepsrations, and we may incur significant expersssciated with their defense (including,
without limitation, substantial attorneys’ fees antter fees of professional advisors and potenbégations to indemnify current and former
officers and directors who are or may become pattiesuch actions). Depending on the outcome ofldses action lawsuit, we may be requ
to pay material damages and fines, consent todtijums on future conduct and/or suffer other péasltremedies or sanctions. Accordingly,
ultimate resolution of these matters could haveatenal adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial condition, liquidity and
ability to meet our debt obligations and, consetjyenould negatively impact the trading price off @ommon stock. In addition, there is the
potential for additional shareholder litigation dod governmental investigations and/or enforcenaations. Any existing or future sharehol
lawsuits and any future governmental investigatimmd/or enforcement actions could adversely impacteputation, our relationships with
our customers and our ability to generate revenue

Our board of directors has the power to designatithout stockholder approval, additional series pfeferred stock, the shares of which
could be senior to our common stock and be entittecconversion or voting rights that adversely affehe holders of our common stock.

Our articles of incorporation authorize the isswaatcapital stock including 20,000,000 authorimedesignated shares (8,001,000
designated as of December 31, 2014), and empoweisoard of directors to prescribe, by resolutiod without stockholder approval, a class
or series of undesignated shares, including thebenmf shares in the class or series and the vptmgers, designations, rights, preferences,
restrictions and the relative rights in each suakscor series. Accordingly, we may designate asde additional shares or series of preferred
stock that would rank senior to the shares of comstock as to dividend rights or rights upon oguidation, winding-up, or dissolution.

Nevada law and our charter documents could makenitre difficult for a third party to acquire us andiscourage a takeover, which cot
depress the trading price of our common stock.

Nevada corporate law and our articles of incorponaénd bylaws contain provisions that could disege, delay, or prevent a change in
control of our Company or changes in our managenhentour stockholders may deem advantageous.¥aonge, holders of our common
stock do not have cumulative voting rights in thexgon of directors, meaning that stockholders imgra majority of our outstanding shares of
common stock will be able to elect all of our diggs. In addition, because we have more than 2fifkisblders of record, we are subject to the
“business combinations” provisions of the Nevadaiss Statutes, or NRS. These provisions
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could prohibit or delay a merger or other takeaechange in control attempt and, accordingly, miagourage attempts to acquire our
company even though such a transaction may beriatockholdersbest interest and offer our stockholders the opmitst to sell their stock ¢
a price above the prevailing market price.

One investor and certain directors, by virtue of n@rship of our securities and related rights, mag hble to control the Company.

The 10X Fund owns all of our issued and outstan@iedes B Preferred Stock, which are convertibie 5000,000 shares of our
common stock. The 10X Fund owns related warrargsogsable to purchase an aggregate of 4,000,008ssb&our common stock. As of
December 31, 2014, we have issued 1,233,256 sbhoes common stock as dividends on the SerieseéBeled Stock and 2,000,000 share
our common stock on the exercise of warrants by EQXd. In addition, (i) James C. Czirr, a managiagner of the 10X Fund and Executive
Chairman of our board of directors, owns or costagproximately 817,000 shares of our common siackyding shares of Series A on an as
converted basis, and has the right to acquire appedely 811,000 additional shares of our commaglstpon the exercise of outstanding
stock options (approximately 631,000 of which arereisable as of December 31, 2014); and (ii) RotMBrtin, a managing partner of the 1
Fund and Vice Chairman of our board of directorgn® or controls approximately 175,000 shares ofconnmon stock and has the right to
acquire approximately 41,000 additional sharesunfoommon stock upon the exercise of outstandiogksbptions (approximately 34,000 of
which are exercisable as of December 31, 2014pfAxcember 31, 2014, on a fully diluted basisyasag conversion of all Series B
Preferred Stock and exercise of all outstandingavas, the 10X Fund would own approximately 31%wf then outstanding shares of
common stock, which, together with the shares ofoommon stock that would be owned by Mr. Czirr &hd Martin (assuming exercise of
vested options at that date), would constitute @yprately 35% of the then outstanding shares.

As holder of Series B Preferred Stock, the 10X Fsrehtitled to elect three directors in a sepatktss vote, nominate three directors fol
election by all shares entitled to vote, and prewad withhold consent to a range of fundamentgb@a@te actions we may wish to undertake,
such as recapitalization, sale of our company,aihédr matters. Such concentration of stock ownprahd related rights could have the effect
of delaying, deterring or preventing corporate ¢sdat our other security holders may desire asitter beneficial to the company.

We may issue additional common stock, which mightige the net tangible book value per share of ccmmmon stock.

Our board of directors has the authority, withazttan or vote of our stockholders, to issue alhqrart of our authorized but unissued
shares. Such stock issuances could be made ateatipait reflects a discount to, or a premium frra,then-current market price of our
common stock. In addition, in order to raise cadpitee may need to issue securities that are caibleihto or exchangeable for a significant
amount of our common stock. We are currently coplating additional capital raising transactionshiitthe next twelve months, which
would likely result in issuances of additional ssawhich would be dilutive to current sharehold&isese issuances would dilute the
percentage ownership interest, which would havetfeet of reducing your influence on matters oriclitour stockholders vote, and might
dilute the net tangible book value per share ofammnmon stock. You may incur additional dilutiorhdlders of stock options, whether
currently outstanding or subsequently granted,@serttheir options, or if warrant holders exerdrsgir warrants to purchase shares of our
common stock.

A sale of a substantial number of shares of the aoon stock may cause the price of our common stackliécline.

Our common stock is currently traded on The NASDB#&pital Market and, despite certain increasesadfiig volume from time to tim
there have been periods when it could be consid¢nedy-traded,” meaning
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that the number of persons interested in purchasimgommon stock at or near bid prices at anyrgtirmae may be relatively small or non-
existent. Finance transactions resulting in a lamgeunt of newly issued shares that become rettdiiable, or other events that cause current
stockholders to sell shares, could place downwegdsure on the trading price of our stock. Somamuofshareholders have registration rights t
facilitate sales of large blocks of our common ktde have filed a shelf registration statemeraltow registered sales of up to 9.7 million
shares by these shareholders. We may consideiadditapital raising transactions within the newelve months, which would likely result
issuances of additional shares which would beidéub current shareholders. In addition, the latk robust resale market may require a
stockholder who desires to sell a large numbehafess of common stock to sell the shares in incnésnaver time to mitigate any adverse
impact of the sales on the market price of ourkstoc

If our stockholders sell, or the market perceiVes bur stockholders intend to sell for varioussoess, including the ending of restriction
on resale or the expiration of lock-up agreememth s1s those entered into in connection with tifisrimg, substantial amounts of our common
stock in the public market, including shares issupan the exercise of outstanding options or wastdhe market price of our common stock
could fall. Sales of a substantial number of shafesir common stock may make it more difficult tar to sell equity or equity-related
securities in the future at a time and price thatdeem reasonable or appropriate. We may becorobvé@d/in securities class action litigation
that could divert management’s attention and haunbasiness.

We have not paid cash dividends in the past anchdbexpect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeéibiere.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capitaksind do not anticipate paying cash dividendswrcapital stock in the foreseeable
future. The payment of dividends on our capitatktwill depend on our earnings, financial conditaomd other business and economic factors
affecting us at such time as the board of direatwey consider relevant. If we do not pay dividerails,common stock may be less valuable
because a return on your investment will only odttire market price of our common stock price @gjates.

At times, our shares of common stock and warrants/b been thinly traded, so you may be unable tbaebr near ask prices or even at
all if you need to sell your shares or warrantsraise money or otherwise desire to liquidate yohases or warrants.

We cannot predict the extent to which an activdipubarket for our common stock and warrants wél/dlop or be sustained. Our
common stock is currently traded on The NASDAQ @dpWarket and experiences periods when it coulddresidered “thinly-traded.” This
situation may be attributable to a number of fagtorcluding the fact that we are a small compahicivis relatively unknown to stock
analysts, stock brokers, institutional investord athers in the investment community that genesaiefluence sales volume, and that even if
we came to the attention of such persons, theyttebd risk averse and would be reluctant to follmwunproven company such as ours or
purchase or recommend the purchase of our shatiésuch time as we became more seasoned and viablke consequence, there may be
periods of several days, weeks or months whenrtgaalitivity in our shares is minimal, as comparced seasoned issuer which has a large an
steady volume of trading activity that will gendyaupport continuous sales without an adversecetfe share price. We cannot give you any
assurance that a broader or more active publicngadarket for our common stock will be sustain@dthat current trading levels will be
sustained or not diminish.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment
None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease 3,610 square feet for our executive afficeated at 4960 Peachtree Industrial Blvd., NmgrGA. We also lease
approximately 300 square feet in Natick, MA, foeusy research and development
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consultants and which is collocated with one of msearch and development service vendors. Wevkdliese spaces are suitable for our
present operations.

Ite m 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, the Company is exposed to litggarelating to its operations. The Company isawtently engaged in any legal
proceedings that are expected, individually ohimaggregate, to have a material, adverse effeits éinancial condition or results of
operations, except as noted below:

Separation Agreement

In February 2009, the Company entered into a SéparAgreement in connection with the resignatiéiDavid Platt, Ph.D., the
Company'’s former Chief Executive Officer and Chamof the Board of Directors. The Separation Agresinprovides for the deferral of a
$1.0 million separation payment due to Dr. Platrughe earlier occurrence of any of the followindestone events: (i) the approval by the
Food and Drug Administration for a new drug applma (“NDA”) for any drug candidate or drug deliyecandidate based on the Company’s
GM-CT-01 technology (whether or not such technolzgyatented), in which case Dr. Platt is alsotletito a fully vested 10-year cashless-
exercise stock option to purchase at least 83,88¢s of common stock at an exercise price notlessthe fair market value of the common
stock determined as of the date of grant; (ii) com:ation of a transaction with a pharmaceutical gamy expected to result in at least $10.0
million of equity investment or $50 million of rofpa revenue to the Company, in which case Dr. Réadiiso entitled to stock options on the
same terms to purchase at least 50,000 sharesnohan stock; or (iii) the renewed listing of the Qmamy’s securities on a national securities
exchange and the achievement of a market capitializaf $100 million. Payment upon the events (gl &ii) may be deferred up to six
months, and if the Company has insufficient cagheatime of any of such events, it may issue [attR secured promissory note for such
amount. If the Company files a voluntary or invdlny petition for bankruptcy, whether or not a reftne event has occurred, such event sha
trigger the obligation to pay the $1.0 million withe result that Dr. Platt may assert a claim émhsobligation against the bankruptcy estate.
During 2011, when it became probable that the Comjgauld be relisted on a national securities ergkaand eventually reach a market
capitalization of $100 million, the Company recaggd the $1.0 million severance payment due to @it ®hich was included in accrued
expenses at December 31, 2013.

On October 12, 2012, Dr. Platt commenced a lawswder the Massachusetts Wage Act against Dr. TeieMr. McGauley who in
their capacities as the Company’s Chief Executiffec€ and the Company’s former Chief Financial iGdf, respectively, can be held
individually liable under the Wage Act for non-pagmt of wages. The lawsuit is based on the factdsmets raised in the arbitration regarding
the payment of the $1.0 million separation paymerer the Separation Agreement, and other unspdcifiages”. The statute provides that a
successful claimant may be entitled to multiple dges, interest and attorney’s fees. On April 29326he Superior Court allowed
Dr. Traber’s and Mr. McGauley’s motion to dismi€n May 28, 2013, Dr. Platt filed a Notice of Appéakppeal the Superior Court’s order
allowing the defendants’ motion to dismiss. On Apd, 2014, the Appeals Court denied Dr. Platt’pesd of the dismissal in full.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitratiefore the American Arbitration Association,ldeg to rescind or reform the
Separation Agreement discussed above. The Compainyec that Dr. Platt fraudulently induced the Campto enter into the Separation
Agreement, breached his fiduciary duty to the Camgpand was unduly enriched from his conduct. Alaiiil removal of the $1.0 million
milestone payment under the Separation AgreentemCompany sought repayment of all separation berpfid to Dr. Platt to date.

On August 1, 2013, the market capitalization of @enpany’s common stock exceeded $100 million Aeddompany received a letter
dated October 1, 2013, demanding payment of thaiffibn. As described in the preceding paragrapk,Company had previously instituted
an arbitration proceeding against Dr. Platt seeking
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to rescind the Separation Agreement, includingntilestone payment provision, and the Company del@gyment pending the outcome of
this arbitration. In June 2014, the arbitrator é&ba judgment in favor of Dr. Platt. In July 201 Company paid the $1 million severance
obligation.

Shareholder Class Actions and Derivative Lawsuits

Between July 30, 2014, and August 6, 2014, threate class action complaints were filed in thatlish States District Court for the
District of Nevada (the “Nevada District Court”)aigst the Company and certain of its officers ainelatiors on behalf of all persons who
purchased or otherwise acquired the Company'’s dietkeen January 6, 2014 and July 28, 2014. Thelkeamts allege that the defendants
made false or misleading statements in certairspeieases and other public statements in violatidhe federal securities laws and seek clas
certification, unspecified monetary damages, castd,attorneys’ fees. The Company disputes thgatilens in the complaints and intends to
vigorously defend against the claims. On AugustZZ,4, the Nevada District Court entered an ordesaclidating the three cases, relieving
defendants of any obligation to respond to the damfs currently on file, and providing that defants may respond to a consolidated
amended complaint after it is filed by a lead fii{s) to be appointed pursuant to the Privateugigies Litigation Reform Act of 1995. On
January 5, 2015, the Nevada District Court grabteféndants’ motion to transfer the consolidatecfvg securities class action to the United
States District Court for the Northern District@éorgia. The court has not yet appointed a leadtfffeor plaintiffs, and no consolidated
amended complaint has been filed.

On August 1 and 25, 2014, persons claiming to ded®ia shareholders filed putative shareholdendgive complaints in the Nevada
District Court, seeking recovery on behalf of thenfpany against certain of the Company'’s directasaficers. On September 10, 2014, the
Nevada District Court entered an order consolidgtire two cases, relieving the defendants of atigation to respond to the initii
complaints, and providing that defendants may nedfio a consolidated amended complaint to be bilethe plaintiffs. On January 5, 2015,
the Nevada District Court granted Defendants’ motmtransfer the consolidated putative derivalitigation to the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia. Theiptifs filed a consolidated amended complaint @bfaary 27, 2015. The consolidated
amended complaint alleges that the defendants tedabeir fiduciary duties to the Company’s shaleés by causing or permitting the
Company to make allegedly false and misleadingip@htements concerning the Company’s financidltausiness prospects. The
consolidated amended complaint also alleges tleatéfiendants violated the federal securities lapallegedly making false or misleading
statements of material fact in the Company’s priilikygs, committed “waste” of corporate assets, evenjustly enriched, aided and abetted
breaches of fiduciary duties, and that certain niddi@ats breached their fiduciary duties throughgaitly improper sales of Galectin stock. The
complaints seek unspecified monetary damages aalfbatthe Company, corporate governance refornsgiaiigement of profits, benefits and
compensation by the defendants, costs, and attgraay experts’ fees. Defendants’ response todhealidated amended complaint is
currently due to be filed on March 30, 2015.

On August 29, 2014, another alleged Galectin sluddeh filed a putative shareholder derivative coamlin state court in Las Vegas,
Nevada, seeking recovery on behalf of the Compgaynat the same directors and officers who are dasealefendants in the derivat
litigation pending in the United States Districtu€ofor the District of Nevada. The state courtiggtive plaintiff filed an amended complaint
on December 1, 2014, which alleges claims for breddiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, and wasdteorporate assets, based on allegation
that are substantially similar to those in the wBgive complaints now pending in the United St&esrict Court for the Northern District of
Georgia, and seeks unspecified monetary damagbshaif of the Company, corporate governance refpdisgorgement of profits, benefits
and compensation by the defendants, costs, amheyt) and experts’ fees. Defendant filed motiodigmiss the amended complaint on
February 26, 2015.
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Estimating an amount or range of possible lossadtieg from litigation proceedings is inherentliffidult and requires an extensive
degree of judgment, particularly where the matit@rslve indeterminate claims for monetary damages,in the early stages of the
proceedings, and are subject to appeal. In additiecause most legal proceedings are resolvedestended periods of time, potential losses
are subject to change due to, among other thireyg,developments, changes in legal strategy, theomg of intermediate procedural and
substantive rulings and other parties’ settlemestyre and their evaluation of the strength or weak of their case against us. For these
reasons, we are currently unable to predict thmate timing or outcome of, or reasonably estinthépossible losses or a range of possible
losses resulting from, the matters described ald®a&sed on information currently available, the Campdoes not believe that any reasonably
possible losses arising from currently pending llegaters will be material to the Company’s resok®perations or financial condition.
However, in light of the inherent uncertaintiesaiwed in such matters, an adverse outcome in oneooe of these matters could materially
adversely affect the Company’s financial conditimsults of operations or cash flows in any paldicteporting period.

Item 4. M ine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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Item 5. M arket for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stbaitder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seitigis
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Capltrket under the symbol GALT effective March 2812. The high and low
sale prices for our common stock as reported oINBWBDAQ Capital Market, for the periods indicatexislhown below. All share prices reflect
the one-for-six reverse split, which was effectwarch 23, 2012.

High Low

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quartel $19.11 $7.9C
Second Quarte $16.0z $9.8(C
Third Quartel $16.5¢ $4.2¢
Fourth Quarte $ 5.8¢ $3.0C
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quartel $ 4.5¢ $1.9¢
Second Quarte $ 5.22 $3.1¢
Third Quartel $13.21 $3.9¢
Fourth Quarte $12.7¢ $5.3¢
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Performance graph

The following graph shows the value of an investhodi$100 on December 31, 2009, in each of Galéid@rapeutics common stock,
Nasdaq Biotech Index, the Nasdag Composite Indx.adues assume reinvestment of the pretax valubvidends and are calculated as
December 31 of each year. The historical stockegrformance of the Company’s common stock showthd performance graph is not
necessarily indicative of future stock price perfance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Galectin Therapeutics Inc., the NASDACG Composite Index
and the NASDACQ Biotechnology Index
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“$100 invested on 12/31/09'in stock or index, incleding reinvestment of dividends
Fiscal year ending December 31,

The material in this performance graph is not #itig material, is not deemed filed with the SE@das not incorporated by reference in
any filing of the Company under the Securities éicthe Exchange Act, whether made on, before er #fie date of this filing and irrespective
of any general incorporation language in suchdilin

Holders of Common Stock

As of February 27, 2015, there were 124 sharehsloferecord of our common stock. Because sharesiroéommon stock are held by
depositaries, brokers and other nominees, the nuailieneficial holders of our shares is substéigtiarger than the number of record hold
Based on information available to us, we belie\erdlrare approximately 10,889 non-objecting beradfimivners of our shares of our common
stock in addition to the record holders.
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Dividends

There have been no cash dividends declared onooumon stock since our company was formed. Dividemdsdeclared at the sole
discretion of our Board of Directors. Our intentismot to declare cash dividends and retain alhdar our operations.

ltem 6. Selected Firancial Data

Years ended December 3:
Consolidated Statement of Income Dats 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share datz

Operating expense

Research and developm $ 8,42¢ $ 5,68¢ $ 4,527 $ 3,55: $ 1,06¢
General and administrati 7,00¢ 6,41¢ 5,37 6,85 3,81
Other income (expens (35¢) 16 224 (50€) (74€)
Net loss (15,78%) (12,08¢) (9,675 (20,919 (5,629
Preferred stock dividenc (943) (867) (97€) (1,569 (902)
Preferred stock accretic (229 (229) (230) (230 (2,179
Warrant modificatior — (8,769 — — —

Net loss applicable to common stockholc (16,960 (21,94 (10,88) (22,717 (8,709

Basic and diluted earnings per sh $ (0799 ¢ (130 $ (0.7 $ (1.0 $ (0.99
Dividends paid per sha — — — —

As of December 31

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢ 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in millions)

Total asset $ 29,67 $ 10,71 $ 9,561 $ 6,612 $ 6,30(

Total debt — — — — —

Total stockholder equity (deficit) 21,19¢ 1,481 1,165 (2,125 (1,699

See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysisrafncial Condition and Results of Operations #edConsolidated Financial
Statements and accompanying notes and previolety Ainnual Reports on Form 10-K for further infotina regarding our consolidated
results of operations and financial position foripds reported therein and for known factors thiditimpact comparability of future results.

Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation
Overview

We are a clinical stage company engaged in drugareb and development to create new therapiesbfotit disease and cancer. Our
drug candidates are based on our method of tagggéifectin proteins, which are key mediators ofdg and pathologic functions. We use
naturally occurring, readilgvailable plant materials as starting material anofacturing processes to create proprietary coagaebohydrate
with specific molecular weights and other pharmégicaliproperties. These complex carbohydrate mdéscare appropriately formulated into
acceptable pharmaceutical formulations. Using thesgue carbohydratbased candidate compounds that bind and inhikécgial proteins, w
are undertaking the focused pursuit of therapiegftications where galectins have a demonstraikdin the pathogenesis of a given disease
We focus on diseases with serious, life-threatenormgsequences to patients and those where cureaitnient options are limited. Our strategy
is to establish and implement clinical developnmograms that add value to our business in thetesttgoeriod of time possible and to seek
strategic partners when a program becomes advamzecbquires additional resources.

We endeavor to leverage our scientific and prodeeklopment expertise as well as established oekttips with outside sources to
achieve cost-effective and efficient developmehiesge outside sources, amongst others,
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provide us with expertise in preclinical modelsaphaceutical development, toxicology, clinical depenent, pharmaceutical manufacturing,
sophisticated physical and chemical characterimatiad commercial development. We also have estalia collaborative scientific discov
program with leading experts in carbohydrate chegynend characterization. This discovery programiised at the targeted development of
new molecules which bind galectin proteins andradfternative options to larger market segmentsuinprimary disease targets. We are
pursuing a development pathway to clinical enharegrand commercialization for our lead compoundssar fibrosis and fatty liver disease
as well as in immune enhancement for cancer therslpgf our proposed products are presently inedlegment, including pre-clinical and
clinical trials.

2012 Common Stock and Warrant Offering with Reversesplit and 2013 and 2014 At Market Issuance Agreemés

On March 22, 2012, in anticipation of completingublic offering of securities, we effected a ones$ix reverse stock split of our
common stock. All common share and per unit amouttsis report, including the financial statemefitave been adjusted to reflect the
reverse split. Our common stock began trading an NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol GALT onrgla23, 2012, and the units and
warrants that we sold in the offering began tradinghat exchange under the symbols GALTU and GAL T&¥pectively, on March 28, 2012.

On March 28, 2012, we completed the public offeimgvhich we issued 2,666,722 shares of commorkstad related warrants
exercisable until March 28, 2017, at $5.63 perehapurchase 1,333,361 shares of common stoakdss proceeds of $12.0 million (net ¢
proceeds of 10.4 million).

On October 25, 2013, the Company entered into adaket Issuance Sales Agreement (the “2013 At afigreement”) with a sales
agent under which the Company may issue and saileshof its common stock having an aggregate affesrice of up to $30.0 million from
time to time through the sales agent. Sales o€ttmapany’s common stock through the sales ageanyif will be made by any method that is
deemed an “at the market” offering as defined leyWhS. Securities and Exchange Commission. The @oynwill pay to the sales agent a
commission rate equal to 3.0% of the gross prockedsthe sale of any shares of common stock $wluligh the sales agent under the 201
Market Agreement. As of December 31, 2013, the Gomghad issued 99,942 shares of its common stookgh its 2013 At Market
Agreement at an average price of $9.02 per shatdtireg in gross proceeds of approximately $944,00@ Company incurred one time, ini
legal and accounting costs of approximately $82 @@ commissions of $29,000 resulting in net prdsed $833,000 as of December 31,
2013. In January and February 2014, the Compangds2,663,647 shares of common stock for net pascekapproximately $28,178,000
which completed the 2013 At Market Agreement.

On March 30, 2014, the Company entered into an Atlet Issuance Sales Agreement (the “2014 At Makkeeement”) with a sales
agent under which the Company may issue and saléslof its common stock having an aggregate offgsrice of up to $30.0 million from
time to time through the sales agent. Sales o€ttmapany’s common stock through the sales ageanyif will be made by any method that is
deemed an “at the market” offering as defined leyWhS. Securities and Exchange Commission. The @oynwill pay to the sales agent a
commission rate equal to 3.0% of the gross prociedsthe sale of any shares of common stock $ofoligh the sales agent under the 201
Market Agreement. As of December 31, 2014, the Gomghad issued 217,622 shares of its common stockgh its 2014 At Market
Agreement at an average price of $5.49 per shardtirgg in gross proceeds of approximately $1,196,0he Company incurred commissions
of approximately $36,000 resulting in net proceefdapproximately $1,159,000 as of December 31, 201danuary and February 2015, the
Company issued 1,173,458 shares of common stoaletqoroceeds of approximately $4,127,000 unde2@iel At Market Agreement.

Our Drug Development Programs

Galectins are a class of proteins that are madaay cells in the body. As a group, these protaresable to bind to sugar molecules
are part of other proteins in and on the cellswflmody. Galectin proteins act as a
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kind of glue, bringing together molecules that haugars on them. Galectin proteins are known tmakkedly increased in a number of
important diseases including scaring of organs (&, lung, kidney, and heart) and cancers ofiyfldnds. The increase in galectin protein
promotes the disease and is detrimental to themati

We have two compounds in development that are detgiio be used in the treatment of liver fibrosid fatty liver disease and in cancer
therapy. These two compounds are produced from letetp different, natural, readily available, stagt materials, which, following chemical
processing, both exhibit the property of bindingutal inhibiting galectin proteins. GR-MD-02, ouadeproduct for treatment of liver fibrosis
and fatty liver disease with inflammation and figioand in cancer therapy, is a proprietary comptaysaccharide polymer possessing both
linear and globular structures, which is derivemhfra plant source. GM-CT-01 is a proprietary lingalysaccharide polymer comprised of
mannose and galactose that has a precisely defiresdical structure and which is also derived froptaat source.

We believe the mechanism of action for GR-MD-02 &M-CT-01 is based upon interaction with, and iition of, galectin proteins,
which are expressed at high levels in certain patfical states including inflammation, fibrosis atehcer. While GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01
are capable of binding to multiple galectin prosewwe believe that they have the greatest afffioitygalectin-3, the most prominent galectin
implicated in pathological processes. Blocking gtitein cancer and liver fibrosis has specific &aiy effects on the disease process, as
discussed below.

Liver Fibrosis

The main initiative in our development strategthis application of galectin inhibition in connectiwith liver fibrosis, a condition that
leads to cirrhosis. We believe that GR-MD-02 haspbtential to treat nonalcoholic steatohepatitia$H) and other forms of liver fibrosis.
The driving factor for our commitment to galectithibition for fibrosis is scientific evidence thettongly suggests that galectin-3 is essential
for the development of liver fibrosis in animalsidfished data show that mice lacking the galectife8e are incapable of developing liver
fibrosis in response to toxin insult to the livexdan fatty liver disease. Moreover, mice that @b Imave the galectin-3 gene are resistant to lun
and kidney fibrosis.

We have evaluated the ability of GR-MD-02 to blagitectin-3 in animal models of liver fibrosis, tbenclusions of which yielded
positive results. Our pre-clinical data show th&-®@D-02 may have a therapeutic effect on liverdgis as shown in several relevant animal
models. Therefore, we chose GR-MD-02 as the leadidate in a development program targeted initiatljibrotic liver disease associated
with NASH. In January 2013, an Investigational Newmg (“IND”) was submitted to the FDA with the gaafl initiating a Phase 1 study in
patients with NASH and advanced liver fibrosis tomarily evaluate the human safety of GR-MD-02 ahdrmacodynamics biomarkers of
disease are also included in the trial design. @nckl 1, 2013, the FDA indicated we could procedti @iU.S. Phase 1 clinical trial for GR-
MD-02 with a development program aimed at obtairsngport for a proposed indication of GR-MD-02 fiatment of NASH with advanced
fibrosis. In February 2013 we entered into an aged with Clinical Trial Services Inc. (“CTI") toonduct a Phase 1 clinical trial of GR-MD-
02 to assess safety and preliminary evidence wiagff in humans. In June 2013, we submitted a Hastk application to the FDA to help
expedite its clinical development program of GR-NID1n the treatment of NASH with advanced fibroEiBA grants Fast Track designation
to help expedite review and approval of drugs ivetlgoment that treat serious or life threatenirggdses and fill an unmet medical need. On
August 7, 2013, FDA concluded that the developnpeogram for GR-MD-02 meets the criteria for Fasick designation, and FDA has
designated the investigation of GR-MD-02 for nooshiblic steatohepatitis with hepatic fibrosis @aat Track development program. In
January 2014, we completed the enroliment of tts¢ ¢ohort of patients in the Phase 1 trial withsedious adverse events being reported. We
reported initial safety and tolerability resulterr the first cohort of patients on June 30, 201k $econd cohort of this Phase 1 trial began ar
enrollment was completed in April 2014. In July 20Wve reported the results from the second coHqratients. Enroliment of the third cohort
of Phase 1 began in July 2014 with interim resulesented in November 2014 with the final reportohort 3 reported in January 2015. The
results of the Phase 1 study
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demonstrate that (i) GR-MD-02 was safe and wedrated by patients with advanced NASH liver fibsagfter IV administration of four doses
of 2 mg/kg, 4 mg/kg and 8mg/kg lean body weigh},Rharmacokinetics revealed drug exposure in hgnaathe 8 mg/kg dose that was
equivalent to the upper range of the targeted peariéc dose determined from effective doses in NABknal models, (iii) Disease Serum
Marker Effect showed there was a statistically igant, dose-dependent reduction in FibroTest &salue to a statistically significant
reduction in alpha-2 macroglobulin serum levels éw) Liver Stiffness Effect, as measured by Fiican® showed that there was a signal of
reduced liver stiffness in patients receiving GR-P The reduction seen in A2M daest necessarily mean fibrosis got better in this short
study, but does suggest changes in the fibrogeoeps that might lead to an improvement in fitgr@gth longer-term therapy. These Phase
results in NASH patients with advanced fibrosisyidle a firm foundation for entry into a Phase 2e&lepment program.

The Company held an “End of Phase 1 meeting” wiliAfand, amongst other things, received clear guidam the primary endpoint for a
Phase 2 trial. Preliminary Phase 2 clinical triesidn targets a patient population with cirrhosie tb NASH. The study endpoints will include
those that are closely associated with outcomeatients with cirrhosis Primary endpoint: Hepa@gnous pressure gradient (HVPG). Planned
secondary endpoints include: morphometric analysé®llagen on liver biopsies and other secondadpeints will include non-invasive tests
to evaluate for correlation with HVPG and liverleglen. We have awarded the contract for the prirR&igse 2 study to a CRO and expect to
initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial in the first haff2015 to assess the efficacy of GR-MD-02 ingras with NASH and advanced liver fibrosis.
The timing of initial results from the Phase 2ltaee dependent upon the trial design, and, amatfst factors, the rate of patient enroliment.
Our Phase 2 clinical program is likely to includkggional clinical trials to fully characterize ham response to GR-MD-02 and to better
position the Company for a successful Phase 3celiiiial program.

Galectin Inhibition in Cancer Therapy

We believe the potential exists for galectin intidn to play an important role in cancer therapgldstin proteins, particularly galectin-1
and galectin-3, have been shown to be highly egpks the majority of cancers and have multiples@ promoting cancer progression,
including tumor cell invasion, metastasis, angi@gis, and tumor evasion of the immune system.

We believe there is potential for galectin inhititito play a key role in the burgeoning area oteammunotherapy. For example, there
have been two recent approvals of drugs that emhapatient’'s immune system to fight cancer. Witingnadditional vaccines and immune
stimulatory agents in development, industry analjstecast that this market could grow to over #libh by 2015. It is our goal to use a
galectin inhibitor to enhance the immune systentfion to fight cancer and, most important, that ptements other approaches to this type o
therapy. Our drug candidates provide a promising therapeutic approach to enhance the activithefiinmune system against cancer cells.
Preclinical studies have indicated that GR-MD-08 &M-CT-01 enhance the immune response to and sparfically increased tumor
shrinkage and enhanced survival in immune competéd with prostate and breast cancers when cordbiith one of the immune
checkpoint inhibitors, anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1. &e preclinical data have led to the filing of amestigatorsponsored IND and the initiati
of a study of GR-MD-02 in combination with Yerv8yipiimumab) in a Phase 1B study of patients withamséatic melanoma. This study is
being conducted under the sponsorship of ProvidBocgand Medical Center’s Earle A. Chiles Resednshitute (EACRI).

We previously attempted to gain regulatory apprafaM-CT-01 for use in combination with 5-FU (5ulerouracil, an anti-cancer
chemotherapy drug) containing chemotherapy regigfemtmetastatic colorectal cancer in ColombiasTpproach had been recommended tc
the Company by key oncology opinion leaders in @di@ and by PROCAPS S.A. (“PROCAPS"), a Colomiéaed pharmaceutical compa
There has been no approval of GM-CT-01 in a magian such as the U.S. or Europe and it was detedrthat approval from the regulatory
authority in Columbia (INVIMA) would require addithal clinical trial data. Although the Company wedkwith PROCAPS to design a Phase
3 clinical trial, a satisfactory plan could notdgreed upon and we terminated the Agreement with@&RPS (as described below), effective
September 29, 2012, and have
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no current plans to continue attempts to gain aggrof GM-CT-01 in Columbia. We had not taken iatttount projections for any potential
revenues from this agreement in our financing plans

Agreement with PROCAPS S.A.

On March 25, 2010, we granted PROCAPS S.A. (irfdh@ of a definitive term sheet) exclusive righasmarket and sell GM-CT-01 to
treat cancer in Colombia, South America. PROCAPSigternational, privately held pharmaceuticahpany based in Barranquilla,
Colombia. In October 2010, we received a payme®260,000 and shipped GM-CT-01 to PROCAPS to bd bgd?ROCAPS to undertake
initial steps contemplated by the term sheet. ended the $200,000 payment from PROCAPS as ddfegkenue on the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2011, to be reesgwhen the remaining deliverables of the agregmere completed.

On October 18, 2011, we entered into a Collabanatupply, Marketing and Distribution Agreemeng(thgreement”with PROCAPS
The Agreement granted PROCAPS first negotiatiohtsigo enter into similar agreements in other Gérsind South American countries. We
were to be the sole manufacturer and supplier ofGIMD1 to PROCAPS. The Agreement obligated PROCAP3doupe regulatory approvi
necessary for the marketing and sale of GM-CT-(tiing us as the owner of such approvals to the epmmitted by law, or alternatively
hold the approvals for our benefit. PROCAPS waslired to pay us a stated fee for each dose it pgehand royalties at an incremental rate
determined by annual net sales of GM-CT-01. Weanethall intellectual property rights to GM-CT-Oidarelated products and PROCAPS
may not produce, modify, reverse engineer, or @tlserinterfere with the GM-CT-01 compound. PROCARSy not manufacture or sell
products that compete with GM-CT-01 during the tefrthe Agreement and for five years thereafter.

PROCAPS had not obtained approval to sell GM@Tin Columbia as required by the Agreement antheg were in material breach
the Agreement, we terminated the Agreement, effe@eptember 29, 2012. With no further obligationder the Agreement, we recognized
the $200,000 payment as Other Income in the Stateai®perations during the year ended Decembe2@12.

Results of Operations from the Years Ended Decemb&1, 2014 and 2013
Research and Development Expense

Year ended
December 31 2014 as Compared to 201
2014 2013 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %
Research and developme $8,42¢ $5,68¢ $ 2,73 48%

We generally categorize research and developmemanses as either direct external expenses, cordmrisamounts paid to third party
vendors for services, or all other research angldgment expenses, comprised of employee payrdlgeneral overhead allocable to researcl
and development. We consider a clinical progratmaee begun upon acceptance by the FDA, or simgjanay outside of the United States, to
commence a clinical trial in humans, at which tiwebegin tracking expenditures by the product adattei Clinical program expenses
comprise payments to vendors related to preparédipand conduct of, all phases of the clinicallfrincluding costs for drug manufacture,
patient dosing and monitoring, data collection armhagement, oversight of the trials and reportesilts. Pre-clinical expenses comprise all
research and development amounts incurred befonaihtrials begin, including payments to vendorssivices related to product
experiments and discovery, toxicology, pharmacologgtabolism and efficacy studies, as well as mastufing process development for a
drug candidate.

We have two product candidates, GR-MD-02 and GM8dThowever only GR-MD?2 is in active development. We filed for an IND
GR-MD-02 in January 2013 and in February 2013 wered into an
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agreement with CTI to conduct a Phase 1 clini¢al af GR-MD-02. In March 2013, the FDA indicate@&would proceed with a Phase 1
human clinical trial of GR-MD-02, and we began dlimg patients in the third quarter of 2013. In dary 2014, we completed the enroliment
of the first cohort of patients in the Phase 1l tridh no serious adverse events being reportedréfgerted initial safety and tolerability results
from the first cohort of patients on June 30, 200l4e second cohort of this Phase 1 trial begareanaliment was completed in April 2014. In
July 2014, we reported the results from the seommbrt of patients. Enrollment of the third cohoffPhase 1 began in July 2014 with interim
results presented in November 2014 with the fiapbrt on cohort 3 presented in January 2015. Thdtseof the Phase 1 study demonstrate
that (i) GR-MD-02 was safe and well tolerated btigreis with advanced NASH liver fibrosis after I'drainistration of four doses of 2 mg/kg,
4 mg/kg and 8mg/kg lean body weight, (ii) Pharmawetics revealed drug exposure in humans at thg/&8grdose that was equivalent to the
upper range of the targeted therapeutic dose dietednfrom effective doses in NASH animal modelis) Disease Serum Marker Effect
showed there was a statistically significant, ddependent reduction in FibroTést scores due tatstally significant reduction in alpha-2
macroglobulin serum levels, and (iv) Liver Stiffsdsffect, as measured by FibroS€an showed that thas a signal of reduced liver stiffness
in patients receiving GR-MD-02. The reduction seeA2M doesnot necessarily mean fibrosis got better in this shrtly, but does suggest
changes in the fibrogenic process that might leaahtimprovement in fibrosis with longer-term thgraThese Phase 1 results in NASH
patients with advanced fibrosis provide a firm fdation for entry into a Phase 2 development program

The company held an “End of Phase 1 meeting” willi\and, amongst other things, received clear guidam the primary endpoint for
a Phase 2 trial. Preliminary Phase 2 clinical tlidign targets a patient population with cirrhdsis to NASH. The study endpoints will
include those that are closely associated withaué&s in patients with cirrhosis Primary endpoingpHtic venous pressure gradient (HVPG).
Planned secondary endpoints include: morphomatityais of collagen on liver biopsies and otheioséary endpoints will include non-
invasive tests to evaluate for correlation with HVBnd liver collagen. We have awarded the confoadhe primary Phase 2 study to a CRO
and expect to initiate a Phase 2 clinical triathie first half of 2015 to assess the efficacy ofFER-02 in patients with NASH and advanced
liver fibrosis. The timing of initial results fromte Phase 2 trial are dependent upon the triahdeand, amongst other factors, the rate of
patient enrollment. Our Phase 2 clinical prograiikiedy to include additional clinical trials to iy characterize human response to GR-MD-0z
and to better position the Company for a succe$dfake 3 clinical trial program.

Our research and development expenses were aw$ollo

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands)

Direct external expense

Clinical programs and p-clinical activities $6,071 $3,93¢
Other research and development exper

Payroll and othe 1,05: 761

Stock based compensati 1,301 991

$8,42¢ $5,68¢

Clinical programs and pre-clinical expenses costaases for the year ended December 31, 2014, cethfitathe same period in 2013,
were due to increases in costs related to our Phabeical trial of $367,000, pre-clinical actiigs in support of planned Phase 2 program of
$798,000 and drug manufacturing costs of $970,@0®have completed our Phase 1 trial for GR-MD-02 ame preparing for our Phase 2
program, and expect our clinical and pre-clinigalgyam costs will increase substantially.

Both the time required and costs we may incur @eoto commercialize a drug candidate that wouldlten material net cash inflow are
subject to numerous variables, and therefore weigable at this stage of our
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development to forecast useful estimates. Variahlasmake estimates difficult include the numbfeclimical trials we may undertake, the
number of patients needed to participate in thaaal trial, patient recruitment uncertaintiesakriesults as to the safety and efficacy of our
product, and uncertainties as to the regulatormegessponse to our trial data prior to receiptnafketing approval. Moreover, the FDA or
other regulatory agencies may suspend clinicdktiiave or an agency believes patients in the &iia subject to unacceptable risks, or find
deficiencies in the conduct of the clinical triBelays or rejections may also occur if governmerggllation or policy changes during our
clinical trials or in the course of review of odinical data. Due to these uncertainties, accumattmeaningful estimates of the ultimate cost tc
bring a product to market, the timing of costs aathpletion of our program and the period duringahihinaterial net cash inflows will
commence are unavailable at this time. Howeverexygect to continue to have substantial researctdanelopment expenses for the
foreseeable future as we continue to develop cadymts.

General and Administrative Expense

Year ended
December 31 2014 as Compared to 201
2014 2013 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %
General and administratiy $7,00¢ $6,41¢ $ 58¢ 9%

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries including stock based compensategal and accounting fees,
insurance, investor relations, business developerethbther office related expenses. The primargaesfor the increase for the year ended
December 31, 2014 as compared to the same pern@d13 are due to, increased legal expenses of @d0Telated to our arbitration with
Dr. Platt which was settled in 2014 and includes$h50,000 retention of legal fees we paid in cotioe with the shareholder suits filed in
2014 and increased insurance expense of $115,000.

Other Income and Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2014, othemniecand expense consisted primarily of the $400l@890on equity method
investment in Galectin Sciences LLC.

Results of Operations from the Years Ended Decemb&1, 2013 and 2012
Research and Development Expense

Year ended
December 31 2013 as Compared to 201
2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %
Research and developme $5,68¢ $4,527 $ 1,161 26%
Our research and development expenses were ag$ollo
Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012
(in thousands)
Direct external expense
Clinical programs and p-clinical activities $3,93¢ $2,99¢
Other research and development exper
Payroll and othe 761 60€
Stock based compensati 991 922

$5,68¢ $4,521
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Clinical programs and pre-clinical expenses forytear ended December 31, 2013, increased compathd same period in 2012, due
primarily to costs of $1,892,000 related our Phlsénical trial which began in 2013 offset by de@ses in expenses for pre-clinical and drug
manufacturing totaling $956,000. We expect as weicoe our Phase 1 trial for GR-MD-02 in 2014 anejare for our Phase 2 program, our
clinical and pre-clinical program costs will incseasubstantially.

General and Administrative Expense

Year ended
December 31, 2013 as Compared to 201
2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %
General and administrati $6,41¢ $5,37: $ 1,04¢ 19%

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries including stock based compensatigml and accounting fees,
insurance, investor relations, business developerethbther office related expenses. The primaryaesfor the increase for the year ended
December 31, 2013 as compared to the same pern@di® are due to increased stock-based compensHt#928,000, increased legal
expenses of $49,000 related to our ongoing litigetiith Dr. Platt, increased insurance expens&af0 and increased investor relations
expense of $66,000, offset by decreased rent egpEr#&l77,000. The primary reason for the incréastock-based compensation for the yea
ended December 31, 2013 was due to a modificati@eptember 2013 of certain vested options hela faymer board member to extend the
contractual exercise period through the originglietion dates as opposed to 90 days after seovithe board ended.

Other Income and Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2012, othemniecand expense consisted primarily of the $200p28@nent from PROCAPS whi
was previously accounted for as deferred incomeraoaignized upon the termination of the PROCAPS=Agrent, as previously described.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As described above in the Overview and elsewhetigisnAnnual Report on Form 10-K, we are in theelepment stage and have not
generated any revenues to date. Since our inceptiduly 10, 2000, we have financed our operatimm proceeds of public and private
offerings of debt and equity. As of December 311£20ve raised a net total of $108.9 million froresh offerings. At December 31, 2014, the
Company had $29.1 of unrestricted cash and casheadents available to fund future operations. Audilly, in January and February 2015,
the Company received $4,127,000 in net proceeds fhe issuance of common stock at then-current etgmiices through its at the market
(“ATM") financing arrangement. The Company currgrtiklieves there is sufficient cash to fund culseplanned operations through
September 30, 2016. We will require more cash mal four operations after September 30, 2016 andvwelve will be able to obtain additional
financing. However, there can be no assuranceaatill be successful in obtaining such new finagodr, if available, that such financing
will be on terms favorable to us. If we are unsgsée in raising additional capital to fund opeoat after September 30, 2016, we may be
required to cease operations or seek bankruptdggiron.

2014 compared to 2013

Net cash used in operations increased by $4,942¢0902,426,000 for 2014, as compared to $7,484f®@0R013. Cash operating
expenses increased principally due to increasesdirels and development activities primarily relatedur fibrosis development and Phase 1
clinical trial for GR-MD-02 begun in 2013.

There were no equipment purchases or other inggattivities in 2014.
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Net cash provided by financing activities was $85,800 during 2014 as compared to $8,609,000 d@®i@, due primarily to the
transactions described below.

In 2014, we received $2,128,000 from the exercistark options and warrants. Additionally, in 20 received $29,337,000 from
sales of our common stock through At the Marketasges. In 2013, we received $4,776,000 from tleecese of stock options and warrants.
Additionally, in 2013, we received $3,000,000 frarprivate placement of unregistered common stodkeceived $833,000 in net proceeds
from our at the market stock issuance program.

2013 compared to 2012

Net cash used in operations decreased by $16,000484,000 for 2013, as compared to $7,500,00QG&2. Cash operating expenses
increased principally due to increased researctdandlopment activities primarily related to onrisis development and Phase 1 clinical
for GR-MD-02 begun in 2013, offset by an increasadcounts payable and accrued expenses at Dec8in#913 over December 31, 2012.

There were no equipment purchases or other inyggattivities in 2013. Cash provided by investingwttes during 2012 consisted of a
decrease in restricted cash by $64,000 as our @3%&cured letter of credit for office space an@d,$020 of secured credit cards were released
offset by equipment purchases of $5,000.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $89,600 during 2013 as compared to $10,403,000 d@®i@, due primarily to the
transaction described below.

In 2013, we received $4,776,000 from the exercistark options and warrants. Additionally, in 20%& received $3,000,000 from a
private placement of unregistered common stockraaeived $833,000 in net proceeds from our at theket stock issuance program. On
March 28, 2012, we issued 2,666,722 shares of camstozk and related $5.63 warrants to purchase81383 shares of common stock,
resulting in gross proceeds of $12,000,000 (netgeds of $10,403,000).

Operating leases.

In September 2012, the Company entered into aratipgriease for office space in Norcross, GA foeran of twenty-six months,
beginning on October 1, 2012 and ending NovembePBD4 at a rate of approximately $3,000 per mdntdune 2014, the Company signed
an amendment to the lease extending the term thridlogember 30, 2017 with a base monthly rentappfraximately $3,300 through the
extended term. The original lease provided for fezd for the first two months of the lease andunexgl a security deposit of $6,000. In addi
to base rental payments included in the contractbliations table above, the Company is respoaddsl our pro-rata share of the operating
expenses for the building.

In October 2012, the Company entered into an oipgrégase for office space collocated with lab gpiame research and development
activities. The lease is for a period of one ybaginning on October 1, 2012, for a rate of $15fa@@he term, payable in equal monthly
increments. This lease was continued on a monttotath basis from October 1, 2013.

Other. We have engaged outside vendors for certairicesrassociated with our clinical trials. Thesevises are generally available
from several providers and, accordingly, our areangnts are typically cancellable on 30 days notice.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not a party to, apgiagpurpose or off-balance sheet entities forpihgose of raising capital, incurring
debt or operating parts of our business that areawsolidated into our financial
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statements. We do not have any arrangements ¢ioredhips with entities that are not consolidat@d iour financial statements that are
reasonably likely to materially affect our liquigior the availability of capital resources.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes contractual obligas and commitments as of December 31, 2014:

Payments due by period (in thousands

Less thar More than
1-3 3-5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating Leases $11¢ $ 38 $81
Total $11¢ $ 38 $81

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fudlscribed in Note 2 to our consolidated finandialesnents included elsewhere in this
annual report on Form 10-K. Certain of our accoumpolicies, however, are critical to the portragbbur financial position and results of
operations and require the application of signiftgadgment by our management, which subjects ttueam inherent degree of uncertainty. In
applying our accounting policies, our managemeasuis best judgment to determine the approprisgaraptions to be used in the
determination of certain estimates. Our more sigaift estimates include stock option and warraattility valuations and performance vesting
features of certain of these instruments, usefekliand potential impairment of property and eqe@pnand intangible assets, accrued liabili
deferred income taxes and cash flow. These estinaaitebased on our historical experience, ternexisfing contracts, our observance of
trends in the industry, information available frother outside sources, and on various other fathatswve believe to be appropriate under the
circumstances. We believe that the critical acdognpolicies discussed below involve more complenagement judgment due to the
sensitivity of the methods, assumptions and eséisagécessary in determining the related asseiljtiabevenue and expense amounts.

Accrued Expenses As part of the process of preparing our cddatéd financial statements, we are required tones¢ accrued
expenses. This process involves identifying sesvtbat third parties have performed on our behadf@stimating the level of service perforr
and the associated cost incurred on these serasceteach balance sheet date in our consolidataddial statements. Examples of estimated
accrued expenses include contract service feesnjuiection with pre-clinical and clinical trialsygfessional service fees, such as those arisin
from the services of attorneys and accountantsaandied payroll expenses. In connection with tiseseice fees, our estimates are most
affected by our understanding of the status anthgrof services provided relative to the actuaV®ess incurred by the service providers. In
event that we do not identify certain costs thatehlaeen incurred or we under- or over-estimatdethel of services or costs of such services,
our reported expenses for a reporting period cbaldnderstated or overstated. The date on whi¢hiceservices commence, the level of
services performed on or before a given date, @ddst of services are often subject to our judgnW&We make these judgments based upon
the facts and circumstances known to us in accoraiith accounting principles generally acceptethU.S.

Research and Development Expenseg&osts associated with research and developanerxpensed as incurred. Research and
development expenses include, among other cosdsiesaand other personnedlated costs, and costs incurred by outside latioea and othe
accredited facilities in connection with clinicalals and preclinical studies.

Stock-Based Compensation Stock-based compensation cost is measurée arant date based on the fair value of the aaadds
recognized as expense over the service periodjvganerally represents the vesting
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period. For awards that have performance basedgesinditions the Company recognizes the expewsetbe estimated period that the
awards are expected to be earned. The Companyaligneses the Black-Scholes option-pricing modetafculate the grant date fair value of
stock options. For options that only vest uponatleievement of market conditions, the Company &athe options using a Monte Carlo mc
to calculate the grant date fair value of the simghons. The expense related to options thath@std on market conditions is not reversed
should those options not ultimately vest. The espaecognized over the service period is requéddlude an estimate of the awards that
be forfeited. Stock options issued to non-employgesaccounted for in accordance with the provsi@nASC Subtopic 505-50, Equity-Based
Payments to Non-employees, which requires valdiegstock options using an option pricing model @oampany uses Black-Scholes) and
measuring such stock options to their currentfaiue when they vest.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made herein that look forwatirie or express managemengxpectations or beliefs with respect to the aetwe o
future events are forward-looking statements amédfunder Section 21E of the Securities ExchanggeoA1934, as amended, and are subjec
to the safe harbor created therein for forward-loglstatements. Such statements include, but @rénmited to, statements concerning our
anticipated operating results, research and dewmedop clinical trials, regulatory proceedings, dindncial resources, and can be identified by
use of words such as, for example, “anticipatestiteate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “blieve” and “would,” “should,” “could” or
“may.” All statements, other than statements of histofets, included herein that address activitieenés;, or developments that the Comg
expects or anticipates will or may occur in theufet are forward-looking statements, includingestegnts regarding: plans and expectations
regarding clinical trials; plans and expectatioegarding regulatory approvals; our strategy aneetgtions for clinical development and
commercialization of our products; potential stgidepartnerships; expectations regarding the dffesess of our products; plans for research
and development and related costs; statements abootinting assumptions and estimates; expectatgasding liquidity and the sufficiency
of cash to fund operations through 2015; our comm@iitts and contingencies; and our market risk exposwrward-looking statements are
based on current expectations, estimates and gmjs@bout the industry and markets in which Galetherapeutics operates, and
management’s beliefs and assumptions. These statemre not guarantees of future performance araha certain known and unknown
risks and uncertainties that could cause actualtee® differ materially from those expressedmplied by such statements. Such risks and
uncertainties are related to and include, withouithtion,

» our early stage of developme
* we have incurred significant operating losses smaenception and cannot assure you that we \eitlagate revenue or prof
» our dependence on outside capi

* we may be unable to enter into strategic partnpsstar the development, commercialization, manuifiéic) and distribution of our
proposed product candidat

* uncertainties related to our technology and clinigals,
* uncertainties related to any litigation, includstgareholder class actions and derivative lawsiltd,1

* we may be unable to demonstrate the efficacy afedysaf our developmental product candidates in &arnials, intellectual
property protection, and we may be unable to impngpon, protect and/or enforce our intellectuapprty,

* we are subject to extensive and costly regulatiothb U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) arydfbreign regulatory
authorities, which must approve our product canéslan development and could restrict the saleswautteting and pricing of su
products

» competition and stock price volatility in the biokeology industry
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» limited trading volume for our stock, concentratifmownership of our stock, and other risks dethiierein and from time to time
in our SEC reports

We caution investors that actual results or busimesditions may differ materially from those paigd or suggested in forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors inclydingynot limited to, those described above antthénRisk Factors section of this annual report
on Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that we havtifted all the factors that create uncertaintsreover, new risks emerge from time to
time and it is not possible for our managementréaligt all risks, nor can we assess the impacll oisis on our business or the extent to wt
any risk, or combination of risks, may cause actesllts to differ from those contained in any fardrlooking statements. Readers should no
place undue reliance on forward-looking statemafis.undertake no obligation to publicly releasertimilt of any revision of these forward-
looking statements to reflect events or circumsgarafter the date they are made or to reflect tbaroence of unanticipated events.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Abou t Mat Risk

Due to the nature of our operations, assets arnehabsf debt, we are not exposed to any significarket risks at December 31, 2014
and 2013.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The financial statements required by this itemaitached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K begigron Page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcdanting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedure:
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the SecuritiehBrge Act of 1934, (the “Exchange Act”) as of thel ef the period covered by this
Annual Report, we carried out an evaluation, uriidersupervision and with the participation of ounié® Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our dlisure controls and procedures as of December@BH4.2Dur management has concluded,
based on their evaluation, that our disclosurerotsyeind procedures were effective as of Decembge?2@®14 to ensure that information requ
to be disclosed by us in the reports we file omsilnnder the Exchange Act is recorded, processgdmarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchangar@ission’s rules and forms.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Con@eker Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for dstdbfy and maintaining adequate internal contr@rdinancial reporting. As defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, inteamaitrol over financial reporting is a process destyby, or under the supervision of, a
company’s principal executive and principal finadafficers and effected by a company’s board céatbrs, management and other personne
to provide reasonable assurance regarding théiléleof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purpose
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes It includes those policies and proceduras th

a) Pertain to the maintenance of records thatdaaeable detail accurately and fairly reflect tams$actions and dispositions of the asset
of a company;
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b) Provide reasonable assurance that transactierre@rded as necessary to permit preparatiomaidial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #nad receipts and expenditures of a company arggbreade only in accordance with
authorizations of management and the board of ireof the company; and

c) Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of a company’s
assets that could have a material effect on ienfiral statements.

Because of the inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management has used the criteriblisstad in “Internal Control-Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisgi®82 framework), or COSO, to evaluate the effectess of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Management hdsaed the COSO 1992 framework for its evaluatisiit & a control framework recognized
by the SEC and the Public Company Accounting OgatdBoard, that is free from bias, permits reastnabnsistent qualitative and
guantitative measurement of the Company’s intecoatrols, is sufficiently complete so that relevaontrols are not omitted, and is relevant tc
an evaluation of internal controls over financigporting.

Management conducted an evaluation of internalrotnbased on the COSO 1992 framework. The evaluaticluded a full scale,
documented risk assessment, based on the prindipsesibed in the framework, and included iderdifien of key controls. Management
completed documentation of its testing to verifg dffectiveness of the key controls. Based on viaduation, management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of December 31, 2014.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal contk@r financial reporting has been audited by Md&g LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrthttestation report appearing below, which exgessan unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting as of December 31, 2014.

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Retirng

There was no change in our internal control oveairfcial reporting that occurred during the fourtiarger of 2014 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesdf, our internal control over financial reporting.

ltem 9B. Other Information
None.
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Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere

The information required by this Item will be comigd in our definitive Proxy Statement to be fileith the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, in connection with our Annuading of Stockholders which is scheduled to bd belMay 21, 2015 (the “2015 Proxy
Statement”) under the captions “Election of Direstb“Board of Directors Meetings and Committeeshsf Board,” “Executive Officers” and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coiaipte” and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applied tmaldirectors, officers and employees. The Cddegthics is publicly available on our
website at www.galectintherapeutics.com. Amendmentie Code of Ethics and any grant of a waivemfia provision of the Code of Ethics
requiring disclosure under applicable SEC rules$ béldisclosed on our website.

ltem 11.  Executive Ccmpensation

The information required by this Item will be inporated by reference from the information underdéugtion “Compensation of Named
Executive Officers” contained in our 2015 Proxyt8taent.

ltem 12.  SecurityOwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managenmiend Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercdyation “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” containezur 2015 Proxy Statement.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and &itor Independence

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercidyation “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” contained in our 2015 Praaye®nent.

Item 14.  Princi pal Accountant Fees and Servic

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercdyations “Audit Fees”, “Audit-
Related Fees,” “Tax Fees,” “All Other Fees” ande®Approval Policies and Procedures” contained in2015 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ltem 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statement Sched
The Consolidated Financial Statements are filggaasof this report.
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

All schedules are omitted because of the absehcenditions under which they are required oraduse the required information
is included in the Consolidated Financial Statementnotes theret

3. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation afe@tin Therapeutics Inc. (Incorporated by refeestacthe Company’s
Current Report on Formr-K filed with the Commission on May 30, 201
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Galectin Therapeutiz. (Incorporated by reference to the Compa@yisent Report
on Form K filed with the Commission on May 30, 201,
3.3 Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigitg himitations of Series A 12% Convertible Prefdr&tock of Pro

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the Secretdigtate of the State of Nevada on October 5, 2Q0orporated by
reference to the Compé’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on October 9, 20C

3.4 Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righd himitations of Series B-1 Convertible Prefer&dck and Series B-2
Convertible Preferred Stock of Pro Pharmaceutidats, as filed with the Secretary of State of 8tate of Nevada on

February 11, 2009. (Incorporated by reference @cbmpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed whle Commission
on February 18, 2009

35 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Qpmtion of Preferences, Rights and Limitations @fié&s B-1 Convertible
Preferred Stock and Series B-2 Convertible Prefiedteck of Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed i secretary of
State of the State of Nevada on August 12, 200@o(¢porated by reference to the Company’s Quarkelyort on Form
1C-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 as filed thighCommission on August 14, 200

3.6 Certificate of Amendment No. 2 to the CertificafeD@signation of Preferences, Rights and Limitatioh Series B-1
Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B-2 CondertPreferred Stock, as filed with the State of &ty on
February 17, 2010. (Incorporated by reference@cdbmpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filechwtiite
Commission on February 17, 201

3.7 Certificate of Amendment with respect to the Amahdad Restated Certificate of Designation of Peafees, Rights and
Limitation of Series B-1 Convertible Preferred &t@nd Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock ofPnarmaceutical:
Inc., as filed with the Secretary of State of that&of Nevada on January 26, 2011. (Incorporayeterence to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2p

3.8 Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righd himitation of Series C Super Dividend ConvesiBlreferred Stock of
Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the Secyedf State of Nevada on December 30, 2010. (pweted by
reference to the Compé’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 6, 20

3.9 Certificate of Change as filed with the Nevada 8ty of State on March 1, 2012. (Incorporateddfgrence to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on March 23, 20!
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Exhibit

Number

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1%

10.2t

10.3f

10.4%

10.5t

10.61

10.7

10.8

10.9

Description of Document
Form of Class A-1 Common Stock Purchase Warracb(porated by reference to the Company’s CurreppRen Form 8-
K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Form of Class A-2 Common Stock Purchase Warracb(porated by reference to the Company’s CurreppRen Form 8-
K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase Warrant (purated by reference to the Company’s Current RepoForm 8K
filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Amended Form of Class A-1 Common Stock Purchaseaiiafincorporated by reference to the Company’'sé Report
on Form i-K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2p

Amended Form of Class A-2 Common Stock Purchasaafia¢incorporated by reference to the Company’s e Report
on Form -K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2p

Amended Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase Walrecorporated by reference to the Company’s €nirReport on
Form &K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2D

Form of Warrant Agreement between Galectin Therggeinc. and Continental Stock Transfer and T@mtnpany, as
warrant agent (including form of warrant certifieafincorporated by reference to the Company’s @€urReport on Form
8-K as filed with the Commission on March 23, 201

Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive.Rlanorporated by reference to the Company’s uigrReport on Form
1C-QSB for the quarter ended September 30, 2001 fiiddthe Commission on November 14, 20(

Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2003 Non-employee Diregtock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by referetacthe Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-8, as filed with the Commission on October 22, 2D

Employment Agreement, effective January 2, 2008vben Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and David Plattafiporated by
reference to the Company’s Annual Report on ForraKT0r the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003iled with the
Commission on March 30, 200«

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (under2B81 Stock Incentive Plan). (Incorporated by reffiee to the
Company'’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for thequeended September 30, 2004 as filed with the Ciasion on
November 19, 2004

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (unttexr 2001 Stock Incentive Plan). (Incorporateddfgnence to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for thequeended September 30, 2004 as filed with the Csion on
November 19, 2004

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (untter 2003 Non-Employee Director Stock IncentiveniPla
(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quigrigeport on Form 10-Q for the period ended Septm3b, 2004 as
filed with the Commission on November 19, 20(

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant. (Incorpdrhjereference to the Company’s Current ReportamiBK as filed
with the Commission on February 15, 20(

Promissory Note dated February 12, 2009 issueddyRarmaceuticals, Inc. in favor of 10X Fund, L(IRcorporated by
reference to the Compgz’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on Februzl8, 2009.!

Security Agreement dated February 12, 2009 betweerPharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Fund, L.P. (jpocated by
reference to the Compgz’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(
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Exhibit

Number

10.10

10.11

10.12%

10.13%

10.14t

10.15t

10.16%

10.17

10.18t

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22t

10.23t

10.24%

Description of Document
Escrow Agreement dated February 12, 2009 amongPRaomaceuticals, Inc., 10X Fund, L.P. and Investrhaw Group of
Gillett, Mottern & Walker, LLP, as Escrow Agentn@orporated by reference to the Company’s CurremoR on Form 8-
K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Registration Rights Agreement dated February 1292&tween Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Auld,(Incorporated
by reference to the Compé' s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Separation Agreement dated February 12, 2009 bat®ReePharmaceuticals, Inc. and David Platt, Pfirizorporated by
reference to the Compé’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2009 Incentive Compemsdtlan. (Incorporated by reference to the Comma@yirrent Report on
Form &K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (unde2@9 Incentive Compensation Plan). (Incorporateceference to the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20(

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreem@mder the 2009 Incentive Compensation Plan). (pmated by
reference to the Compé’s Annual Report on Form -K as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20(

Form of Incentive Stock Option Grant Agreement @mithe 2009 Incentive Compensation Plan). (Incaisat by reference
the Compan’'s Annual Report on Form -K as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20(

Agreement with the 10X Fund L.P., dated February2010. (Incorporated by reference to the Compa@yisent Report on
Form ¢-K as filed with the Commission on February 17, 29

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated August 3, B31lied to Peter Traber. (Incorporated by referémtiee Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on August 13, 20.

Letter Agreement Between 10X Fund, L.P. and Pra4Rheeuticals, Inc. (Incorporated by reference éoGompany’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on August 13, 20

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement for Seri€siier Dividend Convertible Preferred Stock (Incoaped by reference
the Compan’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 6, 20

Agreement dated January 21, 2011, between Pro-Rleatticals, Inc. and 10X Fund L.P. (Incorporateddigrence to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2p

Nonr-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated March 71 2Qncorporated by reference to the Company’s €urReport on
Form &K as filed with the Commission on March 9, 201

Amended Employment Agreement dated March 8, 201didmn Anthony D. Squeglia, and Pro-Pharmaceutitats,
(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s CurRaport on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission\sarch 14,
2011))

Amended Employment Agreement dated March 8, 201iden Maureen Foley, and Pro-Pharmaceuticals(limcorporated
by reference to the Compé' s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on March 14, 201
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Exhibit

Number

10.25t

10.26t

10.27%

10.28

10.29t

10.30t

10.31t

10.32t

10.33t

10.34t

10.35%

10.36%

10.37t

10.38

10.39

Description of Document
Amended Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2@hdiden Anatole Klyosov, and Pro-Pharmaceuticats, In
(Incorporated by reference to the Comg’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwdendmer and Prd?harmaceuticals, Inc. (Incorporated by referenc
the Compan’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

Separation Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwem®Rarmaceuticals, Inc. and Theodore D. Zuccowigfiporated by
reference to the Compé’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

Agreement dated April 22, 2011, between Pro-Phaentézals, Inc. and Sigma-Aldrich, Inc. (Incorporhtey reference to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on April 28, 201

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betweter Hraber, and Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (Inoafed by
reference to the Compa’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on June 2, 20:

Employment Agreement dated June 28, 2011 betwaeasl€. Czirr, and Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (Ipocated by
reference to the Compa’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on July 5, 201

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Peter G. TB®aiM.D. (Incorporated by reference to the Compai@urrent Repo
on Form K as filed with the Commission on August 15, 20:

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for James C. Circorporated by reference to the Company’s GurReport on
Form &K as filed with the Commission on August 15, 2011

Consulting Agreement, dated March 2, 2012 betwegled®in Therapeutics Inc. and Thomas A. McGaulagdtporated by
reference to the Compa’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on May 11, 20!

Independent Consulting Agreement dated April 3Q,2®etween Scott L. Friedman, M.D. and Galectierapeutics Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s QuigriReport on Form 10-Q as filed with the CommissiomNovember 9,
2012))

Amended Employment Agreement dated July 19, 2012den Maureen Foley and Galectin Therapeutics(Incorporated
by reference to the Compé' s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2D

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datedrileer 11, 2014 between Harold H. Shlevin and Galect
Therapeutics Inc. (Incorporated by reference taGbmpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with Commission
on December 12, 201<

Independent Consulting Agreement dated Septemhe&Ql2 between Thomas A. McGauley and Galectin dfeutics Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quigrieeport on Form 10-Q as filed with the CommissiomNovember 9,
2012))

Amended and Restated Master Services Agreemerd Bateruary 1, 2013 between Galectin Therapeuticsaind CTI
Clinical Trial Services, Inc. and CTI Clinical Caring Services Inc. (Incorporated by referencéhtoCompany’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on May 10, 201

Amended Form of Class A-2 Common Stock Purchaseaffa(incorporated by reference to the Company’ar@uly Report
on Form 1-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 20.

48



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

Exhibit
Number

10.40
10.41t

10.42t

10.43t

10.44

10.45

21.1*

23.1*

31.1*

31.2*
32.1%#
32.2*#
101.INS***
101.SCH***
101.CAL***
101.DEF***
101.LAB***
101.PRE***

* Filed herewith

Description of Document
Amended Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase \Wa{lrecorporated by reference to the Company’s Culgr
Report on Form 1-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 20

Employment Agreement dated June 20, 2013 betwadnWaCallicutt and Galectin Therapeutics Inc. @rporated by
reference to the Compa’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 20.

Amendment to Independent Consulting Agreement datee 19, 2013 between Thomas A. McGauley and @Galec
Therapeutics Inc. (Incorporated by reference tadQbmpany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filathhe
Commission on August 14, 201.

Stock Option Agreement with Thomas A. McGauley dalene 19, 2013 (Incorporated by reference to tragany’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 20.

At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated Octdbe2@13, by and between Galectin Therapeuticsand.MLV & Co.
LLC (Incorporated by reference to the Company’sr€uir Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commissim
October 25, 2013

Amendment No. 1 to At Market Issuance Sales Agregnaated March 21, 2014, by and between Galedtardpeutics
Inc. and MLV & Co. LLC (Incorporated by referencethe Company’s Registration Statement on FormeS+{ed
with the Commission on March 21, 201

Subsidiaries of Galectin Therapeutics |

Consent of McGladrey LLP, an independent registerdalic accounting firm

Certification Pursuant to Rule 1-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

Certification Pursuant to Rule 1-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documg

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Documel

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

#  Furnished herewith and n“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exglkafct of 1934, as amende
***  Submitted electronically herewit
Executive Compensation Arrangement pursuant tolQlQ)(iii)(A) of Regulation -K
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SIG NATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized, on March 18, 2015.

GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.

By: /s PeTERG. T RABER
Name: Peter G. Traber, M.
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dattisdted.

Signature Title. Date
/s] PETERG. T RABER Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 18, 2015
Peter G. Traber, M.L (principal executive officer)
/sl Jack W. C ALLICUTT Chief Financial Officer March 18, 2015
Jack W. Callicut (principal financial and accounting officer)
/s/  JameEsC. CZIRR Executive Chairman and Director March 18, 2015
James C. Czir
/sl RobD. M ARTIN Vice-Chairman and Director March 18, 2015
Rod D. Martin
/s/  GILBERT F. A MELIO Director March 18, 2015
Gilbert F. Amelio
/s/  ARTHURR. GREENBERG Director March 18, 2015
Arthur R. Greenber
/s] KEVIN D. FREEMAN Director March 18, 2015
Kevin D. Freemai
/s/  JOHNM AULDIN Director March 18, 2015
John Mauldir
/sl  GILBERT S. OMENN Director March 18, 2015

Gilbert S. Omenn, M.D, Ph.L

/s] STEVEN P RELACK Director March 18, 2015
Steven Prelac

/s/ H. PauL PRESSLER Director March 18, 2015
H. Paul Pressle

/s/ MARCR UBIN Director March 18, 2015
Marc Rubin, M.D.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gaetherapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. and sisbsid as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the related consolidated statementserhtipns, changes in redeemable convertible perfestock and stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the pezinded December 31, 2014. These financial statsmaes the responsibility of the Compasy’
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Galectin
Therapeutics, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and,20Bthe results of its operations and cash flmweach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.Segally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Galectin
Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal adrdwer financial reporting as of December 31, 20daked on criteria establishedmternal
Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission in 1992, and our report
dated March 18, 2015 expressed an unqualified opian the effectiveness of Galectin Therapeutits,d internal control over financial
reporting

/sl McGladrey LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 18, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Galectin Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. andidigies’ internal control over financial repodias of December 31, 2014, based on
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway
Commission in 1992. Galectin Therapeutics Inc.’siaggement is responsible for maintaining effectiterinal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol over financial reporting included hetaccompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporti®uir responsibility is to express an opinion am ¢bmpanys internal control over financi
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corix@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures (hptpertain to the maintenance of records that, ir
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetseafdmpany(b) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; aifd) provide reasonable assurance regarding preveantitmely detection of unauthorized acquisitiong usr
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. andssdiaries maintained, in all material respects@ffe internal control over financial reporti
as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria esteldiginternal Control — Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 1992.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. &eoémber 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related ddassd statements of operations, changes
in redeemable convertible preferred stock and $tolders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the¢hyears in the period ended December 31
2014 and our report dated March 18, 2015 expressethqualified opinion.

/sl McGladrey LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 18, 2015
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 29,12¢ $ 10,48¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 533 19¢
Total current asse 29,66 10,68"
Property and equipment, r 1 3
Intangible assets, n 15 23
Total asset $ 29,67 $ 10,71
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 90€ $ 762
Accrued expense 72¢ 1,651
Accrued dividends payab 68 73
Total current liabilities 1,70:¢ 2,48¢
Total liabilities 1,70:¢ 2,48¢

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Series B-1 12% redeemable convertible preferrecks&00,000 shares authorized, issued and outstquadi

December 31, 2014 and 2013, redemption value godliition value: $1,800,000, at December 31, 2 1,731 1,71¢
Series B2 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock; 200@shares authorized, issued and outstand
December 31, 2014 and 2013, redemption value godiktion value: $4,200,000, at December 31, - 3,32¢ 3,112

Series C super dividend convertible preferred stb@00 shares authorized, 176 and 196 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respéctredemption value: $4,835,000, liquidationueal
$1,786,000 at December 31, 2( 1,72¢ 1,91¢
Stockholder' equity:
Undesignated stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,00feskauthorized at December 31, 2014 and
2013, 8,001,000 shares designated at Decembef34,ghd 201.
Series A 12% convertible preferred stock; 5,000 §ldéres authorized, 1,402,500 and 1,452,500
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 arfg] #q@idation value $1,445,000 at
December 31, 201. 567 587
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shatt®azed at December 31, 2014 and 201
22,277,283 and 18,386,900 issued and outstandingamber 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectively 22 18

Additional paic-in capital 139,53: 102,84:

Retained defici (118,92) (101,969

Total stockholder equity 21,19¢ 1,481

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholde' equity $ 29,67 $ 10,71

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating expense
Research and developmt
General and administratiy

Total operating expens
Total operating los
Other income (expense
Interest incom
Loss from equity method investment in Galectin Beés, LLC
Other income
Total other income (expens
Net loss
Preferred stock dividenc
Preferred stock accretic
Warrant modificatior
Net loss applicable to common stockholc
Basic and diluted net loss per sh
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshar

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-4

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per shar
amounts)
$ 8,42t $ 5,68¢ $ 4,52i

7,00¢ 6,41¢ 5,37
15,43( 12,10/ 9,89¢
(15,430 (12,109 (9,899)
42 16 24
(400) — —
— — 20C
(35€) 16 22/
$(15,789  $(12,08)  $ (9,679
(947) (867) (976)
(229) (229) (230)
— (8,767 —
$(16,960  $(21,94)  $(10,88))
$ (079 $ (1.30 $ (0.79)
21,84¢ 16,87 15,13
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.

CONSOLIDAT ED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CO NVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201

(amounts in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Number of Number of

Shares  Amount _ Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of
Numbe of
Shares

Shares  Amount

Amount

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Total

Retainec Stockholders’

Deficit

Equity

Balance at December 31
2011
Accretion of Series B
redeemable convertible
preferred stocl 17 157
Accretion of beneficial
conversion feature for
Series -2 56
Issuance of common stock
and warrants, net of
issuance costs of
$1,597,00(
Issuance of shares relate:
reverse split of commc
stock
Series A 12% convertible
preferred stock
dividend
Series Bl 12% redeemab
convertible preferred
stock dividenc
Series B2 12% redeemab
convertible preferred
stock dividenc
Series C super dividend
convertible preferred
stock dividenc
Issuance of common stock
to consultant:
Issuance of common stoc
upon exercise of
warrants
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of
options
Stock-based compensatic
expense
Net loss

900,00( $ 1,681 2,100,000 $ 2,681

22C $ 2,15¢

1,562,500 $ 63z 12,91953 $

2,666,72.

3,32¢

31,25(

95,58«

223,02

46,05!

11,34¢

12,17°

51,83(

13 $ 66,361 $(69,13) $

3 10,40(

10z

224

52z

127

26

2,76¢

(174

(56)

(109

(229

(522)

(1279

(9,679

(2,125

(179

(56)

10,40¢

26

2,76¢
(9,679

Balance at December 31

2012 900,00 $ 1,69¢ 2,100,000 $ 2,90(

22C $ 2,154

5

1,562,500 $ 63z 16,060,85 $

16 $

80,53t $(80,01¢) $

1,16
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY — (Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201
(amounts in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Additional
Number of
Paid-In
Capital

Numbe of

Shares  Amount Shares  Amount

Retained
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

Deficit

Accretion of Series B
redeemable
convertible preferrec
stock 17

Accretion of beneficial
conversion feature fi
Series -2

Series A 12% convertib
preferred stock
dividend

Series B-1 12%
redeemable
convertible preferred
stock dividenc

Series B-2 12%
redeemable
convertible preferrec
stock dividenc

Series C super dividend
convertible preferred
stock dividenc

Issuance of common
stock upon exercise
of warrants

Issuance of common
stock upon exercise
of options

Issuance of common
stock, net of issuanc
costs of $11:

Conversion of Series A
common stocl

Conversion of Series C
super dividend
convertible preferrec
stock to common
stock

Modification of warrants

Stock-based
compensation
expense

Net loss

15¢

54

(24 (239

25,06: 14¢

36,10¢ 17¢

84,55! 41¢

23,84¢ 128
1.284.94; 1 4,50«
213,00¢ 271

599,94: 1 3,832

(110,000 (45) 18,38: 45

40,19: 23t
8,76

3,78¢

(79

(54)

(149

(179

(419

(129

(8,769

(12,089

(175

(54

4,50¢

271

3,83¢

23t

3,78¢
(12,089

Balance at

December 31, 2013  900,00( $ 1,71F

2,100,000 $ 3,117

196 $ 1,91¢ |

1,452,500 $ 587 18,386,90 $

18 $ 102,84 $(101,96) $

1,481

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY — (Continued)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201

(amounts in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Number of Number of

Shares  Amount _ Shares Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Additional Total
Stockholders’
Retained

Deficit

Number of
Paid-In
Capital

Numbe of

Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Equity

Accretion of Series B
redeemable
convertible preferred
stock

Accretion of beneficial
conversion feature for
Series -2

Series A 12% convertibli
preferred stock
dividend

Series B-1 12%
redeemable
convertible preferred
stock dividenc

Series B-2 12%
redeemable
convertible preferred
stock dividenc

Series C super dividend
convertible preferred
stock dividenc

Issuance of common sta
upon exercise of
warrants

Issuance of common sto
upon exercise of
options

Issuance of common sta

Conversion of Series A to
common stocl

Conversion of Series C
super dividend
convertible preferred
stock to common
stock

Issuance of common sta
to consultant:

Stockbased compensati
expense

Net loss

1€

56

(200 (19

79 (179

(56) (56)

19,49( 154 (154)

32,04 20€ (206)

74,76 48¢ (480

13,15: 10z (109

572,14¢ 1 1,67% 1,67¢

452
29,33¢

452
29,331

246,441
2,881,26 3

(50,000 (20) 8,35( 20

33,75t¢ 19¢ 19¢

8,96¢ 10C 10C

3,97C 3,97(

(15,789 (15,789

Balance at December 3!

2014 900,00¢ $ 1,731 2,100,000 $ 3,32¢

17¢ $ 1,72t |

1,402,500 $ 567 22,277,28 $ 22 $ 139,53 $(118,92) $ 21,19t

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
CONS OLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensation expel
Loss from equity method investment in Galectin 8cés LLC
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expei
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activit
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Equity method investment in Galectin Sciences |
Purchases of property and equipir
Change in restricted cash and security dej
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock andawes
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock warramtsoption:
Net cash provided by financing activiti
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOI
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOI

NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payment of preferred stock dividends in commonks

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31

2014

2013

2012

(in thousands)

$(15,789  $(12,08)  $(9,67%)
10 12 9
4,07 3,78¢ 2,79:
40¢ — —
(338) (39) (55)
(789) 84¢ (577)
— (6) 6
(12,426 (7,48/) (7,500)
(400) — —
— — (5
— — 69
(400) — 64
29,33 3,83: 10,40:
2,12¢ 4,77¢ —
31,46 8,60¢ 10,40:
18,63¢ 1,12¢ 2,967
10,48¢ 9,36¢ 6,397
$29,12¢  $1048¢  $ 9,36/
$ 942 $ 867 $ O7€
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GALECT IN THERAPEUTICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

Nature of Business and Basis of Presentatic

Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) is aicial stage biopharmaceutical company that is appligs leadership in galectin
science and drug development to create new ther&midibrotic disease and cancer. These candidatebased on the Company’s
targeting of galectin proteins which are key memimbf biologic and pathologic function. These comnpds also may have application
drugs to treat other diseases and chronic heaitflittons.

On March 23, 2012, the Company effected a oneiforeverse stock split. All common share and parslamounts in these financial
statements have been adjusted to reflect the affahe reverse split.

The Company has operated at a loss since its inceghd has had no revenues. The Company antisifiaéelosses will continue for the
foreseeable future. At December 31, 2014, the Compad $29,128,000 of unrestricted cash and casivadgnts available to fund futt
operations. Additionally, in January and Februad$® the Company received $4,127,000 in net prac#Fed the issuance of common
stock at market through its at the market (“ATMif)encing arrangement.

The Company was founded in July 2000, was incotpdrin the State of Nevada in January 2001 undendme “Pro-Pharmaceuticals,
Inc.,” and changed its name to “Galectin Therapsutic.” on May 26, 2011. On March 23, 2012, thenpany began trading on The
NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol GALT. PrtorMarch 23, 2012, the Company was traded on ther-@he Counter Bulletin
Board (“OTCBB") under the symbol GALT.OB (previoysPRWP.OB) from January 21, 2009 to March 22, 28ft@r the Company was
delisted from the NYSE Alternext US (“Exchange9rrerly the American Stock Exchange, due to nongl@nce with the Exchange
minimum shareholders’ equity requirements on Jan8a2009.

The Company is subject to a number of risks sintdahose of clinical stage companies, includingetelence on key individuals,
uncertainty of product development and generatfamewenues, dependence on outside sources of Cajsks associated with clinical
trials of products, dependence on third-party catators for research operations, need for regylapproval of products, risks
associated with protection of intellectual propeatyd competition with larger, better-capitalizetnpanies. Successful completion of the
Company’s development program and, ultimately att@nment of profitable operations is dependehupture events, including
obtaining adequate financing to fulfill its devetoent activities and achieving a level of revenuegaiate to support the Company’s cos
structure. There are no assurances that the Conwpilibe able to obtain additional financing on fa&ble terms, or at all, or successfi
market its products.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accompanying consolidated financial statemieane been prepared in conformity with accountiriggiples generally accepted in
the United States (“GAAP”).

Basis of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements inclindeaccounts of the Company and Galectin Therape8gcurity
Corp., its whollyewned subsidiary, which was incorporated in Delan@r December 23, 2003 and Galectin Sciences Le€Xwote 10
All intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

F-9



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in comity with accounting principles generally accepie the United
States of America requires management to make &&and judgments that may affect the reportediatamf assets, liabilities, equity,
revenue, expenses and related disclosure of camtiragsets and liabilities. Management'’s estimategudgments include assumptions
used in stock option and warrant liability valuagouseful lives of property and equipment andnigiiale assets, accrued liabilities,
deferred income taxes and various other assumpthatsire believed to be reasonable under themBtances. Actual results may differ
from those estimates under different assumptiort®nditions.

Fair Value Measurements The Company has certain financial assetsiabdities recorded at fair value. Fair values deti@ed by
Level 1 inputs utilize observable data such asepliptices in active markets. Fair values determbedevel 2 inputs utilize data points
other than quoted prices in active markets thabbservable either directly or indirectly. Fairwas determined by Level 3 inputs utilize
unobservable data points in which there is litt@o market data, which require the reporting grititdevelop its own assumptions. The
estimated value of accounts payable and accruezherp approximates their carrying value due to iairt-term nature.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly-liquid investits with original maturities of 90 days or lesshattime
of acquisition to be cash equivalents. The Comgetd/no cash equivalents at December 31, 2014 @&. 201

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Asset®repaid expenses and other assets consisipaligaof prepaid insurance and prepaid rent
on the Company’s leased executive office space.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment, including leaseholdrowements, are stated at cost, net of accumulatpckediatior
and amortization, and are depreciated or amortizath the straight-line method over the estimateful lives of the related assets of
generally three years for computers and office mment, five years for furniture and fixtures and #horter of the useful life or life of t
lease for leasehold improvements.

Restricted Cash and Security DepositAt December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Companyateeturity deposit of $6,000 for leased office
space. The security deposit was included in Prepgmenses and Other Current Assets at Decemb@034,

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets include patent costs, cangigtrimarily of related capitalized legal fees,igthare amortized over
an estimated useful life of five years from issi@msmortization expense in 2014 and 2013 was $8:0@0%7,000, respectively. Gross
intangible assets at December 31, 2014 and 20a&tb$78,000 each year, and accumulated amortizatiDecember 31, 2014 and 2(
totaled $63,000 and $55,000, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets. The Company reviews all long-lived assets figpairment whenever events or circumstances indtbatearrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Reatuility of assets to be held or used is measbysztbmparison of the carrying value
of the asset to the future undiscounted net castsfexpected to be generated by the asset. Ifamggt is considered to be impaired, the
impairment recognized is measured by the amoumitbgh the carrying value of the asset exceeds igmdnted future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset.

Accrued Expenses As part of the process of preparing our cddated financial statements, we are required tiones¢ accrued
expenses. This process involves identifying sesvtbat third parties have performed on our behalf@stimating the level of service
performed and the associated cost incurred on g@sees as of each balance sheet date in ouolideted financial statements.
Examples of estimated accrued expenses includeambiservice fees in conjunction with pre-cliniead clinical trials, professional
service fees, such as those arising from the g€ attorneys and accountants and accrued
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payroll expenses. In connection with these serf@es, our estimates are most affected by our utadeling of the status and timing of
services provided relative to the actual servioesiired by the service providers. In the eventwWwatlo not identify certain costs that
have been incurred or we under- or over-estimaédetrel of services or costs of such servicesyeported expenses for a reporting
period could be understated or overstated. Theatatehich certain services commence, the leveeofises performed on or before a
given date, and the cost of services are ofterestuby our judgment. We make these judgments bgsed the facts and circumstances
known to us in accordance with accounting prinadgenerally accepted in the U.S.

Warrants. The Company has issued common stock warramsrinection with the execution of certain equityg aebt financings.
Certain warrants were accounted for as derivatalslities at fair value. Such warrants did not e accounting criteria that a contract
should not be considered a derivative instrumeitisf(1) indexed to its own stock and (2) claissifin stockholders’ equity. Changes in
fair value of derivative liabilities are recordedthe consolidated statement of operations unaecaption “Change in fair value of
warrant liabilities.”"Warrants that are not considered derivative lidbfliare accounted for at fair value at the daissafance in addition
paid-in capital. The fair value of warrants wasedetined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing maéng assumptions regarding
volatility of our common share price, remainingldf the warrant, and risk-free interest ratesaaheperiod end. There were no warrant
liabilities as of December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Revenue Recognition The Company records revenue provided thaetisgpersuasive evidence that an arrangement gtkistprice is
fixed and determinable, services were rendereccaliectability is reasonably assured.

Research and Development Expense€osts associated with research and developanergxpensed as incurred. Research and
development expenses include, among other cosasiesaand other personnedlated costs, and costs incurred by outside laboeas ant
other accredited facilities in connection with @il trials and preclinical studies.

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes in aecurel with the accounting rules that requires aetassl liability
approach to accounting for income taxes based tipofuture expected values of the related asset$iahilities. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are determined based oditfezences between the financial reporting anddases of assets and liabilities and for
tax loss and credit carry forwards, and are medsuseng the expected tax rates estimated to b#dntevhen such basis differences
reverse. Valuation allowances are establisheddéssary, to reduce the deferred tax asset tartbard that will, more likely than not, |
realized.

Comprehensive Income (Loss).Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as tla@ge in equity of a business enterprise duringrig
from transactions and other events and circumssainom non-owner sources. The Company does not &uay@&ems of comprehensive
income (loss) other than net losses as reported.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that subject the Compargredit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents
certificates of deposit. The Company maintains @ashcash equivalents and certificates of depdtitwell-capitalized financial
institutions. At times, those amounts may exceedefaly insured limits. The Company has no sigaificconcentrations of credit risk.

Stock-Based Compensation.Stock-based compensation cost is measuree gramt date based on the fair value of the awaddsa
recognized as expense over the service periodvggnerally represents the vesting period. For dsvérat have performance based
vesting conditions the Company recognizes the esgoerer the estimated period that the awards grectad to be earned. The Comp
generally uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing ehoal calculate the grant date fair value of stopkions. For options
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that only vest upon the achievement of market ¢, the Company values the options using a M@atdéo model to calculate the
grant date fair value of the stock options. Theesige related to options that vest based on maokelittons is not reversed should those
options not ultimately vest. The expense recognimext the service period is required to includestimate of the awards that will be
forfeited. Stock options issued to non-employeesaacounted for in accordance with the provisidl&SC Subtopic 505-5@& quity-
Based Payments to Non-employeesich requires valuing the stock options usingption pricing model (the Company uses Black-
Scholes) and measuring such stock options to teient fair value when they vest.

New Accounting Pronouncements.The Company adopted Financial Accounting StedslBoard (FASB), Accounting Standards Up
No. 2014-10 “Development Stage Entities (Topic 9Hs)of June 30, 2014. This new standard modifiesicial statement presentation
to eliminate the requirement to include inceptiordaite information in the statements of operatamd cash flows, among other
provisions.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standizdate No. 2014-1Bisclosure of Uncertainties About an Entity’s Afyilio
Continue as a Going Concerfihe amendments require management to performnmignd annual assessments of an entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern and provides guidanaetermining when and how to disclose going cancercertainties in the financial
statements. The standard applies to all entitiddsaffective for annual and interim reportingipds ending after December 15, 2016,
with early adoption permitted. The Company is cuotlseevaluating the impact that this new guidandétvave on its financial statemen

In July 2013, the FASB issued amended guidancé@fiiancial statement presentation of an unreaeghiax benefit when a net
operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss,ax tredit carryforward exists. The guidance recu@e unrecognized tax benefit, or a
portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, to be presskas a reduction of a deferred tax asset wime @perating loss carryforward, sim
tax loss, or tax credit carryforward exists, witrtain exceptions. This accounting guidance wasctffe for annual and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2013. The Companytaddpis new guidance beginning with its interimaficial statements for the three
months ended March 31, 2014. The adoption of thisdard did not have a material impact on the Cawygdinancial statements.

3.  Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followinatember 31:

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Leasehold improvemen $ 2 $ 2
Computer and office equipme 13 13
Furniture and fixture _ 59 _ 59
Total 74 74
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (73 (71
Property and equipme—net 1 $ 3

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $2,000 gda3espectively.
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4.

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following at Decam34.;

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Legal and accounting fe: $11€ $ 10¢

Accrued compensatic 604 52¢€

Severance agreement (Note — 1,00(

Other 7 22

Total $72¢ $1,6517

Stockholders Equity

At December 31, 2014, the Company had 50,000,086slof common stock and 20,000,000 undesignateéshuthorized. As of
December 31, 2014, 5,000,000 shares have beemdssigfor Series A 12% Convertible Preferred St&6K,000 shares have been
designated for Series B-1 Convertible Preferreal§t®,100,000 shares have been designated forsS&i2eConvertible Preferred Stock,
1,000 shares have been designated for Series G Biyigend Convertible Preferred Stock and 11,900,8emain undesignated.

2013 Private Placement of Common Stock

On August 16, 2013, the Company issued 500,000gistezed shares of its common stock for procee@®3df00,000 to a single investor
pursuant to a private placement. There were noantsor placement fees associated with this tréinsac

2013 At Market Issuance of Common Stock

On October 25, 2013, the Company entered into adaket Issuance Sales Agreement (the “2013 At afigreement”) with a sales
agent under which the Company may issue and saléstof its common stock having an aggregate affgprice of up to $30.0 million
from time to time through the sales agent. Saleh®fCompany’s common stock through the sales agemty, will be made by any
method that is deemed an “at the market” offeringlefined by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Cssiari. The Company will pay to
the sales agent a commission rate equal to 3.0¥eajross proceeds from the sale of any sharesnofron stock sold through the sales
agent under the 2013 At Market Agreement. As ofddazer 31, 2013, the Company had issued 99,942ssbhits common stock
through its 2013 At Market Agreement at an averadgee of $9.02 per share resulting in gross prosegdpproximately $944,000. The
Company incurred one time, initial legal and acd¢mgncosts of approximately $82,000 and commissafr$29,000 resulting in net
proceeds of $833,000 as of December 31, 2013 nnadg and February 2014, the Company issued 2,683 Bares of common stock
net proceeds of approximately $28,178,000 whichpletad the 2013 At Market Agreement.

2014 At Market Issuance of Common Stock

On March 30, 2014, the Company entered into an Atlet Issuance Sales Agreement (the “2014 At Makkeeéement”) with a sales
agent under which the Company may issue and saléslof its common stock having an aggregate offgsrice of up to $30.0 million
from time to time through the sales agent. Saleh®fCompany’s common stock through the sales agemty, will be made by any
method that is deemed an “at the market” offerimglefined by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Cssian. The Company will pay to
the sales agent a commission rate equal to 3.0¥eajross proceeds from the sale of any sharesnefnon stock sold through the sales
agent under the 2014 At Market Agreement. As of
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December 31, 2014, the Company had issued 217t&22ssof its common stock through its 2014 At Madkgreement at an average
price of $5.49 per share resulting in gross proseéépproximately $1,196,000. The Company incuc@dmissions of approximately
$36,000 resulting in net proceeds of approxima$dlyl 59,000 as of December 31, 2014. In Januaryabdiary 2015, the Company
issued 1,173,458 shares of common stock for neegids of approximately $4,127,000 under the 201Mdket Agreement.

Series A 12% Convertible Preferred Stock — Februdry2008 Private Placement

On February 4, 2008, the Company closed a priiaiement begun in October 2007 of its Series A T¥vertible Preferred Stock
(“Series A”) and related warrants. In this trangagtthe Company sold units of securities at $§60unit, each unit comprised of (i) one
share of Series A Preferred, (ii) a warrant to pase one share of common stock for $9.00, anda(iwarrant to purchase one share of
common stock for $12.00. Each share of the SeriisseAtitled to dividends at the rate of 12% perwan payable at the Company’s
option in cash or shares of common stock valugdeahigher of $6.00 per share or 100% of the valeighted average price of the
Company’s share price for the 20 consecutive tgadays prior to the applicable dividend paymenedBividends are payable semi-
annually on March 30 and September 30. The divigeid on the initial dividend payment date is cidted from the date the Company
deposited each subscription advance.

The shares of Series A are entitled to vote aassakith the Company’s common stock and each gtid@eries A is convertible at any
time to one-sixth of a share of common stock, sthf@adjustment in the event of a stock dividestdck split or combination,
reclassification or similar event. The Company tmasright to require conversion if the closing prif the common stock exceeds $18.0(
for 15 consecutive trading days and a registrattatement covering the resale of the shares of @mstock issuable upon conversion of
the Series A is then in effect. Each warrant ig@gable solely for cash beginning August 3, 2008 expired on February 4, 2012. The
exercise price of each warrant is adjustable iretrent of a stock split or stock combination, calpi€organization, merger or similar
event.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had receiubdcsiption advances of $1,667,500 for Series 2088, the Company received
additional subscription advances of $75,000 resylin total gross proceeds of $1,742,500. On Fepria2008 the Company closed the
private placement. The Company incurred $52,00faeh transaction costs resulting in net cash pdscee$1,691,000. In addition, the
Company incurred $3,000 of costs for 1,400 warrarescisable at $9.00 issued to placement agerttse@ds of $984,000 were alloce
to investor warrants using the Black-Scholes methibld the following assumptions as of February @& risk free interest rate 2.51%,
volatility 95%, fair market value of the compang@mmon stock on February 4, 2008, and the shate pni the closing date of the
transaction of $3.54. The warrants were originatigounted for as freestanding derivative instrusiénthe consolidated balance sheet
formerly under the caption “Warrant Liabilities”h&se warrants were originally classified as a liigtibecause the February 2006
warrants contain an anti-dilution provision in #aent of a subsequent dilutive issuance and thengiat number of shares issuable
exceeded the Company’s authorized shares. Chamdgis value were recognized as either a gain &8 Io the consolidated statement of
operations under the caption “Change in fair valixvarrant liabilities”. In the second quarter &8, the warrants were reclassified to
equity as a result of an amendment to the Compantitdes of incorporation approved at the May 2008 annual meeting of
shareholders increasing the Company’s authorizethuan. Through May 21, 2008, these warrants werdeaaatio market resulting in a
reduction in warrant liabilities in the balance shand an offsetting credit to change in fair vadfigvarrant liabilities in the statement of
operations in the amount of $100,000. The remaifairgvalue of $502,000 was credited to additiguaid-in capital in the balance sheet.

In 2014 and 2013, 50,000 and 110,000 shares oésSArivere converted into 8,334 and 18,387 sharesrafmon stock, respectively.
Prior to 2013, a total of 180,000 shares of Sekibad been converted into 30,000 shares of comnumk.s
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Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On February 12, 2009, the Company entered intaarisies purchase agreement (the “10X Agreementfypant to which it agreed to
issue and sell to 10X Fund LP, at two or more adgsj up to: (i) 3,000,000 shares its Series B caitve preferred stock (“Series B
redeemable convertible preferred stock” or “Sei8swith an aggregate stated value of $6.0 million eovertible into 2,000,000 sha
of common stock at December 31, 2011 and (ii) wasréo purchase 6,000,000 shares of common stock.

Through a series of closings from February 2008ubh May 2010, the Company issued and sold, put¢adahe 10X Agreement, a total
of (i) 900,000 shares of Series B-1 convertibldgred stock (“Series B-1 redeemable convertibéfgred stock” or “Series B-1") and
related common stock warrants for 1,800,000 sharesmmon stock and (ii) 2,100,000 shares of S@i@sconvertible preferred stock
(“Series B-2 redeemable convertible preferred stockSeries B-2") and related warrants for 4,2@M&hares of common stock for total
net proceeds of $5,483,000.

The terms of the Series B are as follows:

Dividends. Holders of the Series B will be entitled toe&e cumulative dividends at the rate of 12% peares per annum
(compounding monthly) payable quarterly which matythe Company’s option, be paid in cash or comstook. Pursuant to an
agreement with the holder of all shares of SeriegrBlanuary 26, 2011, the Company amended aratedshe Certificate of Designati
of Preferences, Rights and Limitations for the &eB-1 and Series B-2, to provide that dividengspayable in cash or shares of
Common Stock valued at 100% of the volume weightestage price of the Common Stock for the 20 cartsextrading days prior to
the dividend payment date on and after Septemhe2@L. If the Company does not pay any dividenthenSeries B, dividends will
accrue at the rate of 15% per annum (compoundingmhg.

Conversion Rights Each share of Series B is convertible into-thiods (approximately 0.667) shares of commonistidhe
conversion price of $3.00 per share at the optidi) the holder, at any time and (ii) the Compaatany time after February 12, 2010
(and upon 10 days notice) if the common stock ctegat or above $9.00 for 15 consecutive tradmgdnd an effective registration
statement regarding the underlying shares of comstmuk is in effect (subject to certain monthlywmle limits). Pursuant to an
agreement with the holder of all shares of SeriesrBlanuary 26, 2011, the Company amended aratedshe Certificate of Designati
of Preferences, Rights and Limitations for the &eB-1 and Series B-2, to remove the Company’s t@mbompel conversion of the
Series B Preferred Stock to shares of its CommookSt

Redemption Rights Pursuant to an agreement with the holderlafhares of Series B, on January 26, 2011, the Gagpnpmended and
restated the Certificate of Designation of Prefeesn Rights and Limitations for the Series B-1 Spdes B-2, to provide that, upon
notice of not less than 30 trading days, a hold&earies B may require the Company to redeem, iolevbr in part at any time on or after
the earlier of (a) February 12, 2019 or (b) theeddtissuance of a promissory note to David Psaé (Note 11) in connection with the
achievement of certain milestones under his sdparagreement.

The redemption price will be equal to the sum efdtated value of the Series B, plus all accru¢dibpaid dividends thereon, as of the
redemption date. If the Company fails to pay thereption price in cash on the redemption date, themolders of the Series B
requesting redemption may, at their sole optiotgratically convert their shares of Series B infr@missory note bearing interest at
rate of 15% per year and secured by a lien onfdleeCompany’s assets. So long as any shareg @dhies B remain outstanding, the
Company is also subject to restrictions limitingyang other things, amendments to the Company’sniggtional documents; the
purchase or redemption of the Company’s capitakstmergers,
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consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; salbassets; dividends and other restricted paysnantestments and acquisitions; joint
ventures, licensing agreements, exclusive marketimgother distribution agreements; issuancesafrgies; incurrence of indebtedness;
incurrence of liens and other encumbrances andrnig®s of any common stock equivalents.

Liquidation Rights  In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionvainding up of the Company, either voluntarilyiovoluntarily, the
holders of Series B will receive $2 per share plasrued and unpaid dividends, payable prior amméference to any distributions to the
holders of Common Stock bpari passwwith the holders of the Series A 12% Convertiblef@mred Stock.

Voting Rights  Except as noted below, the holder of eachesbbBeries B shall be entitled to the number eés@qual to the number
of shares of Common Stock into which such shai®esfes B would be convertible, and shall othenkisee voting rights and powers
equal to the voting rights and powers of the Comi@totk. With respect to the election of directting, holders of the Series B shall vote
together as a separate class to elect two (2) msmbt¢he Board of Directors (the “Series B Direstd, and the Company shall take all
reasonably necessary or desirable actions witkioantrol (including, without limitation, callingpecial meetings of the Board of
Directors, nominating such persons designated &tihders of the Series B as directors on the egiple proxy statements and
recommending their election) to permit the holderthe Series B to appoint two additional (2) merslaf the Board of Directors (the
“Series B Nominees”)who shall be subject to election by all sharesating stock of the Company voting together as glsigroup, unt
such time as all authorized shares of Series B hagéeen issued and sold, after which the nunflfgeries B Nominees shall be three
(3), and shall remain three (3) until there ardamger any shares of Series B outstanding. Theehsldf Series B shall vote together with
the holders of Common Stock and other voting capttack of the Company to elect all other membéthe Board of Directors.

Other Restrictions So long as any shares of the Series B remastanding, the Company may not, without the apglrof’the holders
of a majority of the shares of Series B outstandamyong other things, (i) change the size of them@any’s Board of Directors;

(i) amend or repeal the Company’s Articles of Irmaration or Bylaws or file any articles of amendrndesignating the preferences,
limitations and relative rights of any series afferred stock; (iii) create or increase the auttemtiamount of any additional class or se
of shares of stock that is equal to or senior 1eSeB; (iv) increase or decrease the authorizedbar of shares of the Series B;

(v) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for vahyeshares of any class of capital stock; (vi)gaar consolidate the Company into or
with any other corporation or sell, assign, legdedge, encumber or otherwise dispose of all ostzauttially all of the Company’s assets
or those of any subsidiary; (vii) voluntarily onimluntarily liquidate, dissolve or wind up the Coamy or the Company’s business;

(viii) pay or declare dividends on any capital tother than the Preferred Stock, unless the SBrigsare ratably in such dividend anc
accrued dividends payable with respect to the S&ibave been paid prior to the payment or dedtaratf such dividend; (ix) acquire an
equitable interest in, or the assets or busineaspbther entity in any form of transaction; (r¢a&te or commit us to enter into a joint
venture, licensing agreement or exclusive marketingther distribution agreement with respect ®@ompany’s products, other than in
the ordinary course of business; (xi) permit thenPany or any subsidiary to sell or issue any sgcaofisuch subsidiary to any person or
entity other than the Company; (xii) enter intagate, incur, assume or guarantee any indebtedmeksrfowed money of any kind (other
than indebtedness existing on the initial closiatedand approved by Series B shareholders); exiii¢r into, create, incur or assume any
liens of any kind (other than certain permittechdig (xiv) issue any common stock equivalents; (rejease the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock that may be issued purdoaytions, warrants or rights to employees, does;tofficers, consultants or
advisors above 250,000.

Warrants. Each Class A-1 warrant, Class2Avarrant and Class B warrant is exercisable &@0bger share of common stock at any !
on or after the date of issuance until the fiftmigarsary of the respective issue date. The Compazay, upon 30 days notice and so long
as an effective registration
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statement regarding the underlying shares of comstmuok is in effect, issue a termination noticehwispect to (i) each Class A-1
warrant on any trading day on which the market @afithe common stock for each of the 15 previcading days exceeded $7.50 per
share and (ii) each Class A-2 warrant on any tiaday on which the market value of the common sfoclkach of the 15 previous
trading days exceeded $10.50 per share. All Clagsvarrants were exercised for cash proceeds oD$300 in 2011 and 500,000 of
Class A-2 warrants were exercised for cash procee#i$,500,000 in 2013. Subsequently, in Januafyl2the remaining 500,000
Class A-2 warrants were exercised for cash procek#i$,500,000.

The fair value of the warrants issued in conneciith the Series B-1 was $1,296,000 at the datesofance based on the following
assumptions: an expected life of 5 years, volatilft118%, risk free interest rate of 1.79% andzdividends. The Company allocated
gross proceeds based on the relative fair valtleeoSeries B-1 and the related warrants, resuitirgj, 105,000 of the proceeds being
allocated to additional paid-in capital. The Comypanalyzed the Series B-1, post-allocation of tresg proceeds, and determined that
there was no beneficial conversion feature at #te df issuance. The issuance costs of the Serfeari8l the amounts allocated to
warrants were recorded as a reduction to the ceymwalue of the Series B-1 when issued, and anetmetto the redemption value of the
Series B-1 through the earliest redemption date. tduthe redemption feature, the Company has piexbéime Series B-1 outside of
permanent equity, in the mezzanine of the cons@dibalance sheet at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The fair value of the warrants issued during therymded December 31, 2010 in connection with greSB-2 was $4,148,000 at the
dates of issuance based on the following assunptamexpected life of 5 years, volatility of 12684.29%, risk free interest rates of
2.27% to 2.43% and zero dividends. The fair valiuthe warrants issued during the year ended DeceBihe2009 in connection with the
Series B-2 was $5,333,000 at the dates of issuaaszd on the following assumptions: an expectedfis years, volatility of 124% to
127%, risk free interest rates of 1.98% to 2.70% zaro dividends. The Company allocated the grossegds based on the relative fair
value of the Series B-2 and the related warraasylting in $1,028,000 and $1,732,000 of the prdsding allocated to additional paid-
in capital for the years ended December 31, 2082809, respectively. The issuance costs of thie$SBr2 and the amounts allocated tc
warrants were recorded as a reduction to the caynyalue of the Series B-2 when issued, and ametctto the redemption value of the
Series B-2 through the earliest redemption dates. D the redemption feature, the Company has pied¢he Series B-2 outside of
permanent equity, in the mezzanine of the cons@dibalance sheet at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The Company analyzed the Series B-2, @disication of the gross proceeds, and determinatiitiere was a beneficial conversion fea
at the dates of issuance. Because the closing giritee common stock on the closing date was gréladém the effective conversion price,
$388,000 and $628,000 of the proceeds (limiteti¢écatlocation of the proceeds) during the yeargdrecember 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively, were allocated to an embedded beakfienversion feature of the Series B-2. The anhallacated to the beneficial
conversion feature was recorded as a discountt&éhies B-2 is being accreted, with such accrét@ng charged through the earliest
redemption dates.

Series C 6% Super Dividend Convertible Preferredckt

On December 29, 2010, the Company designated ahdraed the sale and issuance of up to 1,000 studr8eries C Super Dividend
Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C”) with a palue of $0.01 and a stated value equal to $10(h@0‘Stated Value”).

On December 30, 2010, the Company sold and issl2dl2ares of Series C at a price of $10,000 peegbagross proceeds of
$2,120,000. The Company incurred $47,000 of casisaction costs resulting in net cash proceed?,6778,000. In addition, the
Company issued 500 warrants exercisable at $7.20 to
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placement agent which had a de minimis value. Aalthtly, in January 2011, the Company sold andeidsil8 shares of Series C at a
price of $10,000 per share for gross proceeds 80 $D0.

The terms of the Series C are as follows:

Conversion Rights Each holder of Series C may convert all, lnitless than all, of his Series C shares plus adcamd unpaid
dividends into Common Stock at the price of $6.80ghare of Common Stock (“Conversion Price”), sttt approximately 1,667
shares of Common Stock will be issued per eachaxted share of Series C (accrued and unpaid digilesill be issued as additional
shares). At December 31, 2014, the 176 outstarglinges of Series C were convertible into a totalpproximately 293,340 shares of
Common Stock.

Subject to the continuing obligation to pay posivarsion dividends, the Company may convert ali,imt less than all, of the Series C
(plus all accrued and unpaid dividends) into Comr8totk, at the Conversion Price, upon such timettieaclosing price of the Comm:
Stock is no less than $18.00 per share for 15 coise trading days.

Dividends. Holders of Series C shall be entitled to ree@umulative norcompounding dividends at the rate per share oES&iequs
to the greater of (i) 6% per annum of the Statelli®éalso defined as the “Floor”) or (ii) 2.5% ddtrsales until the total dividends paid is
equal to the initial investment and 1.25% of né¢sthereafter. The maximum amount each Seriesafekblder will receive in dividend
payments is equal to $100,000 (the “Maximum Payo&dr purposes of this dividend calculation, redés shall mean gross revenues
actually received by the Company, from the saliécensing of the product DAVANAP (GM-CT-01), leskargebacks, returns,
expenses attributable to product recalls, dutiestams, sales tax, freight, insurance, shippingeges, allowances and other customary
deductions.

The dividend shall be payable in arrears semiahnoalMarch 31 and September 30, beginning withfitfs¢ such date after the original
issue date; provided, however, that all dividerus all other distributions shall cease, and naherrdividends or other distributions shall
be paid, in respect of each share of Series C &odnafter such time that the Maximum Payout haa pe& in respect of such share of
Series C. Such dividends shall be payable at tmpg@ay’s option either in cash or in duly authoriziedly paid and non-assessable
shares of Common Stock valued at the higher &3iD0 per share or (ii) the average of the Comntonk3rading price for the ten

(10) consecutive trading days ending on the tradegthat is immediately prior to the dividend payrnhdate.

Series C Post Conversion Dividend Rightln the event that any share of Series C ivedad into Common Stock before the Maximum
Payout is paid in respect of such converted shiaBees C, then the holder shall have the rigltiotatinue to receive dividends in resg
of such converted share of Series C equal to thairéng payout (the “Series C Preferred Stock Bastversion Dividend Right”) which
shall be equal to the Maximum Payout less the cativel dividends received through the conversioe.dane share of Series C Prefel
Stock Post Conversion Dividend Right shall be idsiae each such converted share of Series C. Thiehof each Series C Preferred
Stock Post Conversion Dividend Right shall recéheeremaining payout on an equal basis and in catipn with the then outstanding
shares of Series C and all the other then outsigrisieries C Post Conversion Dividend Rights, instmae manner and subject to the
same terms and conditions as applicable to the payof dividends on each share of Series C, exbepfor purposes of calculating the
dividend the Floor shall not apply. The Series €f€@red Stock Post Conversion Dividend Right shalle no stated value, liquidation
preference or right to any dividends or distribnimther than the remaining payout. The SeriesefeRed Stock Post Conversion Right
is subject to redemption in the same manner asanaling Series C shares.

At the date of issuance, the Series C have an ateladividend right to continue to receive dividgrayments after conversion to
common stock (the Series C Post Conversion Divideigtit) which requires
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bifurcation. The value of this post conversion dand right on the date of issuance was determmée e minimis due to the fact that
the payment of a dividend stream other than thedl&ddend and conversion of Series C prior to thenPany achieving sales of GM-CT-
01 was deemed improbable at that time. Upon a ¢sioreof the Series C, the Company will be requitedecord a liability and the
related expense during the period of conversion.

In July 2011, 5 shares of Series C were conveniedd,334 shares of common stock and 5 Series CQRowersion Dividend Rights
(Dividend Rights) were issued. In 2013, 24 shafeSeavies C were converted into 40,193 shares ofwomstock and 24 Dividend Rigt
were issued. In 2014, 20 shares of Series C wereected into 33,756 shares of common stock andi2i@lénd Rights were issued. Per
the terms of the Series C, these Dividend Righadl sbntinue to participate in dividends, howeves Eloor shall not apply. At
December 31, 2014 and 2013, these Dividend Righte wetermined to have a de minimis value, asdlgenpnt of a dividend is
considered improbable at this time. The Companiagitinue to evaluate and assess the Series QJ@osersion Dividend Right for
each reporting period.

Liquidation Rights  In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionveinding up of the Company, either voluntarilyiovoluntarily, the
holders of Series C will receive $10,000 per sipus accrued and unpaid dividends, payable pridriapreference to any distributions
to the holders of Common Stock but after and subatd to the Series A 12% Convertible PreferreaiS{tSeries A”), Series B-1 and
Series B-2, subject to the Maximum Payout.

Redemption Upon a sale of the Company, the Company sbddéem all of the then outstanding shares of Sériasd Series C
Preferred Stock Post Conversion Rights within yh80) days after the transaction constitutingghke of the Company is closed and ¢
closing is fully funded. The price to redeem a shafrSeries C and each redeemed Series C Preftoekl Post Conversion Redemption
Right shall be equal to (i) (A) the applicable reton investment (“ROI"percentage, multiplied by (B) $10,000, minus (g tumulativ
dividends received through the redemption date.rédemption price shall be payable at the Compaogt®n either in cash or in shares
of common stock valued at the higher of (i) $3.@0 ghare or (ii) the average market price for #medonsecutive trading days ending
immediately prior to the date of redemption. Thel R@rcentage shall mean the percentage that agsliebthe redemption date, as
follows:

ROI Percentag

200% before the second anniversary of the date of iss).

250% on or after the second anniversary of the datesefénce, but before the third anniversary of tie dbissuance

300% on or after the third anniversary of the date stizmce, but before the fourth anniversary of the daissuance

350% on orafter the fourth anniversary of the date of isseabait before the fifth anniversary of the datésetiance

400% on or after the fifth anniversary of the date sliance, but before the sixth anniversary of the daissuance

450% on or after the sixth anniversary of the date sfizsce, but before the seventh anniversary ofdteaf issuance

500% on or after the seventh anniversary of the datesofance, but before the eighth anniversary ofittie of issuance;
and

550% on or after the eighth anniversary of the datessfiance, but before the ninth anniversary of the afsissuance

Due to the redemption feature, the Company haepted the Series C outside of permanent equitheirmezzanine of the consolidated
balance sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013. d&nileer 31, 2014, the Series C redemption valuebd/a35,000.

Voting Rights The Series C shares have no voting rights.
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6. Warrants and Warrant Liabilities
Warrants

Warrant activity is summarized as follows:

Outstanding at December 31, 2(
Issued

Cancellec

Exercisec

Outstanding at December 31, 2(
Issued

Cancellec

Exercisec

Outstanding at December 31, 2(

7,424,24;
5,00(
(1,344,01)
(50,000
6,035,22!
20,00
(7,500)
(576,739
5,470,99!

The following table summarizes information with aegj to outstanding warrants issued in connectidh ®quity and debt financings and

consultants as of December 31, 2014.

Issued in Connection With
February 12, 2009 Serie«-1 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
May 13, 2009 Series-2 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
June 30, 2009 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
August 12, 2009 Series-2 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
September 30, 2009 Serie-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
November 4, 2009 Series«-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
December 8, 2009 Serie-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
January 29, 2010 Serie-2 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
March 8, 2010 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
April 30, 2010 Series -2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
May 10, 2010 Series-2 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
June 15, 2010 Consultant Warra
December 9, 2010 Consultant Warre
December 30, 2010 Placement Agent Warr
March 28, 2012 Offering Warran
October 30, 2014 Consultant Warra

Total outstanding warran

Consultant Warrants

In October 2014, the Company granted warrantsctmnaultant for the purchase of 20,000 shares ofmmstock at an exercise price of

Exercise

Number

Issued Price Exercisable Date Expiration Date
1,200,001 $ 3.0C February 12, 20( February 12, 201
600,00( $ 3.0C May 13, 200 May 13, 201
333,33 $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201
200,00( $ 3.0C August 12, 200 August 12, 201
216,66t $ 3.0C September 30,200 September 30, 20
206,66¢ $ 3.0C November 4, 20 November 4, 201
216,66° $ 3.0C December 8, 20( December 8, 20:
216,660 $ 3.0C January 29, 20: January 29, 20:
223,33 $ 3.0C March 8, 201 March 8, 202
206,66° $ 3.0C April 30, 201( April 30, 202(
380,000 $ 3.0C May 10, 201 May 10, 202
100,00 $ 4.2¢ June 15, 201 June 15, 201
33,33¢ $ 3.9C December 9, 20: December 9, 20:
50C $ 7.2C December 30, 20: December 30, 20:
1,317,16. $ 5.6< March 28, 201 March 28, 201
20,00( $ 5.4t October 30, 201 October 30, 201

$5.45 per share. The warrants were valued at $@@&00ssuance based on the following assumptianexpected life of 3 years,
volatility of 117%, risk free interest rate of 0%J1and zero dividends. The warrants vested immdgiatel the company recognized an

expense of
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$76000 related to these warrants during the yede&December 31, 2014. These warrants are outatpatiDecember 31, 2014.

Offering Warrants

On March 28, 2012, the Company sold and issued31383 Units (2,666,722 shares of common stock aladed $5.63 warrants to
purchase 1,333,361 shares of common stock) fosgnaxeeds of $12.0 million (net cash proceed< 6f493,000 after the underwriting
discount and offering costs). The warrants weraeaglat $4,445,000 as of the issuance date of M&8cB012, using the closing price of
$4.20, a life of 5 years, a volatility of 119% amdisk free interest rate of 1.05%. Based uporChmpany’s analysis of the criteria
contained in ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and Hied — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity” the Compamas determined that
warrants issued in connection with this financirepsaction were not derivative liabilities and #fere, were recorded as additional paid
in capital. At December 31, 2014, 1,317,161 of ¢hwarrants remain outstanding.

Warrants Modification

On May 6, 2013, the Company modified the termsief@lass A-2 and Class B warrants that were otigirssued to the 10X Fund with
the Series B Preferred Stock offering. The ClaggaBants were modified to allow for the cashlessreise of all 4,000,000 outstanding
Class B warrants. Previously, only half of the GlBswarrants allowed for cashless exercise. Thest#a2 warrants for the purchase of
1,000,000 shares of common and all of the ClasaBamts had their exercisable life extended bydalitianal five years. In exchange
these modifications, the 10X Fund agreed to a éutumendment of the Company’s Series B certifichtiesignation to remove the
redemption provision such that the Series B Prefe8tock will no longer be redeemable, if and wtienCompany will no longer be
required to issue Dr. Platt a promissory note ag coarently be required under the separation ages¢ifsee Note 11). Should the
Company amend their Series B certificate of degignan the future as described above, the Compéhye required at that time to
evaluate whether such amendment is to be accoforted a modification or an extinguishment of trarany’s Series B Preferred
Stock. The Company has accounted for the modiéenig of the Class A-2 and Class B warrants purgoah6C 718, Stock
Compensation, whereby the Company has recognizedrge for the change in fair value of the warranisediately before and
immediately after the modification. In the seconguder of 2013, the Company recognized a one-timaege of $8,763,000 related to the
extension of the 5,000,000 warrants. The follonasgumptions were used to value the extension afidéiheants immediately before and
immediately after the modification: a) immediatblgfore the modification — an expected life rang®.@f7 to 2.01 years, volatility range
of 77% to 96%, risk free interest rate range ol@1o 0.22% and zero dividends and; b) immedidtalpwing the modification — an
expected life range of 5.78 to 7.02 years, votgtitainge of 113% to 122%, risk free interest rarege of 0.74% to 1.19% and zero
dividends.

7. Stock-Based Compensatiot
Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Plans
At December 31, 2014, the Company had three staskd compensation plans where the Company’s corstook has been made
available for equity-based incentive grants as plitie Company’s compensation programs (the “IticerPlans”) as follows:

2001 Stock Incentive Plan In October 2001, the Company’s Board of Dinestadopted the Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 200kStoc
Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”), which persnitwards of incentive and nonqualified stock ofgtiand other forms of incentive
compensation to employees and non-employees sudineators and consultants. Originally, there w&38,334 shares of common stock
for issuance upon exercise of grants made unddntieative Plan. Options granted under the Incenfiilan vest either
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immediately or over a period of up to three years] expire 3 years to 10 years from the grant ddatBecember 31, 2014, there were no
shares were available for future grant under tieeritive Plan as the terms of the Incentive Plamdidallow for grants to be made after
10 years; however, there were 166,167 optionsandgtg under the Incentive Plan.

2003 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Planin 2003, the stockholders approved the PrafRaeeuticals, Inc. 2003 Ndamployee
Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”)hieh permits awards of stock options to non-empdogieectors. The stockholders
originally reserved 166,667 shares of common sfocissuance upon exercise of grants made undeDitieetor Plan. At December 31,
2014, there were no shares were available forduguant under the Director Plan as the terms obihector Plan did not allow for grants
to be made after 10 years, and there were no agptiotstanding under the Director Plan.

2009 Incentive Compensation Plan In February 2009, the Company adopted the 20€nhtive Compensation Plan (the “2009 Plan”)
which originally provided for the issuance of upt833,334, which was subsequently increased ®84334 in May 2014, shares of the
Company’s common stock in the form of options, ktappreciation rights, restricted stock and otheclsbased awards to employees,
officers, directors, consultants and other eligiidesons. At December 31, 2014, 1,851,114 sharesavailable for future grant under
the 2009 Plan.

In addition, the Company has awarded 1,477,379pt@m-stock option grants to employees and non-eyege These non-plan grants
have vesting periods and expiration dates simildhdse options granted under the Incentive PkanBecember 31, 2014, 1,416,669
non-plan grants were outstanding.

Stock-Based Compensation

Following is the stock-based compensation expeglsted to common stock options, restricted comntocksand common stock

warrants:
Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
Research and development $1,30: $ 991 $ 922
General and administrati 2,76¢ 2,79¢ 1,87(
Total stocl-based compensation expel $4,07( $3,78¢ $2,79:

The fair value of the options granted is determinsidg the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Toiowing weighted average
assumptions were used:

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.58% 1.17% 0.9(%
Expected life of the optior 6 year: 5.29 year 5.81 year
Expected volatility of the underlying sto 114% 115% 11€%
Expected dividend raf 0% 0% 0%

As noted above, the fair value of stock optiondatermined by using the Black-Scholes option pgamodel. For all options granted
since January 1, 2006 the Company has generaltyargén terms of between 5 to 10 years, genevélly 5 to 6 years representing the
estimated life of options granted to employees. Vdiatility of the common stock is estimated usimistorical volatility over a period
equal to the expected life at the date of grang fi$k-free interest rate used in the Black-Schofg#on pricing model is determined by
reference to historical U.S. Treasury constant nitgttates with terms equal to the expected terfth®awards. An expected dividend
yield of zero is used in the option valuation motelcause the Company does not expect to pay ahyddadends in the foreseeable
future. At December 31, 2014, the Company doesntitipate any option awards will be forfeited lire ttalculation of compensation
expense due to the limited number of employeesrétative stock option grants and the Company'®hcal employee turnover.
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The following table summarizes the stock optionvitgtin the stock based compensation plans:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Contractual Aggregate
Average Intrinsic Value
Number of Exercise Life
Shares Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 2011 3,091,47. $ 6.8
Grantec 800,00( 2.13
Forfeited/Cancelle: (299,68 8.9:
Exercisec (51,830) 2.31
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,539,96. $ 5.6€
Grantec 425,42¢ 3.8¢
Forfeited/Cancelle: (403,679 14.1¢
Exercisec (213,009 2.1¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,348,70! $ 4.7
Grantec 354,82: 12.72
Forfeited/Cancelle: (124,46¢) 3.8(
Exercisec (246,445 1.97
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,332,61 $ 5.7¢ 6.51 $ 1,38:
Exercisable, December 31, 20 2,444 4T $ 5.24 6.22 $ 1,272

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pre-tax amount, net of exemise, which would have been received
by option holders if all option holders had exeediall options with an exercise price lower thamriarket price on December 31, 2014,
based on the closing price of the Company’s comstock of $3.47 on that date.

The weighted-average graaiéte fair values of options granted during 2014,28and 2012 were $10.75, $3.17 and $1.77, respgtifs
of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, there unvested options to purchase 888,140 and ¥@56hares of common stock,
respectively. Total expected unrecognized companmsabst related to such unvested options is $408WBat December 31, 2014, which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-aegoagod of 1.61 years.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@ah8, the Company issued shares totaling 246,445008 and 51,830,
respectively, upon the exercise of options valuesf#a 1,000 and $378,000, respectively. During @y ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, the Company received $394,000, 82a@H5nd 0, respectively, for the exercise of smutions. During 2014, 2013 and
2012, 35,734, 173,669 and 90,253 options were esaston a cashless basis resulting in the issuafr@@ 109, 81,591 and 51,830 sha
respectively. The intrinsic value of options exeetl during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012012 was $2,677,000,
$1,498,000 and 162,000, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012ah8, 676,335, 614,041 and 595,420 options becasted, respectively. The total
grant date fair value of options vested duringytbars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was1$300, $2,406,000 and
$2,447,000 respectively.
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The following table summarizes additional informatregarding outstanding and exercisable optiodeuaur stock based compensatior
plans at December 31, 2014:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining
Contractual Average Average
Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Price (Range) Shares Life Price Shares Price
(in years)
$1.80-1.83 276,66¢ 2.4 $ 1.8C 276,66¢ $ 1.8C
$2.08-2.88 761,66 6.7 2.2¢ 669,91 2.2¢
$3.59-4.41 354,95:. 8.4 4.0¢ 213,24 3.92
$5.00- 7.56 1,568,38. 6.2 6.94 1,083,741 6.9:
$8.10-11.40 44.44¢ 6.4 8.1(C 44.44¢ 8.1C
$13.38 326,50( 9.1 13.3¢ 156,45¢ 13.3¢
3,332,61 6.5 $ 5.7¢ 2,444 AT $ 5.2¢

Other Stock Based Compensation Transactions

In September 2013, the Company modified certaitedestock options held by a former member of themm@any’s board of directors.
The individual left the board on May 23, 2013. Thedification extended the contractual period ofreise of 103,158 stock options until
the end of their original terms instead of suchians expiring 3 months after service on the boaudkd. As a result, the Company
recorded a one-time, non-cash charge of $930,006neral and administrative expenses related totidification in for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

In June 2013, the Company issued 25,000 optioasctisultant for consulting services, which vesteflugust 2013. The options are
exercisable at $3.97 per share. These options wedwed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mdzieded on a grant date fair value of
the Company’s common stock ranging from $3.97 paresupon grant to $7.25 per share at completiaesting. The Company
recorded a $173,000 charge to stock compensatipense over the vesting period of the options.

8. Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed bdidiyithe net loss available to common stockholbgrthe weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the periodutBd net loss per common share is computed byidgyithe net loss available to
common stockholders by the weighted average nuofiimymmon shares and other potential common shiagesoutstanding. Potential
common shares consist of common shares issuabfethp@ssumed exercise of in-the-money stock optioal warrants and potential
common shares related to the conversion of theepef stock. The computation of diluted net logsshare does not assume the issu
of common shares that have an anti-dilutive eféechet loss per share.
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Year Ended December 31
(in thousands, except shar
and per share amounts’

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $(15,789) $(12,089) $ (9,675
Preferred stock dividenc (943) (867) (97¢€)
Preferred stock accretic (229) (229) (230
Warrant modificatior — (8,769 —
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(16,960) $(21,947) $(10,887)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.79 $ (1.30 $ (0.79)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshare 21,84¢ 16,87 15,13:

Dilutive shares which could exist pursuant to tkereise of outstanding stock instruments and whiehe not included in the calculation
because their affect would have been anti-dilutireeas follows:

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012
(Shares) (Shares) (Shares)
Warrants to purchase shares of common stock 5,470,99! 6,035,22! 7,424,24.
Options to purchase shares of common s 3,332,61 3,348,70! 3,539,96.
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversiderpee stock 2,527,10: 2,568,77. 2,627,111

11,330,71 11,952,70 13,591,31

9. Commitments and Contingencie:
Lease Commitments

In September 2012, the Company entered into aratipgriease for office space in Norcross, GA feeran of twenty-six months,
beginning on October 1, 2012 and ending NovembeR30D4 at a rate of approximately $3,000 per mantdune 2014, the Company
signed an amendment to the lease extending thetheough November 30, 2017 with a base monthlyalesftapproximately $3,300
through the extended term. The original lease piexvifor free rent for the first two months of tkade and required a security deposit of
$6,000. In addition to base rental payments inadudehe contractual obligations table above, tbenfany is responsible for our prata
share of the operating expenses for the building.

In October 2012, the Company entered into an oipgrégase for office space collocated with lab spe research and development
activities. The lease is for a period of one ybaginning on October 1, 2012, for a rate of $15,fa@@he term, payable in equal monthly
increments. This lease was continued on a monttotath basis from October 1, 2013.

Rent expense under the above operating leases4#z30® and $39,000 for the years ended Decemb@034, and 2013, respectively.
Future minimum payments under this lease as of Dbee 31, 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2015 $ 38
2016 40
2017 _ 4
Total $11¢

F-25



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Separation Agreemer

In February 2009, the Company entered into a Séparadgreement in connection with the resignatiéavid Platt, Ph.D., the
Company'’s former Chief Executive Officer and Chamof the Board of Directors. The Separation Agrerinprovides for the deferral of a
$1.0 million separation payment due to Dr. Platrughe earlier occurrence of any of the followindestone events: (i) the approval by the
Food and Drug Administration for a new drug applma (“NDA”) for any drug candidate or drug deliyecandidate based on the Company’s
GM-CT-01 technology (whether or not such technolzgyatented), in which case Dr. Platt is alsotlentito a fully vested 10-year cashless-
exercise stock option to purchase at least 83,88fes of common stock at an exercise price notlessthe fair market value of the common
stock determined as of the date of grant; (ii) com:ation of a transaction with a pharmaceutical gamy expected to result in at least $10.0
million of equity investment or $50 million of rolga revenue to the Company, in which case Dr. Réadiiso entitled to stock options on the
same terms to purchase at least 50,000 sharesnofian stock; or (iii) the renewed listing of the Qmany’s securities on a national securities
exchange and the achievement of a market captializaf $100 million. Payment upon the events (gl &iii) may be deferred up to six
months, and if the Company has insufficient cagheatime of any of such events, it may issue [attR secured promissory note for such
amount. If the Company files a voluntary or invdlny petition for bankruptcy, whether or not a reftine event has occurred, such event sha
trigger the obligation to pay the $1.0 million withe result that Dr. Platt may assert a claim fmhsobligation against the bankruptcy estate.
During 2011, when it became probable that the Caomjgauld be relisted on a national securities ergeaand eventually reach a market
capitalization of $100 million, the Company recaggd the $1.0 million severance payment due to it ®hich was included in accrued
expenses at December 31, 2013.

On October 12, 2012, Dr. Platt commenced a lawswder the Massachusetts Wage Act against Dr. TaaideMr. McGauley who in
their capacities as the Company’s Chief Executiffec€ and the Company’s former Chief Financial iGgf, respectively, can be held
individually liable under the Wage Act for non-pagmt of wages. The lawsuit is based on the factdsmets raised in the arbitration regarding
the payment of the $1.0 million separation paymerer the Separation Agreement, and other unspdcifiages”. The statute provides that a
successful claimant may be entitled to multiple dges, interest and attorney’s fees. On April 24,32@he Superior Court allowed
Dr. Traber’s and Mr. McGauley’s motion to dismi€s May 28, 2013, Dr. Platt filed a Notice of Appéabppeal the Superior Court’s order
allowing the defendants’ motion to dismiss. On Apd, 2014, the Appeals Court denied Dr. Platt’pesd of the dismissal in full.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitratiefore the American Arbitration Association,ldeg to rescind or reform the
Separation Agreement discussed above. The Compainyed that Dr. Platt fraudulently induced the Campto enter into the Separation
Agreement, breached his fiduciary duty to the Camypand was unduly enriched from his conduct. Aladiip removal of the $1.0 million
milestone payment under the Separation AgreentemCompany sought repayment of all separation bergfid to Dr. Platt to date.

On August 1, 2013, the market capitalization of @menpany’s common stock exceeded $100 million Aaedompany received a letter
dated October 1, 2013, demanding payment of thmifibn. As described in the preceding paragraph,Eompany had previously instituted
an arbitration proceeding against Dr. Platt seelonggscind the Separation Agreement, includingnilestone payment provision, and the
Company delayed payment pending the outcome ofthigration. In June 2014, the arbitrator issugadgment in favor of Dr. Platt. In July
2014, the Company paid the $1 million severanceatibn.

Shareholder Class Actions and Derivative LawsL

Between July 30, 2014, and August 6, 2014, threate class action complaints were filed in thatelh States District Court for the
District of Nevada (the “Nevada District Court”)aigst the Company and certain of its officers aineatiors on behalf of all persons who
purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s stock
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between January 6, 2014 and July 28, 2014. The leampallege that the defendants made false deadig statements in certain press
releases and other public statements in violatfdheofederal securities laws and seek class matidén, unspecified monetary damages, costs
and attorneys’ fees. The Company disputes theatltats in the complaints and intends to vigorowuldfend against the claims. On August 22,
2014, the Nevada District Court entered an ordeselidating the three cases, relieving the defetsdafnany obligation to respond to the
complaints currently on file, and providing thafefedants may respond to a consolidated amendedlammafter it is filed by a lead plaintiff
(s) to be appointed pursuant to the Private Séesiifitigation Reform Act of 1995. On January 5130the Nevada District Court granted
Defendants’ motion to transfer the consolidateciig securities class action to the United StBistict Court for the Northern District of
Georgia. The court has not yet appointed a leadtjfeor plaintiffs, and no consolidated amendexdnplaint has been filed.

On August 1 and 25, 2014, persons claiming to ded®ia shareholders filed putative shareholdendgiie complaints in the Nevada
District Court, seeking recovery on behalf of thenfpany against certain of the Company'’s directasaficers. On September 10, 2014, the
Nevada District Court entered an order consolidgtire two cases, relieving the defendants of atigation to respond to the initii
complaints, and providing that defendants may nedfio a consolidated amended complaint to be filethe plaintiffs. On January 5, 2015,
the Nevada District Court granted Defendants’ motmtransfer the consolidated putative derivalitigation to the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia. Theiptifs filed a consolidated amended complaint @bfaary 27, 2015. The consolidated
amended complaint alleges that the defendants tedabeir fiduciary duties to the Company’s shaleés by causing or permitting the
Company to make allegedly false and misleadingipwthtements concerning the Company’s financidllaursiness prospects. The
consolidated amended complaint also alleges tleatéfiendants violated the federal securities lapallegedly making false or misleading
statements of material fact in the Company’s priilkygs, committed “waste” of corporate assets, evenjustly enriched, aided and abetted
breaches of fiduciary duties, and that certain niddi@ats breached their fiduciary duties throughgaitly improper sales of Galectin stock. The
complaints seek unspecified monetary damages aalfbetthe Company, corporate governance refornsgjaiigement of profits, benefits and
compensation by the defendants, costs, and attgraay experts’ fees. Defendants’ response todhealidated amended complaint is
currently due to be filed on March 30, 2015.

On August 29, 2014, another alleged Galectin sluddeh filed a putative shareholder derivative coamlin state court in Las Vegas,
Nevada, seeking recovery on behalf of the Compagaynat the same directors and officers who are daasalefendants in the derivat
litigation pending in the United States Districtu€ofor the District of Nevada. The state courtiggtive plaintiff filed an amended complaint
on December 1, 2014, which alleges claims for breddiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, and wasdteorporate assets, based on allegation
that are substantially similar to those in the wBtive complaints now pending in the United St&esrict Court for the Northern District of
Georgia, and seeks unspecified monetary damageshaif of the Company, corporate governance refodisgorgement of profits, benefits
and compensation by the defendants, costs, amheyt) and experts’ fees. Defendant filed motiodigmiss the amended complaint on
February 26, 2015.

Estimating an amount or range of possible lossadtieg from litigation proceedings is inherentliffidult and requires an extensive
degree of judgment, particularly where the matierslve indeterminate claims for monetary damages,in the early stages of the
proceedings, and are subject to appeal. In additiecause most legal proceedings are resolvedeatended periods of time, potential losses
are subject to change due to, among other thireyg,developments, changes in legal strategy, theomg of intermediate procedural and
substantive rulings and other parties’ settlemestyre and their evaluation of the strength or weak of their case against us. For these
reasons, we are currently unable to predict thmate timing or outcome of, or reasonably estinthéepossible losses or a range of possible
losses resulting from, the matters described at®&sed on information currently available, the Campdoes not believe that any reasonably
possible losses arising from currently pending llegatters will be material to the Company’s resok®perations or financial
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condition. However, in light of the inherent unaénties involved in such matters, an adverse ouécionone or more of these matters could
materially and adversely affect the Company’s fgiaihcondition, results of operations or cash flawsany particular reporting period.

10.

11.

Other Legal Proceedings

The Company records accruals for such contingencitee extent that the Company concludes that toeiurrence is probable and the
related damages are estimable. There are no atheing legal proceedings except as noted above.

Galectin Sciences LLC

In January 2014, we created Galectin Sciences, (th€“LLC” or “Investee”), a collaborative joint méure co-owned by SBH Sciences,
Inc. (“SBH"), to research and develop small organimecule inhibitors of galectin-3 for oral adminéion. The LLC was initially
capitalized with a $400,000 cash investment to fitdre research and development activities, wiiek provided by the Company, and
specific in-process research and development (“IBR&ontributed by SBH. The estimated fair value of (BRB&D contributed by SBF
on the date of contribution, was $400,000. Iniathe Company and SBH have a 50% equity owneligkgpest in the LLC, with neither
party having control over the LLC. Accordingly franception through the fourth quarter of 2014, @wmmpany accounted for its
investment in the LLC using the equity method afamting. Under the equity method of accounting, @mmpany’s investment was
initially recorded at cost with subsequent adjustta¢o the carrying value to recognize additionskestments in or distributions from the
Investee, as wells the Company'’s share of the teeésearnings, losses and/or changes in caphal €stimated fair value of the IPR&D
contributed to the LLC was immediately expensednugantribution as there was no alternative futige available at the point of
contribution. The operating agreement providesifteither party does not desire to contributeeijsial share of funding required after
initial capitalization, then the other party, prdwig all of the funding, will have its ownershipash increased in proportion to the total
amount contributed from inception. In the fourttadger of 2014, after the LLC had expended the $Din cash, SBH decided not to
contribute its share of the funding required. Assult, the Company contributed the $73,000 neéalethe fourth quarter of 2014
expenses of the LLC. As a result, the Company’serahip percentage in the LLC is 54.2% at Decembe314. The Company
accounts for the interest in the LLC as a const#iddess than wholly owned subsidiary. The Comfsapgrtion of the LLCS net loss fc
2014, prior to the change in accounting discussediqusly, was $400,000, which includes the Commpgoportionate share of the non-
cash charge associated with the contributed IPR&$260,000.

Income Taxes
The components of the net deferred tax assetsdmlawvs at December 31:

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Operating loss carryforwart $ 30,57¢ $ 25,88
Tax credit carryforward 64E 40C
Other temporary differenct 4,68¢ 4,30z
35,91: 30,58
Less valuation allowanc (35,919 (30,58
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ —
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The primary factors affecting the Company’s incdmerates were as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rates (34%) (34%) (34%)
State tax benef (5.2%) (5.2%) (5.2%)
Credit 0% 0% (0.2%)
Permanent difference 5.4% 0.9% 1.4%
Expiring state NO’s 1.4% 1.8% 3.2%
Changes in valuation allowan 32.% 36.% 34.8%

_%% % __0%

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has fedethbtaie net operating loss carryforwards totalidg, $50,000 and $42,394,000
respectively, which expire through 2033. The nedrafing losses include Federal and State excesditsarelated to stock options of
$707,000 that will be charged to additional paid@pital when utilized. In addition, the Company fiederal and state research and
development credits of $468,000 and $176,000, otisiedy, which expire through 2033. Ownership chesygas defined by Section 38:
the Internal Revenue Code, may have limited thewsnrinof net operating loss carryforwards that camtilzed annually to offset future
taxable income. Subsequent ownership changes @atiér affect the limitation in future years. Besa of the Company’s limited
operating history and its recorded losses, managenas provided, in each of the last two year€@4d valuation allowance against the
Company’s net deferred tax assets.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S.\aamibus states. Based on the history of net opeydtisses all jurisdictions and tax
years are open for examination until the operatisges are utilized or the statute of limitatiorpiees. As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company does not have any significan¢main tax positions.

12. Subsequent Event:

The Company evaluated all events and transactictigriong after December 31, 2014 through the dbtehich the financial statements
were issued and noted no additional items requirgeggnition or disclosure.

13. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)
2014 Quarters endec

(In thousands except per share date December 3 September 3( June 30 March 31
Net loss $ (3,73) $ (3,519 $ (3,429 $(5,110
Net loss applicable to common stockholc (3,96¢) (3,859 (3,73)) (5,409)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.19) $ (0.19) $ (0.19) $ (0.29)

2013 Quarters endec

(In thousands except per share date December 3 September 3( June 30 March 31
Net loss $ (2,799 $ (3,54 $ (2,549 $(3,207)
Net loss applicable to common stockholc (3,11)) (3,729 (11,649 (3,4772)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.1 $ (0.29 $ (0.79) $ (0.22)
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

The following is a list of the Corporation’s sulisides as of December 31, 2014. The Corporationsp@inectly or indirectly, 100% of
the voting securities of each subsidiary, unlegedhotherwise.

STATE OR JURISDICTION
NAME OF ORGANIZATION

Galectin Therapeutics Security Corp. Delaware




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement Nos. 333-116629, 333-109893,;1%9247, 333-198070, 333-
176306, and 333-176305 on Form S-8, and Registridas. 333-194747, 333-172849, 333-150898, 333-148%933-139974, 333-132459,
333-118907, 333-115118, 333-111650 and 333-10988+0om S-3, of our reports dated March 18, 201&tirey to our audits of the
consolidated financial statements and internalrebower financial reporting, which appear in tAisnual Report on Form 10-K of Galectin
Therapeutics, Inc. for the year ended Decembe2@14.

/S/ McGladrey LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 18, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Sagities Act of 1934

I, Peter G. Traber, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiom@iny untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and we ha

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervisionfo ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigyris made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegjig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 18, 2015 /s] Peter G. Trab

Name: Peter G. Traber, M.L
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
(principal executive officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Sagities Act of 1934

I, Jack W. Callicutt, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and we ha

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financigloiging, or caused such internal control over feiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atlte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiiksineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegjig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 18, 2015 /s/ Jack W. Callicus

Name: Jack W. Callicut
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting office



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Galectinefépeutics Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foe fheriod ended December 31,
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, P&efraber, Chief Executive Officer and

President of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18.0. 81350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and result of operations of the
Company.

March 18, 2015 /s/ Peter G. Trab
Name: Peter G. Traber, M.L
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
(principal executive officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Galectinefépeutics Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foe fheriod ended December 31,
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report;)}Jack W. Callicutt, Chief Financial Officer ofd
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350,dmpted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and result of operations of the
Company.

March 18, 2015 /s/ Jack W. Callicus
Name: Jack W. Callicut
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting office




